University of Windsor Scholarship at UWindsor

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Theses, Dissertations, and Major Papers

7-11-2022

Development of advanced coating for enhancing performance of internal combustion engine

Guang Wang University of Windsor

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Wang, Guang, "Development of advanced coating for enhancing performance of internal combustion engine" (2022). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 9607. https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/9607

This online database contains the full-text of PhD dissertations and Masters' theses of University of Windsor students from 1954 forward. These documents are made available for personal study and research purposes only, in accordance with the Canadian Copyright Act and the Creative Commons license—CC BY-NC-ND (Attribution, Non-Commercial, No Derivative Works). Under this license, works must always be attributed to the copyright holder (original author), cannot be used for any commercial purposes, and may not be altered. Any other use would require the permission of the copyright holder. Students may inquire about withdrawing their dissertation and/or thesis from this database. For additional inquiries, please contact the repository administrator via email (scholarship@uwindsor.ca) or by telephone at 519-253-3000ext. 3208.

Development of advanced coating for enhancing performance of internal

combustion engine

By Guang Wang

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies through the Department of Mechanical, Automotive & Materials Engineering in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy at the University of Windsor

> Windsor, Ontario, Canada 2022 © 2022 Guang Wang

Development of advanced coating for enhancing performance of internal

combustion engine

by Guang Wang

APPROVED BY:

M. Sain, External Examiner University of Toronto

C. Chen Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

H. Hu Department of Mechanical, Automotive and Materials Engineering

V. Stoilov Department of Mechanical, Automotive and Materials Engineering

X. Nie, Co-Advisor Department of Mechanical, Automotive and Materials Engineering

J. Tjong, Co-Advisor Department of Mechanical, Automotive and Materials Engineering

24 May 2022

DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY

I hereby certify that I am the sole author of this thesis and that no part of this thesis has been published or submitted for publication.

I certify that, to the best of my knowledge, my thesis does not infringe upon anyone's copyright nor violate any proprietary rights and that any ideas, techniques, quotations, or any other material from the work of other people included in my thesis, published or otherwise, are fully acknowledged in accordance with the standard referencing practices. Furthermore, to the extent that I have included copyrighted material that surpasses the bounds of fair dealing within the meaning of the Canada Copyright Act, I certify that I have obtained a written permission from the copyright owner(s) to include such material(s) in my thesis and have included copies of such copyright clearances to my appendix.

I declare that this is a true copy of my thesis, including any final revisions, as approved by my thesis committee and the Graduate Studies office, and that this thesis has not been submitted for a higher degree to any other University or Institution.

ABSTRACT

Government has mandated all the automakers to increase their vehicle fleet miles per gallon average (MPG) to mitigate the global warming effects. Automakers have to find ways to reduce vehicle weight and frictional loss between powertrain components to increase the MPG, a higher MPG can help to reduce the vehicle fuel consumption and emissions. One popular approach is to remove the cast iron cylinder block liners and replace them with a lighter more thermally efficient material to reduce engine weight and enhance engine performance with higher power output or higher fuel efficiency.

In this work, electrolyte jet plasma oxidation (EJPO) coating was the first time to be applied on engine cylinder bore and other components to enhance engine performance, reduce weight and cost. EJPO coating is a kind of aluminum oxidation coating which has high hardness, high corrosion resistance, low coefficient of friction (COF) and good thermal properties. Lab tribology tests and thermal investigation showed EJPO coating had 65% lower COF than cast iron and 50% lower than plasma transfer wire arc (PTWA) coating, and better thermal properties. EJPO coated 2.0 L and 5.0 L engines were tested and compared with cast iron liner engine and PTWA coated engine.

EJPO coated 2.0 L engine passed Break-in test, Power test and 100 hours engine fatigue test. Compared with cast iron liner 2.0 L engine, EJPO coated 2.0 L engine had higher power output, especially at speeds lower than 3000 rpm and speeds higher than 5000 rpm. EJPO coated 2.0 L engine block reduced weight around 6.4% and reduce cost around 17.5%. EJPO coated 5.0 L engine passed Break-in test, Power test and vehicle

durability test. Compared with PTWA coated 5.0 L engine, the EJPO coated 5.0 L engine had higher power output at speeds lower than 3000 rpm and the EJPO coated camshaft bores, piston crown and cylinder head dome enhanced the performance more at high speeds. EJPO coated 5.0 L engine block reduced weight around 2% and reduce cost around 9% compared with PTWA coated one.

EJPO coating's lower COF and thermal swing property contributed to the higher engine performance. Lower COF helped to reduce engine friction loss, and the thermal swing property helped to reduce the engine heat loss without heating up the intake air temperature.

EJPO coating process and honing process parameters for 2.0 L and 5.0 L aluminum engine blocks were developed and the engine cylinder bore coating thickness, coating roughness, and piston to bore clearance were found in this work. EJPO coating is a potential candidate material for internal combustion engine to enhance performance, reduce weight, cost and increase the MPG in the future.

Keywords: EJPO, cast iron, PTWA, COF, weight reduction, temperature swing, engine, Dynamometer, vehicle durability, wear resistance, corrosion resistance, engine performance.

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my parents and my family for their unconditional love, support and encouragement.

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to my advisors Dr. X. Nie and Dr. J. Tjong for their support and guidance in my research career.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study has been supported by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) and Ford Motor Company of Canada Ltd.

Many thanks to my co-advisor, Dr. Xueyuan Nie, and co-advisor Dr. Jimi Tjong, for excellent supervision of this project. I really appreciate the helpful comments and careful review of this work from my committee members, Dr. Henry Hu, Dr. Vesselin Stoilov and Dr. Chunhong Chen.

I would like to thank Ford Motor Company's Powertrain Engineering Research & Development Center for their assistance with the EJPO coating facilities, engine assembly and engine tests.

I would like to thank my research group members at the University of Windsor, Mr. Chen Zhao, Ms. Ran Cai, and Mr. Jiayi Sun for their assistance with the experiments.

Finally, I am thankful to the faculty, staff and graduate students at the Department of Mechanical, Automotive and Materials Engineering of the University of Windsor, particularly my colleagues in the Metal Surface Engineering lab, for their support and encouragement.

DECLARATION OF ORIGINALITY	III
ABSTRACT	IV
DEDICATION	VI
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	VII
LIST OF TABLES	XIII
LIST OF FIGURES	XVI
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSAND SYMBOLS	XXIV
 Chapter 1 Introduction 1.1 Background 	1 1
1.2 Objectives	6
1.3 Dissertation Outline	7
References	10
 Chapter 2 Literature review and proposed methodology 2 1 Engine friction offects on angine performance 	11
2.1 Engine metion effects on engine performance	11
2.1.1 Oil effects on the friction	13
2.1.2 Piston ring coating effects on friction	14
2.13 Cylinder bore material, surface finish effects on friction	15
2.2 Weight effects on engine performance and fuel economy	19
2.2.1 Hypereutectic Al-Si linerless engine block	19
2.2.2 Metal matrix composite (MMC) liner or block	20
2.3 Temperature swing effects on engine performance	22

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.4 Current engine block design and limitation
2.5 Engine cylinder block requirements
2.6 PTWA coating process and properties
2.7 EJPO process introduction and coating properties
2.8 Proposed methodology
References
3. Chapter 3 EJPO coating properties investigation
3.1 EJPO coating hardness investigation
3.2 EJPO coating corrosion resistance investigation
3.3 COF of EJPO coating
3.4 EJPO coating thermal property investigation
3.5 Flex honing study on EJPO coated aluminum liner
4.6 Conclusions
References71
4. Chapter 4 Effects of coating and honing process on wear of the engine cylinder bore 72
4.1 Effects of coating process on the wear of the 2.0 L engine cylinder bores
4.1.1 EJPO coating process for a 2.0 L aluminum linerless engine block72
4.1.2 Flex brush honing process for a EJPO coated 2.0 L engine block77
4.1.3 EJPO coated 2.0L engine test and tear down analysis
4.1.4 Conclusions

	4.2 Effects of the flex brush honing on the wear of the EJPO coated cylinder bores	.83
	4.2.1 EJPO coating S3 fabrication for the 2.0 L engine block	.83
	4.2.2 Flex brush honing for the EJPO coated 2.0 L engine block	.85
	4.2.3 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine test and tear down analysis	.87
	4.2.4 Conclusions	.90
5.	Chapter 5 Machine honing and engine tests for a 2.0 L EJPO coated engine 5 1 Machine honing process study on a 2.0 L engine block	.92
	5.2 Engine tests of the machine honed 2.0 L engine	.97
	5.2.1 Engine Power test of the machine honed 2.0 L engine	.98
	5.2.2 Engine fatigue test of the machine hone 2.0 L engine	111
	5.2.3 Conclusions	114
	5.3 Engine tests of the machine honed 2.0 L engine with bigger bore size	114
	5.3.1 Machine honing the 2.0 L engine with a bigger bore size	114
	5.3.2 Engine tests of the 2.0 L engine with bigger bore size	117
	5.3.3 Conclusions	129
	5.4 Summary of the EJPO coated 2.0 L engine work	129
	References	133
6.	Chapter 6 EJPO coating deposition and performance test for 5 .0 L engines 6.1 Properties comparison between EJPO coating and PTWA coating	134 135
	6.1.1 Weight comparison	135

6.1.2 Cost comparison	136
6.1.3 PTWA and EJPO coating friction comparison	137
6.1.4 Thermal swing function	141
6.1.5 Challenges	141
6.1.6 Conclusions	142
6.2 EJPO coating deposition on 5.0 L engine cylinder bore and performance	e test 144
6.2.1 EJPO coating and honing process for 5.0 L engine block	144
6.2.2 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine performance test	147
6.2.3 Conclusions	160
6.3 Performance test on the fully coated combustion chambers of a 5.0 L en	gine161
6.3.1 Performance comparison between EJPO and PTWA coated engines	161
6.3.2 Performance comparison between EJPO coated engines	172
6.3.3 Conclusions	176
References	178
7. Chapter 7 Piston temperature test for EJPO coated piston	179
7.1 Temperature plugs instrumenting	179
7.2 Piston temperature test and results	
7.3 Conclusions	
References	
8. Chapter 8 Low load durability test on a EJPO coated 5.0 L engine	

8.1 100 hours durability test on EJPO coated 5.0 L engine	191
8.2 Cylinder bore distortion investigation with torque plates	196
8.3 Conclusions	200
9. Chapter 9 Vehicle durability tests on a EJPO coated 5.0 L engines	202
9.1 Vehicle durability test on 5.0 L engine with thinner coating	
9.2 Vehicle durability test on 5.0 L engine with thicker coating	
9.3 Conclusions	214
10. Chapter 10 Conclusions and Future Works	216
10.1 General conclusions	
10.2 Future work	219
APPENDICES	221
VITA AUCTORIS	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3-1. Surface measurements of cast iron, PTWA, and EJPO 59
Table 3-2. Flex honing process and measurements 67
Table 3-3. Honing brush grits and strokes during honing
Table 4-1. EJPO coating thickness check after 20 minutes' treatment
Table 4-2. Cylinder bore diameter measurements before and after coating process.76
Table 4-3. EJPO coating flex honing parameters 77
Table 4-4. Surface roughness and oil retention volume of coating S3 and S1280
Table 4-5. EJPO coating and cylinder bore measurements
Table 5-1. #3 engine cylinder bore, piston size and clearance measurements96
Table 5-2. #3 engine EJPO coating thickness after honing
Table 5-3. Engine torque comparison between EJPO coated and stock engines101
Table 5-4. Engine power comparison between EJPO coated and stock engines102
Table 5-5. Fuel consumption comparison between #3 EJPO coated and stock
engines107
Table 5-6. Exhaust temperature comparison between #3 EJPO coated and stock
engines108
Table 5-7. Coolant temperature in & out difference comparison between #3 EJPO
coated and stock engines108
Table 5-8. Thermal efficiency comparison between EJPO coated 2.0 L engine and
cast iron liner 2.0 L engine110
Table 5-9. #3 EJPO coated engine service check
Table 5-10. #4 engine block cylinder diameter, piston and clearance measurements

Table 5-11. #4 engine block coating thickness after diamond honing
Table 5-12. #4 Engine service data after Post Power test 120
Table 5-13. #4 Engine service data after Post Power test 124
Table 5-14. #4 EJPO coated engine bore size and clearance measurements after
dynamometer tests
Table 5-15. #4 EJPO coated engine coating thickness after dynamometer tests125
Table 6-1. 5.0 L engine block weight and coating thickness measurements
Table 6-2. Oil retention volume of EJPO and PTWA coating 139
Table 6-3. Engine parameters between I4 and V8 engine
Table 6-4. #1 EJPO coated engine honing parameters and measurements146
Table 6-5. Corrected torque data from #1 EJPO and PTWA engines
Table 6-6. Corrected power data from #1 EJPO and PTWA engines
Table 6-7. Fuel flow data from #1EJPO and PTWA engines
Table 6-8. Dynamometer motoring friction torque from #1 EJPO and PTWA coated
engines155
Table 6-9. The thermal efficiency calculation and comparison between #1 EJPO and
PTWA coated engines157
Table 6-10. #2 EJPO coated engine block honing results 162
Table 6-11. Corrected torque data from #2 EJPO and PTWA engines
Table 6-12. Corrected power data from #2 EJPO and PTWA engines
Table 6-13. Fuel flow data from #2 EJPO and PTWA engines
Table 6-14. Dynamometer motoring friction torque from #2 EJPO and PTWA
coated engines170

Table 6-15. Thermal efficiency of the #2 EJPO coated engine
Table 6-16. Torque, power, friction and thermal efficiency increment of #2 EJPO
coated engine compared with #1 EJPO coated engines174
Table 7-1. EJPO coating application location on #1 and #2 EJPO coated engines.180
Table 7-2. Measured and calculated temperature at different locations
Table 9-1. #4 engine block measurements after honing
Table 9-2. #4 EJPO coated 5.0 L cylinder bore measurement
Table 9-3. #4 EJPO coated 5.0 L coating thickness measurement
Table 9-4. #4 EJPO coated 5.0 L piston size measurement
Table 9-5. #4 EJPO coated 5.0L piston to bore clearance measurement
Table 9-6. #5 engine block measurements after honing
Table 9-7. #5 EJPO coated 5.0 L cylinder bore measurement
Table 9-8. #5 EJPO coated 5.0 L coating thickness measurement
Table 9-9. #5 EJPO coated 5.0 L piston size measurement
Table 9-10. #5 EJPO coated 5.0 L piston to bore clearance measurement

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1. Cast iron engine block and aluminum engine block [3]2
Figure 1-2. Engine friction distribution [6]4
Figure 1-3. Comparison between PEO and EJPO process5
Figure 1-4. Surface and cross-section view of the EJPO coating5
Figure 2-1. Energy distribution of fired engine [1]12
Figure 2-2. Distribution of mechanical friction in engine [3]13
Figure 2-3. Single cylinder test [6]15
Figure 2-4. Friction results for different coatings [6]15
Figure 2-5. PTWA coating spray and coating cross section view [9]17
Figure 2-6. Cross section view of the bore with cast iron and mirror coating [12]18
Figure 2-7. Comparison of friction between cast iron and mirror coating [12]18
Figure 2-8. Work principle of hypereutectic Al-Si cylinder bore [14]20
Figure 2-9. 2ZZ-GE's engine block with MMC liners [20]21
Figure 2-10. Transient gas and piston/cylinder wall temperature in dependence of
different coating material in entire engine cycle [22]23
Figure 2-11. Schematic view of in-cylinder transient gas temperature profile and
metal wall temperature profile [22]24
Figure 2-12. Schematic view of in-cylinder transient gas temperature profile and
heat insulation wall temperature profile [22]25
Figure 2-13. Schematic view of in-cylinder transient gas temperature profile and
thermal swing wall temperature profile [22]26

Figure 2-14. Temperature variations of the cylinders made of different materials
including grey cast iron, CGI, A356, A390, A356 with a cast iron liner, A356
with a PTWA coating (150 μm), and A356 with a EJPO coating (20 μm) [24]27
Figure 2-15. Temperature variation involving two thermal conductivities and two
coating thicknesses (20 and 60 µm) [24]27
Figure 2-16. Thermal spray process [36]
Figure 2-17. PTWA spay head and PTWA spray process on engine block [40]32
Figure 2-18. Cross section view of PTWA coating [42]
Figure 2-19. Schematic illustration of the EJPO equipment layout [46]35
Figure 3-1. SEM-EDX analysis on EJPO coating [1]52
Figure 3-2. Vickers hardness and micro dent53
Figure 3-3. Rockwell hardness tester and SEM image of dented coating54
Figure 3-4. Potentio-dynamic polarization corrosion tester
Figure 3-5. Potentio-dynamic polarization behavior of EJPO coating and Cast iron55
Figure 3-6. Cast iron and EJPO coated aluminum samples after corrosion test56
Figure 3-7. High speed pin-on-disc tribometer
Figure 3-8. EJPO coated, Cast iron and PTWA coated samples
Figure 3-9. COF obtained from high speed tribotest on cast iron, PTWA and EJPO
Figure 3-10. Microscope images of tested samples and counter face ball
measurements61
Figure 3-11. Experimental setup for thermal insulation investigation
Figure 3-12. Temperature measurement below and above tested samples

Figure 3-13. Air-cooled thermal shock test setup
Figure 3-14. EJPO coating surface images after thermal shock test
Figure 3-15. EJPO coated aluminum liner
Figure 3-16. Flex brush honing and bore size measurement
Figure 3-17. Roughness and thickness changes during honing
Figure 4-1. Flex brush honed linerless 2.0 L aluminum engine block73
Figure 4-2. Engine cooling system for EJPO coating process74
Figure 4-3. EJPO coated 2.0 L aluminum engine block with two kinds of coatings 75
Figure 4-4. Flex brush honed cylinder bore78
Figure 4-5. Flex brush honed cylinder bore roughness
Figure 4-6. EJPO coated engine after Break-in test
Figure 4-7. Surface morphology of coating S3 and S1281
Figure 4-8. Coating surface morphologies after wear resistance test
Figure 4-9. Flex brush honed aluminum engine cylinder bore
Figure 4-10. Engine cooling system for EJPO coating process
Figure 4-11. Original coating surface profile
Figure 4-12. Flex brush honing process
Figure 4-13. Flex brush honed cylinder bores
Figure 4-14. Surface profile of the flex honed coating
Figure 4-15. Eighteen hours' engine Break-in test
Figure 4-16. Wave patent wear on the coating after Break-in test
Figure 4-17. Uneven distribution of honing force on Si-C beads and wavelike bore
after honing90

Figure 5-1. Diamond stone honing process
Figure 5-2. Mirror finished cylinder bores after diamond stone honing
Figure 5-3. CMM cylinder bore roundness and bore size check for #3 EJPO coated
block94
Figure 5-4. CMM cylinder bore straightness and bore size check for #3 EJPO coated
block95
Figure 5-5. Diamond honed EJPO coating roughness and profile97
Figure 5-6. Cylinder borescope pictures after Break-in test
Figure 5-7. EJPO coated engine Power data compared with the stock engine100
Figure 5-8. COF comparison between cast iron and EJPO coating103
Figure 5-9. Function of the temperature insulation coating in cylinder [1]105
Figure 5-10. Temperature swing function of EJPO coating [2]106
Figure 5-11. Part of the one cycle EFT data112
Figure 5-12. Cylinder bore coatings after one cycle EFT test113
Figure 5-13. Scuffed cylinder one piston113
Figure 5-14. Diamond stone honed #4 engine block and mirror finished surface115
Figure 5-15. Surface profile of the diamond honed EJPO coating117
Figure 5-16. Cylinder bore pictures after Power test
Figure 5-17. Part of engine performance data compared with reference data119
Figure 5-18. Part of the 100 hours EFT test data121
Figure 5-19. Post Power test data compared with reference data123
Figure 5-20. #4 EJPO coated engine torn down pictures after dynamometer test 124
Figure 5-21. #4 EJPO coated engine coating roughness after dynamometer tests126

Figure 5-22. EJPO coated engine performance data compared with other stock
reference engines128
Figure 6-1. Engine blocks with cast iron liners, PTWA coating, and EJPO coating
Figure 6-2. High speed pin-on-disc tribometer
Figure 6-3. COF comparison between EJPO and PTWA coatings
Figure 6-4. Surface morphology of the honed EJPO and PTWA coatings140
Figure 6-5. Oversize honed aluminum engine block
Figure 6-6. EJPO coated #1 5.0 L engine block145
Figure 6-7. Surface profiles of the honed #1 EJPO coated and PTWA coated
cylinder bore146
Figure 6-8. Corrected torque comparison between #1 EJPO and PTWA engines 148
Figure 6-9. Corrected power comparison between #1 EJPO and PTWA engines149
Figure 6-10. Fuel flow comparison between #1EJPO and PTWA engines151
Figure 6-11. Left exhaust temperature comparison between #1 EJPO and PTWA
coated engines152
Figure 6-12. Right exhaust temperature comparison between #1 EJPO and PTWA
coated engines153
Figure 6-13. Spark timing comparison between #1 EJPO and PTWA coated engines
Figure 6-14. Engine knockl comparison between #1 EJPO and PTWA coated
engines154
Figure 6-15. Results of the dynamometer motoring friction test

Figure 6-16. #1 EJPO coated cylinder bore after Break-in and Power tests158
Figure 6-17. Camshaft and camshaft bore after Break-in and Power test159
Figure 6-18. Honed EJPO coated engine block and EJPO coated camshaft bore,
cylinder head dome, and piston crown162
Figure 6-19. Corrected torque comparison between #2 EJPO and PTWA engines 163
Figure 6-20.Corrected power comparison between #2 EJPO and PTWA engines .164
Figure 6-21. Fuel flow comparison between #2 EJPO and PTWA engines166
Figure 6-22. Left exhaust temperature comparison between #2 EJPO and PTWA
engines167
Figure 6-23. Right exhaust temperature comparison between #2 EJPO and PTWA
engines168
Figure 6-24. Spark timing comparison between #2 EJPO and PTWA engines168
Figure 6-25. Engine knock comparison between #2 EJPO and PTWA engines169
Figure 6-26. Results of the dynamometer motoring friction test
Figure 6-27. Torque comparison between #1 and #2 EJPO coated engines
Figure 6-28. Power comparison between #1 and #2 EJPO coated engines
Figure 6-29. Engine friction comparison between #1 and #2 EJPO coated engines
Figure 6-30. #2 EJPO coated engine tear down pictures after test
Figure 7-1. EJPO coated parts on #1 and #2 5.0 L engines
Figure 7-2. Torque comparison between #1 and #2 EJPO coated engines
Figure 7-3. Power comparison between #1 and #2 EJPO coated engines
Figure 7-4. Engine friction comparison between #1 and #2 EJPO coated engines.181

Figure 7-5. Tested camshaft bore and camshaft with and without EJPO coating182
Figure 7-6. EJPO coated piston and uncoated piston184
Figure 7-7. Templug instrumented piston
Figure 7-8. Dissected piston after test
Figure 7-9. Average and maximum temperature at different locations
Figure 7-10. SEM image of the EJPO coating on piston crown
Figure 8-1. EJPO coated parts on the #3 EJPO coated engine
Figure 8-2. Torque and Power data from the 100 hours low load durability test192
Figure 8-3. Cylinder bores with black marks after test
Figure 8-4. Surface profile of the black mark area194
Figure 8-5. Cross sectional and surface images of the cylinder bore piece with black
mark, a: cut piece, b: cross section image, c: good coating surface image, d:
coating with black mark surface image194
Figure 8-6. EDX analysis of the black coating (main content of the black coating
was carbon)195
Figure 8-7. Cylinder torque plates made from 5.0 L cylinder heads
Figure 8-8. Definition of the cylinder bore direction
Figure 8-9. Cylinder bore size and the cylinder bore distortion after torque plate
installed197
Figure 8-10. Honing process with torque plates installed
Figure 8-11. Cylinder bore size measurements with and without torque plate199
Figure 8-12. The cylinder bridge deformed when the honing pressure was applied
using two stones honing head200

Figure 9-1. #4 EJPO coated and honed engine block
Figure 9-2. Cylinder bore images after Break-in test
Figure 9-3. #4 engine block bore coatings after vehicle durability test204
Figure 9-4. EJPO coated camshaft bores and pistons after vehicle durability test205
Figure 9-5. Surface profile of cylinder bore coating after vehicle durability test205
Figure 9-6. #5 EJPO coated and honed engine block
Figure 9-7. Cylinder bore images after Break-in test
Figure 9-8. #5 engine block bore coatings after vehicle durability test
Figure 9-9. EJPO coated camshaft bores and pistons after vehicle durability test211
Figure 9-10. Surface profile of cylinder bore coating after vehicle durability test .212

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSAND SYMBOLS

- CO₂ Carbon Dioxide
- MPG Mile per Gallon
- COF Coefficient of Friction
- EJPO Electrolyte Jet Plasma Oxidation
- PEO Plasma Electrolyte Oxidation
- PTWA Plasma Transferred Wire Arc
- DLC Diamond-Like Coating
- EDS Energy Dispersive Spectroscopy
- SEM Scanning Electron Microscopy
- Rk Core roughness depth
- Rpk Reduced peak height
- Rvk Reduced valley depth
- TDC Top dead center
- EFT Engine Fatigue Test
- PCM Powertrain Control Module

1. Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Background

The carbon dioxide (CO_2) produced from burning gasoline and diesel fuel in automotive engines is contributing to global climate change [1]. Global warming effects force the automakers to reduce the carbon oxide emission and enhance engine performance to increase the fuel economy. Achieving an acceptable trade-off between fuel economy/exhaust emissions and engine performance is one of the biggest challenges.

Research showed that increasing the MPG from 25 to 35 would save 1.8 billion barrels of oil over the lifetime of the cars sold from 2012 to 2016. It would also reduce the emissions by 900 million tons, which is equal to shutting down 194 coal plants [2]. Thus, the governments stepped in and requested the automakers to enhance engine performance and reduce emissions. They set the MPG target between 47 and 62 by 2025.

The development of lightweight aluminum engines is the most significant development in the automotive industry. More and more aluminum parts are being used on modern passenger vehicles to reduce weight. However, aluminum has its own limitations such as low wear resistances, low Young's modulus, low tensile strength and low hardness. All these limitations will prevent the application of aluminum on moving or sliding components, for example cylinder bore, bearing, and valve and so on. Inserting cast iron liners in aluminum engine block is an excellent solution for modern lightweight aluminum engine.

Replacing the cast iron engine block with the aluminum engine block with cast iron liners has enhanced engine performance and fuel economy significantly. It also reduced the weight by 45% compared with cast iron engine block, which helped to reduce vehicle rolling resistance thereby increased the MPG [3]. The design of cast iron liner conjunction with aluminum engine block worked perfectly until the government required the automakers to increase the MPG and reduce emissions. Figure 1-1 shows the cast iron engine block and the aluminum engine block.



Figure 1-1. Cast iron engine block and aluminum engine block [3]

Cast iron liners are low-cost, durable, and easy to manufacture, which are critical for mass production. However, cast iron liners have their own inherent disadvantages that limit the improvement of the engine performance including weight, size, thermal conductivity, friction, and thermal expansion difference between cast iron and aluminum. The different thermal expansion could cause the liner distortion, and the distorted liner could lead to more fuel and oil consumption thereby more emissions. Besides, it needs a heavy and big cooling system to cool down the engine, which will increase vehicle weight and rolling resistance [4]. All these disadvantages will limit the engine's performance and improvement.

One of the ways to enhance engine performance and fuel economy is to remove the cast iron liners from the aluminum engine block and replace them with a lighter, lower friction and more thermal efficiency material. Cast iron liners are a very cost-effective solution for mass production, to replace them with other more efficient material is not an easy change because of the cost and the effectiveness. However, to increase performance and reduce emission, this action should be a necessity.

To be an alternative material for cast iron, it must meet the cylinder block functional requirements. Internal combustion engine has high temperature, high pressure and high shearing load on cylinder bore surface. The replacement material must have high wear and scuff resistance and good tribological properties. The porosity level of the running surface must be below 1% and the maximum pore size must be below 500 microns to maintain good oil retention and low coefficient of friction (COF) [5]. The material should also have corrosion resistance since the sulfur contents in the fuel.

Besides, the engine cylinder bore replacement material must have low COF. The mechanical friction loss accounts for more than 15% of the total engine power, however,

the friction between the piston ring and cylinder bore accounts for over 45% of the total friction loss as shown in Figure 1-2. Thus, the alternative material should have low COF to reduce the friction loss thereby enhancing engine performance [6].



Figure 1-2. Engine friction distribution [6]

Electrolyte Jet Plasma Oxidation (EJPO) coating is also a kind of Plasma Electrolyte Oxidation (PEO) coating, which is characterized as hard, dense, wear-resistant, corrosion resistant and well-adhered oxide coating for metals like aluminum, magnesium, titanium and so on. The principle of PEO and EJPO coating fabrication is same; however the treatment processes are different. As shown in Figure 1-3, traditional PEO process needs immerse the parts or component in electrolyte which require high power supply if the coated part is huge, and mask is needed if local treatment required. EJPO process uses spray nozzle to do the whole surface and local treatments without mask and can coat any shape of the surface. EJPO process can reduce power requirement and save the mask design cost.



Figure 1-3. Comparison between PEO and EJPO process

Different from PEO coating, EJPO coating has special elements to help reducing the COF which are added in electrolyte. EJPO coating has a higher porosity to enhance the oil retention ability which also helps to reduce the COF. The porous structure of the EJPO coating can also help to enhance the thermal management in the applied locations. EJPO coating is a potential material for engine cylinder bore. A surface and cross-section view of the EJPO coating is shown in Figure 1-4.



Surface view

Cross-section view

Figure 1-4. Surface and cross-section view of the EJPO coating

In this work, the properties of the EJPO coating will be investigated and the coating honing process will be studied. The EJPO coating will be applied on aluminum engine cylinder bore and other components to enhance engine performance for fuel economy and weight and cost reduction. Engine dynamometer and vehicle tests will be carried out to evaluate the engine performance and coating durability compared with cast iron liner engines and Plasma Transfer Wire Arc (PTWA) coated engines.

The advent of the battery electric vehicle affects the internal combustion engine's market, however, the small displacement engine for hybrid vehicle and high displacement engine for heavy duty vehicle will stay on the market for a long time. This work will focus on the EJPO coating fabrication and testing on 2.0 L and 5.0 L engines.

1.2 Objectives

This work focused on the preparation and test of the EJPO coated engine cylinder bore and other auto components including piston crown, camshaft bore, and cylinder head dome. The properties of the EJPO coating and the performance of the EJPO coated engines were investigated and evaluated. The following objectives were aimed to be achieved:

1. To investigate the EJPO coating's processes, microstructures and properties including hardness, corrosion resistance, tribological behavior and thermal management

performance, specially focus on the COF and evaluate the COF between EJPO coating, cast iron and PTWA coating.

- To study the EJPO coating process and honing process effects on the coating's microstructure and surface morphologies of the EJPO coated aluminum engine cylinder bore.
- 3. To build-up a prototype linerless aluminum engine with EJPO coating and demonstrate its advantages including lighter weight, lower cost and a better engine performance compared with cast iron liner engine and PTWA coated engine.
- 4. To optimize and summarize the EJPO coating fabrication and honing process parameters for 2.0 L and 5.0 L aluminum engine blocks.

1.3 Dissertation Outline

This dissertation includes a total of fifteen chapters:

In Chapter 1, a brief introduction was provided with the objectives and the outline of this dissertation.

In Chapter 2, a literature review related to this study was carried out. Background knowledge of parameters that affect the engine performance, alternative materials for the

engine cylinder bore, and a brief introduction of the EJPO coating. A proposed methodology was also introduced.

In Chapter 3, a few critical properties of the EJPO coating were investigated.

In Chapter 4, the #1 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine was prepared and tested. Two kinds of EJPO coatings were deposited on the cylinder bores. The objective of this test was to screen out a suitable EJPO coating for the combustion environment. The #2 EJPO coated 2.0L engine was prepared and flex brush honed for engine Break-in test.

In Chapter 5, the #3 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine was prepared and tested for engine performance. In this work, diamond stone machine honing process was studied, and the engine performance was compared with cast iron liner engine. EJPO coated engine had better performance at engine speeds below 3000 rpm and speeds higher than 5000 rpm. The#4 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine was prepared with bigger cylinder bore size and tested. The #4 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine passed Break-in, Power, Engine Fatigue, and Post power tests, and a summary of the EJPO coated 2.0 L engine work was provided.

In Chapter 6, the #1 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine was prepared with coating on cylinder bore only and tested. The EJPO coated engine passed Break-in and Power tests. Power performance was compared with PTWA coated engine. The #2 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine was fabricated with coating on cylinder bore, camshaft bore, piston crown and cylinder head dome and tested. This engine passed Break-in, and Power test. The engine performance of the #2 engine was compared with the #1 engine and PTWA coated engine.

In Chapter 7, piston temperature test was carried out to investigate the thermal insulation property of the EJPO coating in combustion conditions. Templugs were used and installed on EJPO coated pistons and uncoated pistons to measure the temperatures and do the comparison.

In Chapter 8, the #3 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine was prepared with coating on cylinder bore, camshaft bore, piston crown and cylinder head dome for engine durability test. After the test, cylinder bore distortion was investigated with torque plates.

In Chapter 9, the #4 and #5 EJPO coated 5.0 L engines were prepared with coating on cylinder bore, camshaft bore, piston crown and cylinder head dome. Engines were installed on the cars for vehicle durability tests.

In Chapter 10, a summary of the research work and future work was provided.

References

1. Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2008. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 4/15/ 2010.

 2. Financial Trend Forecaster. Inflation Adjusted Average Annual Gasoline Prices 1918-2009. Copyright 2010. Chart prepared by Timothy McMahon. Updated 7/21/2010.

 Naranjo, Robert D., HuangFu, Her-Ping, Gwyn, Mike. Castings Drive Fuel Efficiency. Modern Casting, 9/4/2004.

4. Mid-Atlantic Casting Services. A Guide to Aluminum Casting Alloys www.Mid-AtlanticCasting.com.

5. Valtierra-Gallardo, Salvador et al. Wear-Resistant Aluminum Alloy for Casting Engine Blocks with Linerless Cylinders. Patent Application – Publication Number: WO 2008/053363 A2. 5/8/2008.

 US Chrome Corporation. Technical Information: "Aluminum Engine Paper" Copyright 2007.

2. Chapter 2 Literature review and proposed methodology

Engine performance can be enhanced in many ways. However, balancing the engine performance and fuel economy & emission is a challenge. Cost is another factor that affects the decision of changes in design for mass production. Among the best approaches to enhance engine performance are to reduce engine friction, increase engine thermal efficiency, and reduce weight. Most automakers work on engine friction, weight, and thermal efficiency to enhance engine performance, fuel economy and reduce emissions.

2.1 Engine friction effects on engine performance

Internal combustion engine has a lot of moving parts inside the engine and all these moving parts produce friction. Some of the frictions are constant and some of the frictions are variable when the engine speed and load change. All these frictions contribute to engine power loss or efficiency loss.

A general estimation of the friction in fired internal combustion engine is shown in Figure 2-1, the mechanical friction accounts for 4-15% of the total fuel energy consumption of the engine or 10-30% of the output power loss. However, in some extreme and idling conditions, the mechanical friction loss accounts for much more. At idling condition, there is no net output power, and all the energy is used to overcome the frictions [1].


Figure 2-1. Energy distribution of fired engine [1]

As engine speed or load increases, the mechanical friction percentage will decrease because of the hydrodynamic lubrication is formed. At the hydrodynamic lubrication condition, there is an oil film formed between the rubbing parts and the oil film helps to reduce the friction [2]. Thus, at a low speed and low load condition, mechanical friction consumes about 30% of the output power. At a high speed and high load condition, the mechanical friction takes up about 10% of output power [3].

Among the mechanical frictions, the portion of piston ring friction is up to 50%. A distribution of the mechanical frictions is shown in Figure 2-2. Piston assembly includes piston, piston rings, piston pin, connecting rod and bearings. There are three main frictions in the piston assembly system: piston skirt, piston rings, and connecting rod bearings [4]. 50-68% of the friction comes from the piston rings rubbing.



Figure 2-2. Distribution of mechanical friction in engine [3]

Several factors affect the piston ring friction including oil, piston ring coating & design, and cylinder bore material & honing patterns etc. More details will be reviewed as follows:

2.1.1 Oil effects on the friction

The main function of motor oil is to reduce friction and wear on moving parts and clean the engine from sludge and detergents. It also improves sealing of piston rings, and cools the engine by carrying heat away from moving parts. Additives are added to the oil to improve the oil functions. Motor oils also have different viscosity, and thin oils reduce friction in engines and help engines start quickly during cold weather. Thick oils are better at maintaining film strength and oil pressure at high temperatures and loads [4].

Synthetic oil is more chemically engineered than conventional oil, so its molecules are more uniform in shape and size, with fewer impurities. Using synthetic oil can help to reduce friction by 5% or more [4]. Dr. Guojun Liu is a professor in the Department of

Chemistry of Queen's University and an expert in polymer synthesis developed Nano scale polymer particles dispersed in motor oil to help reduce friction. The test results showed the Nano particles were able to reduce friction by 55% more [6].

Using synthetic oil or oil with special additives can help to reduce the friction more. In this work, 5W-30 full synthetic oil was used to do tribology tests.

2.1.2 Piston ring coating effects on friction

The piston is the main component that delivers mechanical energy through reciprocating motion. The piston ring pack includes two compression rings and one oil control ring. The main functions of the ring pack are sealing the combustion chamber to prevent the high-pressure gas from leaking into the crankcase which is a waste of power, controlling oil lubrication between cylinder wall and piston rings, transferring heat from piston to cylinder wall then finally to the cooling system.

The piston ring front face rubs on cylinder wall and generates friction and heat. Different treatments can be used on piston ring to reduce friction, for example, DLC coating, Nitrided coating, polished Nitrided coating, and Mn-Pho's coating. Lab bench test and single cylinder test showed that the DLC coated ring and polished Nitrided ring can help to reduce the friction by 17-25% [7]. In this work, Molybdenum coated and Nitrided rings were used to do the test.



Figure 2-3. Single cylinder test [6]



Figure 2-4. Friction results for different coatings [6]

2.13 Cylinder bore material, surface finish effects on friction

For a reciprocating engine, piston rings travel on the cylinder bore surface and generate friction and heat. The cylinder bore material, surface finish, honing pattern and cylindricity all affect the friction between piston rings and cylinder bore significantly.

Nowadays, most of the production engines use aluminum engine block conjunction with cast iron liners. Cast iron liners are low-cost, durable and easy to manufacture, but the tribological properties are not perfect and have some inherent disadvantages in weight, size, thermal conductivity, and thermal expansion. All these disadvantages will cause the liner distortion and increase the fuel and oil consumption, and emissions [7]. Four most promising ways to replace the cast iron liners and improve the tribological properties of the cylinder bores include hypereutectic aluminum silicon alloy cylinder bore, fiber or particle reinforced aluminum matrix composite cylinder blocks or liners, thermal spray coatings on the cylinder bore, or electrochemical deposited coatings on the cylinder bore. All these alternative materials have lower COF than cast iron, however not all of them are successfully in production due to high cost, complicated manufacture, or sulfur corrosion.

Plasma Transferred Wire Arc (PTWA) coating is a kind of thermal spray coating, which is characterized for its high wear resistance, light weight, low COF and better thermal conductivity. Ford Motor Company applied the PTWA coating on its 5.0 L engine to replace the cast iron liners for weight and friction reduction. Ford Motor Company has announced vehicle weight reduction can improve fuel economy by 40% by 2020 to meet the new CAFE standards [8]-[9]. Replacing cast iron liners with PTWA coating can reduce 8.5 pounds' weight. Based on Ford study, the PTWA coated bore can help to reduce friction by 6.8% with cylinder head compared with the aluminum engine block with cast iron liners. The friction reduction would increase to 14.1% without the cylinder head installed. The weight and friction reduction can help to increase the fuel economy by 5% [10]. Except Ford, BMW and Nissan also use the PTWA coating for their productions. A typical PTWA process and coating cross section pattern are shown in Figure 2-5.



Figure 2-5. PTWA coating spray and coating cross section view [9]

Diamond-Like Coating (DLC) is a hard film made of carbon that has diamond-like properties. It has super wear resistance and low COF. Reciprocating rig and fired engine tests were carried out under lubricated condition at constant oil temperature of 120 °C. The test result showed that DLC coating could reduce friction by 19%, and the fired engine test showed that the DLC coating could help to reduce the fuel consumption by 2.5% [11].

Nissan developed mirror bore coating for its PR25DD engine to reduce friction and weight. The mirror coating thickness is 0.2 mm which is 1/100 of the thickness of the cast iron liner. The mirror coating can help to reduce weight by 1.5 Kg. The mirror bore coating improves the oil retention ability of the bore surface and helps to reduce the friction by 5% compared with the cast iron liners [12]. Figure 2-6 shows a cross section view of the cylinder bore with cast iron and mirror coating. Figure 2-7 shows a comparison of friction between cast iron and mirror bore coating.



Figure 2-6. Cross section view of the bore with cast iron and mirror coating [12]



Figure 2-7. Comparison of friction between cast iron and mirror coating [12]

In conclusion, reducing engine friction can help to enhance engine performance. There are many ways to reduce engine mechanical frictions including oil additives, piston ring coating, cylinder bore coating, honing pattern and so on. In this work, EJPO coating will be used as alternative bore material to replace cast iron liner. The low COF of the EJPO coating should help to reduce friction and enhance engine performance.

2.2 Weight effects on engine performance and fuel economy

Vehicle weight affects the vehicle rolling resistance, and rolling resistance affects the engine fuel economy or affects the engine output efficiency. The lighter vehicle weight will help to reduce the vehicle rolling resistance waste and enhance engine output efficiency. Every 100 pounds taken out from the vehicle and the fuel economy is increased by 1-2 percent [13]. In this work, the EJPO coating will be used to enhance engine performance to making more output power to increase fuel economy and rolling distance or MPG.

2.2.1 Hypereutectic Al-Si linerless engine block

Commercial grade hypereutectic Al-Si alloys range from 12% to 20% or more in silicon concentration [14]. The high concentration of silicon can give hypereutectic Al-Si alloy high hardness to be used as engine block material. However, the silicon particles in the aluminum must be distributed uniformly on the cylinder bore surface, otherwise failure may happen on the part where no silicon particles are distributed. The work principle of the hypereutectic Al-Si linerless engine block is the piston ring rides on a combination of lubricant and the primary silicon particles in the aluminum, so the chemical etching is needed on the cylinder bore surface to explode the silicon particles [15]. A typical work principle of hypereutectic Al-Si cylinder bore is shown in Figure 2-8.



Figure 2-8. Work principle of hypereutectic Al-Si cylinder bore [14]

Mercedes, Audi, Porsche, BMW, VW and Mercury Marine all use hypereutectic Al-Si alloy to make engine blocks. The hypereutectic Al-Si alloy engine block or liners can help to reduce weight significantly. The thermal conductivity of the hypereutectic Al-Si alloy is 400% higher than cast iron, it can help to transfer the heat evenly and easily [16]. Besides, it also helps to reduce the cooling load therefore to reduce the weight of the engine cooling system. Uniformly transferring the heat from the combustion process enables the manufacturers to design for higher operating temperatures which increases engine power and reduces emissions. Engine fuel economy can be increased by 6-8% [17]. However, this technology didn't stay on market for long because of the high tooling cost and the difficulty of casting the silicon uniformly on the cylinder bore surface.

2.2.2 Metal matrix composite (MMC) liner or block

Metal matrix composites (MMC) consisting of either continuous or discontinuous fibers in a metal result in a material with combinations of very high specific strength and modulus. The reinforcement fibers can be a multitude of different materials, the most common being silicon carbide, a ceramic. Aluminum MMC is much stronger at elevated temperatures, so it can be used as engine block material [18]. Aluminum MMCs are light-weight materials compared with cast iron. Replacing cast iron liners with aluminum MMC can also reduce huge weight [19].

Toyota used their all-aluminum cylinder block with an MMC cylinder bore for the seventh generation Celica sports car sold in the US starting in 2000. Figure 2-9 shows the 2ZZ-GE's engine block with the MMC liners for cylinder bore surface [20].



Figure 2-9. 2ZZ-GE's engine block with MMC liners [20]

Toyota found that an MMC lined cylinder block would allow them to decrease the distance between cylinder bore diameters to 5.5 mm for the 2ZZ-GE to increase the piston bore diameter and decrease the piston stroke. The MMC bore material has a higher young's modulus, higher tensile strength at elevated temperature. The Toyota 1.8 L 2ZZ-GE engine with MMC liners was able to make 26.17% more horsepower and 4.65% more torque than the 1ZZ-FE engine that uses cast iron liners [20]. The total engine reduces

weight around 20% and the reduction of the weight results in a reduction of fuel consumption around 5% to 7%. [21]. If the MMC reinforcement particles are not evenly distributed throughout the cylinder bore surface, the piston rings can wear away the softer aluminum matrix material and the engine will lose compression. This is the main reason to prevent the MMC from wholly replacing cast iron liners.

In conclusion, vehicle weight affects the vehicle rolling resistance and fuel economy significantly or in other words the weight affects engine's output efficiency significantly. All the engineers are working hard to remove the weight even by 1 pound. Replace cast iron liners with a 20 um thick EJPO coating can reduce the engine weight significantly.

2.3 Temperature swing effects on engine performance

Temperature swing coatings have recently been of great interest to automotive researchers for their potential to insulate internal combustion engines, reduce cooling requirements, and increase efficiency. Ceramic coated engines studied in the 1980s caused constantly high temperature on combustion wall surface during the whole combustion cycle including the intake stroke. This resulted in an increase in NOx, Soot, and occurrence of engine knocks, and decrease in volumetric efficiency and combustion efficiency [22]. On the other hand, thermal swing coating on the combustion chamber walls leads to a large fluctuation in surface temperature. In this case, the surface temperature with this insulation coating follows the transient gas temperature, which

helps to decrease the heat loss with the prevention of heating the intake air temperature and reduce the NOx and Soot [23].

The cylinder wall temperature swing is caused by the lower heat conductivity and lower heat capacity of the coating. This temperature swing is desired in gasoline engines to reduce the heat transfer from cylinder wall to the combustion gas and can eliminate engine knocks. Usually, porous coating has the temperature swing function [22]. A comparison of cylinder wall temperature with material of traditional metal, thick heat insulation ceramic, and proposed thermal swing coating was shown in Figure 2-10.



Figure 2-10. Transient gas and piston/cylinder wall temperature in dependence of different coating material in entire engine cycle [22]

Usually, cast iron or aluminum alloy are used as engine cylinder wall material and their thermal conductivity is in the range of 55 to 150 W/mK and the volumetric heat capacities in the range of 2400 to 3400 J/m^3 K [24]. The surface temperature of the metal

cylinder wall is kept constant at a lower level during the entire combustion cycle as shown in Figure 2-10. The temperature difference between the metal cylinder wall and the working as is relatively large, which will cause a higher heat loss as shown in Figure 2-11. This kind of heat loss will reduce the engine thermal efficiency [24].



Figure 2-11. Schematic view of in-cylinder transient gas temperature profile and metal wall temperature profile [22]

For the traditional thick thermal insulation coated engine, the combustion heat will be kept in the combustion chamber and the cylinder wall temperature will keep at a higher level during the entire engine combustion cycle as shown in Figure 2-10. The high combustion chamber temperature will reduce the volumetric efficiency [21], and the occurrence of engine knocks will also be increased [22]. The reduced volumetric efficiency will reduce engine power output [23] and the engine knocks will increase the possibility of the engine components failure [24]. The temperature difference between the heat insulation ceramic wall and the working gas is shown in Figure 2-12. As shown in

the figure, the temperature difference and heat loss are small, but the high combustion temperature can reduce volumetric efficiency and introduce engine knocks.



Figure 2-12. Schematic view of in-cylinder transient gas temperature profile and heat insulation wall temperature profile [22]

However, for the new temperature swing coated cylinder wall, the temperature of the cylinder wall changes following with the transient gas phase temperature as shown in Figure 2-10. The temperature difference between thermal swing wall and the transient gas is dynamic and relatively small. The temperature difference between thermal swing wall and transient gas are shown in Figure 2-13. As shown in the figure, the thermal swing coating has a lower surface temperature during the intake stroke and a higher temperature during the combustion stroke, and the temperature difference is relatively small at combustion stroke. This thermal swing property can help to reduce the heat loss without heating up the intake air temperature [25]. This dynamic temperature change can help to increase engine thermal efficiency without engine knocks.



Figure 2-13. Schematic view of in-cylinder transient gas temperature profile and thermal swing wall temperature profile [22]

EJPO coating is a kind of porous ceramic coating. A three-dimensional transient finite element analysis (FEA) thermal model was developed and proved EJPO coating has thermal swing properties by Dr. Nie's group in the University of Windsor. It was found that EJPO coating has temperature swing properties and both coating thickness and thermal conductivity could significantly affect the bore surface temperature and temperature fluctuation behaviors at the different crank angles. A possible selection of the parameter combination of coating thickness and thermal conductivity would provide a high-quality thermal swing coating for the cylinder bores to improve internal combustion (IC) engine efficiency [24]. Figure 2-14 shows the temperature variations of the cylinders made of different materials including grey cast iron, CGI, A356, A390, A356 with a cast iron liner, A356 with a PTWA-coated cylinder bore (coating thickness of 150 µm), and A356 with a EJPO-coated cylinder bore (coating thickness of 20 µm). Figure 2-15 shows

temperature variation involving two thermal conductivities and two coating thicknesses (20 and 60 μ m) [24].



Figure 2-14. Temperature variations of the cylinders made of different materials including grey cast iron, CGI, A356, A390, A356 with a cast iron liner, A356 with a PTWA coating (150 μm), and A356 with a EJPO coating (20 μm) [24]



Figure 2-15. Temperature variation involving two thermal conductivities and two coating

thicknesses (20 and 60 μ m) [24]

As Figure 2-14 shows, the EJPO coating has better temperature swing property than other materials at crank angle 400 degrees and the temperatures of top dead center (TDC) are lower at other crank angles which is better to pull the spark timing forward to make more power and avoid the engine knocks. Figure 2-15 shows that a thicker EJPO coating with a lower thermal conductivity has a better thermal swing property. However, the residual heat in chamber is also higher. The higher residual heat in the combustion chamber will heat up the intake air temperature and increase the occurrence of engine knocks [24]. In this work, the EJPO coating thickness is around 20 ums to 30 ums. This coating thickness allows EJPO coating to have the temperature swing function and also has less residual heat in combustion chamber. It will help to reduce heat loss without heating up the intake air temperature and reduce the chance of engine knocking. Besides, the thinner coating will also help to reduce the fabrication cost.

Keronite performed single cylinder engine tests with temperature swing coated pistons, comparing their performance with uncoated and anodized pistons. The test results showed that the temperature swing properties of PEO coating provided at least a 3-5% fuel consumption reduction under part load conditions [25].

In conclusion, temperature swing property is desired in internal combustion engines especially gasoline engines. The porous thermal swing coating on the cylinder wall can reduce the heat flux from the wall to the working gas during intake stroke and can reduce engine knocks. EJPO coating is a porous low thermal conductivity PEO coating, and it was proved to have the temperature swing property in simulation and Keronite engine test. Thus, applying the EJPO coating on the engine cylinder wall could help to enhance the engine performance by its temperature swing function.

2.4 Current engine block design and limitation

In the past, the automakers replaced the cast iron engine block with the aluminum engine block for weight reduction. Replacing cast iron with aluminum can help to reduce the engine weight by 45% for gasoline engines [26]. However, the aluminum is soft and doesn't have good tribological properties for the engine cylinder wall. The aluminum surface needs to be replaced or modified to meet the surface engineering and combustion requirements. Historically, the solution was to sleeve or cast in the cast iron liners to meet the required surface characteristics. The cast iron liners meet the cylinder bore requirements, and have the characteristics with low-cost, durable and easy to manufacture. This solution was good for mass production for a long time until the government required the automakers to increase the vehicle MPG and reduce emissions [27]. New solution or new materials are needed to increase the engine performance or fuel economy.

Cast iron liners also have their own inherent disadvantages in weight, size, thermal conductivity, differential thermal expansion and recyclability [28]. The different thermal expansion coefficients of gray cast iron and aluminum can cause deformation of the liner and increase oil and fuel consumption. The different thermal conductivity between cast

iron and aluminum also needs a larger cooling system to cool down the engine, which will increase the weight of the vehicle [29].

New materials with light weight, good tribological properties and better thermal management are desired to replace the cast iron liners.

2.5 Engine cylinder block requirements

Internal combustion engine cylinder blocks must satisfy several functional requirements including surface profile and finish, high corrosion and wear resistance, etc. During the combustion process, the engine produces high pressure, heat and shearing load. The cylinder block bore surface material must have high wear resistance and be capable of withstanding high pressures on the order of 100 to 200 bar [30]. The porosity level of the running surface material must be below 1% and the maximum pore size must be below 500 microns [31]. The cylinder bore materials also must have corrosion resistance because of the sulfur contents in the fuel. This sulfur contents will promote the wear or scuffing on cylinder bore surface if the bore material is not corrosion resistant [32]. Another important requirement for cylinder bore material is the coefficient of friction. Friction between the cylinder bore surface and the piston rings has a major impact on the efficiency of an engine's powertrain. Friction loss accounts for over 40% of the total vehicle power loss and more than half of that power loss can be attributed to the frictional loss between piston rings and cylinder bores [33]. Thus, a lower coefficient of friction is also required for the cylinder bore material.

The engineering materials used to manufacture the cylinder bore product must have high strength, modulus of elasticity, wear resistance, scuffing resistance, corrosion resistance and low COF.

2.6 PTWA coating process and properties

PTWA coating is a kind of thermal spray coating. Thermal spray coating deposition technology is a way to offer an effective thick or thin coating upon the surface to change the properties of the surface [34]. Thermal spray process sprays a stream of particles, metallic or nonmetallic on the prepared substrate and the particles are flattened to form splats. With several layers of these splats the coating formed on the substrate [35]. The main use of thermal spray coating technologies is offering a protective surface with properties of wear resistance, corrosion resistance, thermal insulation and electrically conductive [36]. A typical thermal spray process is shown in Figure 2-16.



Flame powder

Figure 2-16. Thermal spray process [36]

Plasma transferred wire arc (PTWA) coating process for engine cylinder bore was developed to increase fuel efficiency, reduce overall vehicle weight as well as improve engine efficiency by reducing internal friction losses by Flame-Spray Industries and Ford Motor Company [37]. It is a wire based rotating spray process with combination of plasma spray process and twin wire arc spray process. A constant current power supply with an arc voltage of 100–120 V and a current of 60–100 A is used to generate plasma from the cathode to the wire [38]. This power melts the tip of the wire and then the high-pressure plasma gas together with the atomizing gas strips the molten wire tip to particles. Thereby a bunch of finely atomized particles is created, which are accelerated towards the substrate at high speed by gases which are usually Ar, H₂, He, or N₂ [39].

A typical PTWA spray head schematic drawing and a PTWA spray process on engine block is shown in Figure 2-17. Due to the high speed of the spray particles of 100–130 m/s, a very dense coating with the porosity of less than 2% can be fabricated by the PTWA system [40].



Figure 2-17. PTWA spay head and PTWA spray process on engine block [40]

Due to the high speed of the spray particles, very dense coatings can be fabricated with the PTWA system. Coatings applied onto the wall of cylinder bore should have bond strength value of more than 30 MPa which is the minimum required value [41]. Thus, a pre-treatment of the cylinder bore surface is needed to increase the coating bonding force. A surface roughing process is developed to machine slots on cylinder bore substrate and these slots can enhance the mechanical interlocking of substrate and coating [42] – [43]. A typical cross-section view of the PTWA coating is shown in Figure 2-18.



Figure 2-18. Cross section view of PTWA coating [42]

The PTWA coating process for engine cylinder bore has four steps including machining the cylinder bore to a certain diameter, roughing the cylinder bore surface to increase the bonding force between coating and substrate, spraying the coating on the pre-treated cylinder bore surface, and finally hone the coating surface to meet the tribological requirements. The honed PTWA coating has the properties of light weight, high hardness, wear resistance, corrosion resistance and good tribological properties because of the controllable porosity. Ford Motor Company's study showed Ford engine with PTWA coated liners had better performance and the friction tests were also carried out with a stripped-down engine. The friction tests showed that the friction of the engine with cylinder head was 6.8% below the values measured from the standard engine with liners made from grey cast iron. Without the cylinder head, the friction was 14.1% lower compared to the standard engine [44].

Ford Motor Company has applied PTWA coating technology on its 5.0 L production engine. This PTWA coated 5.0 L engine can help to reduce weight by 8.5 pounds, reduce friction by 6.8% and increase fuel economy by 5% [45]. PTWA coating is a successful replacement material for cast iron liners.

2.7 EJPO process introduction and coating properties

EJPO coating process is a plasma-enhanced anodizing process for deposition of ceramic coatings on metal surface in aqueous solutions or electrolytes. Figure 2-16 shows a layout of the typical EJPO coating equipment, which includes DC power supply, electrolyte, cathode, anode and cooling or blending system [46]. The EJPO coated part will work as anode, a plate of graphite or the stainless-steel will work as cathode. Both cathode and anode need to be immersed in the electrolyte and the power supply needs to be a pulsed DC power to provide the energy for the EJPO process [47].



Figure 2-19. Schematic illustration of the EJPO equipment layout [46]

The EJPO process is quite similar to the classic anodization, but a much higher voltage (~250-750 V) is applied. Therefore, the dielectric breakdown occurs, and numerous micro plasma discharges are formed on the anode surface [47]. During the classic anodization process, a thin oxide layer on the metal can be formed by continuous transportation of ions through the electrolyte. However, in the EJPO process, the metal and oxygen atoms or ions are generated simultaneously by the hot plasma and then combined to form the dense oxide [48]-[51]. This mechanism promotes the ceramic coatings to grow with higher thickness and hardness. The physical-chemical reactions in the EJPO process are strongly enhanced by the plasma discharge events. Therefore, the physical-chemical reactions at the anode surface are complicated and accompanied with extensive gas liberation, acoustic emission and optical emission [52]. To meet the requirements of various engineering applications, a lot of research focus on characterization and optimization of the EJPO coating properties including tribological properties [53]-[58], corrosion resistance [59]-[64], photocatalytic efficiency [65]-[71],

bioactivity [72]-[79] and thermal properties [80]-[85]. EJPO coating has been applied in industry more and more, especially in space and automotive industries.

The surface morphology and microstructure of the EJPO coating can be affected by many parameters including composition of electrolyte, current mode, substrate materials, processing time and so on. Electrolytes contain silicates and phosphates, which promote strong metal passivation, and are most widely used for the EJPO process. These constituents decrease the breakdown voltage and increase the coating growth rate by integrating SiO_3^{2-} into the coatings [86]-[89]. Coatings with mullite phase have been deposited on the aluminum alloys by EJPO treatment with electrolyte containing sodium silicate and can be useful for thermal management application since they have very low thermal conductivities [90]-[92].

EJPO coatings have been reported to possess high hardness, good corrosion and wear resistance, excellent adhesion to the substrate, high thermal shock resistance and low thermal conductivity. EJPO coating has high hardness since the coating contains mainly α -Al²O³ and γ -Al²O³. The hardness range of EJPO coatings has been reported as 900-2000 HV [93]-[97]. The wear resistance of the EJPO coating is also high because of the high coating hardness. The high wear resistance property allows the EJPO coating to be applied on moving joint of surface to reduce wear. EJPO coating also has high corrosion resistance because of the inner dense layer of the coating, and this property usually be used to protect the surface of the magnesium or aluminum [98]-[100]. The EJPO coating has much lower thermal conductivity compared with metal, and the thermal conductivity

can be as low as 0.8 W/(m-K) on magnesium [101]-[102]. This low thermal conductivity can be used as thermal insulation to change the system thermal management.

EJPO coating is a new desired material for engine cylinder walls that has high hardness, high corrosion resistance, low COF, light weight and temperature swing properties. All these coating properties can help to enhance engine performance for fuel economy and emission reduction. In this work, EJPO coating will be applied on engine cylinder wall and other components for engine performance and durability enhancement.

2.8 Proposed methodology

The properties of EJPO coating on aluminum will be investigated including hardness, corrosion resistance, coefficient of friction and thermal insulation.

Flex brush honing and diamond stone honing process will be studied on the EJPO coated aluminum engine blocks.

2.0 L and 5.0 L engine blocks and other components including piston, camshaft bore, and cylinder head dome will be EJPO coated, and tested to evaluate the engine performance and durability.

Piston temperature test will be carried out to investigate coating's thermal insulation property at the combustion condition.

Vehicle durability test will be carried out on EJPO coated 5.0 L engines to investigate the coating's durability.

References

1. Richardson D. Review of power cylinder friction for diesel engines. J Eng Gas Turbine Power, Trans the ASME 122(4):506–519, 2000

2. Hutchings I M. Tribology: friction and wear of engineering materials[J]. 62-76, 1992.

3. Heywood, J. Internal Combustion Engine Fundamentals. McGraw- Hill, New York, NY, 1988.

4. James C J. Analysis of parasitic losses in heavy duty diesel engines. M.S. Thesis. Department of Mechanical Engineering, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, 2012.

5. Henein N A. Time Dependent Wear and Its Mechanisms in Engine Cylinders[R]. WAYNE STATE UNIV DETROIT MI CENTER FOR AUTOMOTIVE RESEARCH, 34-77, 1997.

6. Science Daily. "Nanotechnology Used to Prolong Machine and Engine Life." 6/3/2011

7. "Piston Ring Functions and Operation". www.federalmogul.com. Archived from the original on 7/10/ 2011. Retrieved 7/1/ 2009.

 Bobzin, K., F. Ernst, K. Richardt, et. al. "Thermal Spraying of Cylinder Bores with the Plasma Transferred Wire Arc Process" Surface & Coatings Technology 202, 4438-4443, 2008.

9. Ford Developing Thermally Sprayed Nano- Coating for cylinders to reduce friction, support light weight construction, Green Car Congress, 2008.

10. Verpoort, C., Bobzin, K., Ernst, F., Richardt, K. et al., "Thermal Spraying of Nano-Crystalline Coatings for Al-Cylinder Bores," SAE Technical Paper 2008-01-1050, 2008.

 Rejowski, E., Mordente Sr, P., Pillis, M., and Casserly, T., "Application of DLC Coating in Cylinder Liners for Friction Reduction," SAE Technical Paper 2012-01-1329, 2012.

 Yoshida, N, "Development of New I4 2.5L Gasoline Direct Injection Engine," SAE Technical Paper 2019-01-1199, 2019.

13. Naranjo, Robert D., HuangFu, Her-Ping, Gwyn, Mike. Castings Drive Fuel Efficiency. Modern Casting, 9/4/2004.

14. Kolbenschmidt Pierburg, "Latest machining techniques for aluminum cylinder bores (Alusil® and Lokasil)" Press Release.

15. Donahue, Raymond Ph.D., Philip A. Fabiyi. "Manufacturing Feasibility of All Aluminum Automotive Engines Via Application \ of High Silicon Aluminum Alloy". Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., 2000.

 Bolling, Gustaf F., Jean Cisse. Aluminum Silicon Alloys. Ford Motor Company, Assignee. Patent 3895941. 7/22/1975.

 Kolbenschmidt Pierburg North America. "KS Aluminum Technology develops advanced cylinder bore technologies." Press Release. 03 April 2006. www.pierburg.com
 W. Kasprzak, M. Sahoo, D. Emadi, Development of Aluminium Alloys for High Temperature Applications in Diesel Engines, MDEC Conference 2009, Sheraton Parkway, Toronto North, Richmond Hill, 10/4/2009.

19. Jacobs, James A., Kilduff, Thomas F. Engineering Materials Technology: Structures, Processing, Properties, and Selection. 4th Edition. Prentice Hall. Upper Saddle River, New Jersey. Pp. 128, 523, 563. Copyright 1985.

20. Takami, Toshihiro, et. al. Toyota Motor Corp. Masago Yamamoto, Toyota Central Research and Development Labs, Inc. "MMC All Aluminum Cylinder Block for High Power SI Engines." Society of Automotive Engineers, Inc., 2000. 2000-01- 1231. 21. Blaža Stojanović, Lozica Ivanović, Application of aluminium hybrid composites in automotive industry, Vjesnik 22(1):247-251, 2/1/2015.

22. Kosaka, H., Wakisaka, Y., Nomura, Y., Hotta, Y. et al., "Concept of "Temperature Swing Heat Insulation" in Combustion Chamber Walls, and Appropriate Thermo Physical Properties for Heat Insulation Coat," SAE Int. J. Engines 6(1):142-149, 2013.

23. G Sivakumar, Dr. V. Shankar, Dr. G. Hemath Kumar, N. G. Renganathan, V. U. Garud, "Is Thermal Barrier Coating for Low Heat Rejection in SI Engines or Diesel Engines?", International Journal of Emerging Technology and Advanced Engineering, ISSN 2250-2459, ISO 9001:2008 Certified.

24. Xinwei Shen1&Xueyuan Nie1&Jimi Tjong2, Effects of electrolytic jet plasma oxidation (EJPO) coatings on thermal behavior of engine cylinders, Heat and Mass Transfer 55(n6), 9/16/2019.

25. Keronite, Thermal swing coatings for combustion engine efficiency and emission elimination, VTMS 14, 6/14/2019.

26. Mid-Atlantic Casting Services. A Guide to Aluminum Casting Alloys. www.Mid-AtlanticCasting.com.

27. Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2008. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 4/15/2010.

 Beddoes, J. and Bibby, M.J., Principles of Metal Manufacturing Processes. Elsevier, N.Y., 5/15/1999.

29. ASM Handbook Alloy Phase Diagrams. Volume 3, ASM International, Materials Park, OH, 2003.

30. Valtierra-Gallardo, Salvador et al. Wear-Resistant Aluminum Alloy for Casting Engine Blocks with Linerless Cylinders. Patent Application – Publication Number: WO 2008/053363 A2. 5/8/2008.

31. Popoola, Oludele O., Matthew J. Zaluzec, Kimberly A. Lazarz, and Armando M. Joaquin. Method of Simultaneous Cleaning and Fluxing of Aluminum Cylinder Block Bore Surfaces for Thermal Spray Coating Adhesion. Ford Global Technologies, Inc. assignee. Patent 6187388 B1. 2/13/2001.

32. Barbezat G., "Application of Thermal Spraying in the Automotive Industry." Surface& Coatings Technology 201 (2006): 2028-031. 4/28/2010.

33. Nylén P. Applications of thermal spray technology for aerospace and automotive industry[C]//1st International Conference and Exhibition on Heat Treatment and Surface Engineering, HT and SE 2013, Chennai Trade Centre Chennai, India, Code 109410. 2013: 65-68, 5/18/2013.

34. Fauchais P.L, Heberlein J.V, Boulos M.I, Combustion Spraying Systems, Thermal Spray Fundamentals, Springer, 227-303, 2014.

35. Pierre Fauchais, J.V.R. Heberlein, M. Boulos. Thermal Spray Fundamentals. From powder to part, Springer, 7-20, 2013.

36. Pawlowski L, The science and engineering of thermal spray coatings, John Wiley & Sons, 35-42, 2008.

37. Darut G, Liao H, Coddet C, et al. Steel coating application for engine block bores by Plasma Transferred Wire Arc spraying process [J]. Surface and Coatings Technology, 268: 115-122, 2015.

38. Boulos M I, Fauchais P, Pfender E. Thermal Plasma-Fundamental and Applications-Vol. 1[J]. 244-248, 1994.

39. Walser B. The importance, 10(4): 1-7, 2004.

40. Davis J.R, Handbook of thermal spray technology, ASM international, 3-13, 2004.

41. ASTM C366 / C366M-11, Standard Test Methods for Measurement of Thickness of Sandwich Cores, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2011.

42. de Villiers Lovelock H L. Powder/processing/structure relationships in WC-Co thermal spray coatings: A review of the published literature [J]. Journal of thermal spray technology, 7(3): 357-373, 1998.

43. Berndt C C. Tensile adhesion testing methodology for thermally sprayed coatings [J]. Journal of materials engineering, 12(2): 151-158, 1990.

44. Tung S C, McMillan M L. Automotive tribology overview of current advances and challenges for the future [J]. Tribology International, 37(7): 517-536, 2004.

45. Cook, David, Ing C. Verpport, K. Kowalsky, and R. Dicks. "Thermal Spray of Cylinder Bores with the Ford PTWA Process." Association of German Engineers, 2003.

46. Cheng, Y., Peng, Z., Wu, X., Cao, J., Skeldon, P., Thompson, G. E. A Comparison of Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation of Ti-6Al-4V and Zircaloy-2 Alloys in a Silicate-Hexametaphosphate Electrolyte. Electrochim. Acta, 165, 301–313, 2015.

47. Boinet, M.; Verdier, S.; Maximovitch, S.; Dalard, F. Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation of AM60 Magnesium Alloy: Monitoring by Acoustic Emission Technique. Electrochemical Properties of Coatings. Surf. Coatings Technol. 199 (2-3), 141–149, 2005.

48. Arrabal, R.; Matykina, E.; Hashimoto, T.; Skeldon, P.; Thompson, G. E. Characterization of AC PEO Coatings on Magnesium Alloys. Surf. Coatings Technol. 203 (16), 2207–2220, 2009.

49. Wang, L.; Chen, L.; Yan, Z.; Fu, W. Optical Emission Spectroscopy Studies of Discharge Mechanism and Plasma Characteristics during Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation of Magnesium in Different Electrolytes. Surf. Coatings Technol. 205 (6), 1651–1658, 2010.

50. Zhong, Y. S.; He, X. D.; Shi, L. P.; Li, M. W.; He, F. Tailored Al2O3/ZrO2 Composite Oxide Layers by Bipolar Current Adjustment in the Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation (PEO) Process. Nanosci. Nanotechnol. Lett. 3 (2), 209–214, 2011.

51. Matykina, E.; Berkani, A.; Skeldon, P.; Thompson, G. E. Real-Time Imaging of Coating Growth during Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation of Titanium. Electrochim. Acta, 53 (4), 1987–1994, 2007.

52. Snizhko, L. O.; Yerokhin, A. L.; Pilkington, A.; Gurevina, N. L.; Misnyankin, D. O.; Leyland, A.; Matthews, A. Anodic Processes in Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation of Aluminium in Alkaline Solutions. Electrochim. Acta, 49 (13), 2085–2095, 2004.

53. Yerokhin, A. L.; Shatrov, A.; Samsonov, V.; Shashkov, P.; Pilkington, A.; Leyland, A.; Matthews, A. Oxide Ceramic Coatings on Aluminium Alloys Produced by a Pulsed Bipolar Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation Process. Surf. Coatings Technol. 199 (2-3), 150–157, 2005.

54. Mu, M.; Liang, J.; Zhou, X.; Xiao, Q. One-Step Preparation of TiO2/MoS2 Composite Coating on Ti6Al4V Alloy by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation and Its Tribological Properties. Surf. Coatings Technol. 214, 124–130, 2013.

55. Malayoglu, U.; Tekin, K. C.; Malayoglu, U.; Shrestha, S. An Investigation into the Mechanical and Tribological Properties of Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation and Hard-Anodized Coatings on 6082 Aluminum Alloy. Mater. Sci. Eng. 528 (24), 7451–7460, 2011.

56. Durdu, S.; Usta, M. The Tribological Properties of Bioceramic Coatings Produced on Ti6Al4V Alloy by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. Ceram. Int. 40 (2), 3627–3635, 2014.

57. Zhang, P.; Nie, X.; Hu, H.; Liu, Y. TEM Analysis and Tribological Properties of Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation (PEO) Coatings on a Magnesium Engine AJ62 Alloy. Surf. Coatings Technol. 205 (5), 1508–1514, 2010.

58. Wu, X.; Su, P.; Jiang, Z.; Meng, S. Influences of Current Density on Tribological Characteristics of Ceramic Coatings on ZK60 Mg Alloy by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces, 2 (3), 808–812, 2010.

59. Liang, J.; Srinivasan, P. B.; Blawert, C.; Störmer, M.; Dietzel, W. Electrochemical Corrosion Behaviour of Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation Coatings on AM50 Magnesium Alloy Formed in Silicate and Phosphate Based Electrolytes. Electrochim. Acta 54 (14), 3842–3850, 2009.

60. Duan, H.; Yan, C.; Wang, F. Effect of Electrolyte Additives on Performance of Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation Films Formed on Magnesium Alloy AZ91D. Electrochim. Acta, 52 (11), 3785–3793, 2007.

61. Shokouhfar, M.; Dehghanian, C.; Montazeri, M.; Baradaran, A. Preparation of Ceramic Coating on Ti Substrate by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation in Different Electrolytes and Evaluation of Its Corrosion Resistance: Part II. Appl. Surf. Sci. 258 (7), 2416–2423, 2012.

62. Bala Srinivasan, P.; Liang, J.; Blawert, C.; Störmer, M.; Dietzel, W. Effect of Current Density on the Microstructure and Corrosion Behaviour of Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation Treated AM50 Magnesium Alloy. Appl. Surf. Sci. 255 (7), 4212–4218, 2009.

63. Lim, T. S.; Ryu, H. S.; Hong, S. H. Electrochemical Corrosion Properties of CeO2-Containing Coatings on AZ31 Magnesium Alloys Prepared by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. Corros. Sci. 62, 104–111, 2012.

64. Hussein, R. O.; Zhang, P.; Nie, X.; Xia, Y.; Northwood, D. O. The Effect of Current Mode and Discharge Type on the Corrosion Resistance of Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation (PEO) Coated Magnesium Alloy AJ62. Surf. Coatings Technol. 206 (7), 1990–1997, 2011.

65. Yao, Z.; Jia, F.; Tian, S.; Li, C.; Jiang, Z.; Bai, X. Microporous Ni-Doped TiO2 Film Photocatalyst by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2 (9), 2617–2622, 2011.

66. He, J.; Luo, Q.; Cai, Q. Z.; Li, X. W.; Zhang, D. Q. Microstructure and Photocatalytic Properties of WO3/TiO2 Composite Films by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. Mater. Chem. Phys. 129 (1–2), 242–248, 2011.

67. Stojadinović, S.; Radić, N.; Vasilić, R.; Petković, M.; Stefanov, P.; Zeković, L.; Grbić, B. Photocatalytic Properties of TiO2/WO3 Coatings Formed by Plasma

Electrolytic Oxidation of Titanium in 12-Tungstosilicic Acid. Appl. Catal. B Environ. 126, 334–341, 2012.

68. Stojadinović, S.; Tadić, N.; Vasilić, R. Structural and Photoluminescent Properties of
ZrO2:Tb3+ Coatings Formed by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. J. Lumin. 197, 83–89,
2018.

69. Akatsu, T.; Yamada, Y.; Hoshikawa, Y.; Onoki, T.; Shinoda, Y.; Wakai, F. Multifunctional Porous Titanium Oxide Coating with Apatite Forming Ability and Photocatalytic Activity on a Titanium Substrate Formed by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. Mater. Sci. Eng. C, 33 (8), 4871–4875, 2013.

70. Stojadinović, S.; Vasilić, R.; Radić, N.; Tadić, N.; Stefanov, P.; Grbić, B. The Formation of Tungsten Doped Al2O3 /ZnO Coatings on Aluminum by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation and Their Application in Photocatalysis. Appl. Surf. Sci. 377, 37–43, 2016.

71. Lu, X.; Schieda, M.; Blawert, C.; Kainer, K. U.; Zheludkevich, M. L. Formation of Photocatalytic Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation Coatings on Magnesium Alloy by Incorporation of TiO2 Particles. Surf. Coatings Technol. 307, 287–291, 2016.

72. Krząkała, A.; Kazek-Kęsik, A.; Simka, W. Application of Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation to Bioactive Surface Formation on Titanium and Its Alloys. RSC Adv. 3 (43), 19725–19743, 2013.

73. Durdu, S.; Usta, M.; Berkem, A. S. Bioactive Coatings on Ti6Al4V Alloy Formed by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. Surf. Coatings Technol. 301, 85–93, 2016.

74. Sandhyarani, M.; Rameshbabu, N.; Venkateswarlu, K.; Sreekanth, D.; Subrahmanyam, C. Surface Morphology, Corrosion Resistance and in Vitro Bioactivity
of P Containing ZrO2 Films Formed on Zr by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. J. Alloys Compd. 553, 324–332, 2013.

75. Siu, H. T.; Man, H. C. Fabrication of Bioactive Titania Coating on Nitinol by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. Appl. Surf. Sci. 274, 181–187, 2013.

76. Sowa, M.; Piotrowska, M.; Widziołek, M.; Dercz, G.; Tylko, G.; Gorewoda, T.; Osyczka, A. M.; Simka, W. Bioactivity of Coatings Formed on Ti-13Nb-13Zr Alloy Using Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. Mater. Sci. Eng. C 49, 159–173, 2015.

77. Krzakała, A.; Słuzalska, K.; Widziołek, M.; Szade, J.; Winiarski, A.; Dercz, G.; Kazek, A.; Tylko, G.; Michalska, J.; Iwaniak, A.; Osyczka, A. M.; Simka, W. Formation of Bioactive Coatings on a Ti-6Al-7Nb Alloy by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. Electrochim. Acta, 104, 407–424, 2013.

78. Aktuğ, S. L.; Durdu, S.; Yalçın, E.; Çavuşoğlu, K.; Usta, M. Bioactivity and Biocompatibility of Hydroxyapatite-Based Bioceramic Coatings on Zirconium by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. Mater. Sci. Eng. C, 71, 1020–1027, 2017.

79. Mohedano, M.; Guzman, R.; Arrabal, R.; Lõpez Lacomba, J. L.; Matykina, E. Bioactive Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation Coatings - The Role of the Composition, Microstructure, and Electrochemical Stability. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. - Part B Appl. Biomater. 101 (8), 1524–1537, 2013.

80. Curran, J. A.; Clyne, T. W. The Thermal Conductivity of Plasma Electrolytic Oxide Coatings on Aluminium and Magnesium. Surf. Coatings Technol. 177–183, 2005.

81. Shen, X.; Nie, X.; Hu, H.; Tjong, J. Effects of Coating Thickness on Thermal Conductivities of Alumina Coatings and Alumina/Aluminum Hybrid Materials Prepared Using Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. Surf. Coatings Technol. 207, 96–101, 2012.

82. Apelfeld, A. V.; Borisov, A. M.; Krit, B. L.; Ludin, V. B.; Polyansky, M. N.;
Romanovsky, E. A.; Savushkina, S. V.; Suminov, I. V.; Tkachenko, N. V.; Vinogradov,
A. V.; Vostrikov, V. G. The Study of Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation Coatings on Zr and
Zr-1% Nb Alloy at Thermal Cycling. Surf. Coatings Technol. 269 (1), 279–285, 2015.

 83. Curran, J. A.; Kalkanci, H.; Magurova, Y.; Clyne, T. W. Mullite-Rich Plasma Electrolytic Oxide Coatings for Thermal Barrier Applications. Surf. Coatings Technol. 201 (21), 8683–8687, 2007.

84. Wang, L.; Zhou, J.; Liang, J.; Chen, J. Thermal Control Coatings on Magnesium Alloys Prepared by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. Appl. Surf. Sci. 280, 151–155, 2013.

85. Yao, Z.; Hu, B.; Shen, Q.; Niu, A.; Jiang, Z.; Su, P.; Ju, P. Preparation of Black High Absorbance and High Emissivity Thermal Control Coating on Ti Alloy by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. Surf. Coatings Technol. 253, 166–170, 2014.

86. WANG, K.; KOO, B. H.; LEE, C. G.; KIM, Y. J.; LEE, S. H.; BYON, E. Effects of Electrolytes Variation on Formation of Oxide Layers of 6061 Al Alloys by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. Trans. Nonferrous Met. Soc. China English Ed. 19 4, 866–870, 2009.

87. Cheng, Y.; Wu, F.; Matykina, E.; Skeldon, P.; Thompson, G. E. The Influences of Microdischarge Types and Silicate on the Morphologies and Phase Compositions of Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation Coatings on Zircaloy-2. Corros. Sci. 59, 307–315, 2012.

88. Mohedano, M.; Blawert, C.; Zheludkevich, M. L. Silicate-Based Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation (PEO) Coatings with Incorporated CeO2 Particles on AM50 Magnesium Alloy. Mater. Des. 86, 735–744, 2015.

89. Lv, G.; Gu, W.; Chen, H.; Feng, W.; Khosa, M. L.; Li, L.; Niu, E.; Zhang, G.; Yang,
S. Z. Characteristic of Ceramic Coatings on Aluminum by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation
in Silicate and Phosphate Electrolyte. Appl. Surf. Sci. 253 (5), 2947–2952, 2006.

90. Khan, R. H. U.; Yerokhin, A. L.; Pilkington, T.; Leyland, A.; Matthews, A. Residual Stresses in Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation Coatings on Al Alloy Produced by Pulsed Unipolar Current. Surf. Coatings Technol. 200 (5–6), 1580–1586, 2005.

91. Guo, P.; Shao, Y.; Ji, Y.; Zhu, W.; Yan, H. Growth Mechanism and Corrosion Behavior of Ceramic Coatings on CP-Ti Produced by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation. Adv. Mater. Res. 154–155, 896–901, 2011.

92. Polat, A.; Makaraci, M.; Usta, M. Influence of Sodium Silicate Concentration on Structural and Tribological Properties of Microarc Oxidation Coatings on 2017A Aluminum Alloy Substrate. J. Alloys Compd. 504 (2), 519–526, 2010.

93. Matykina, E.; Arrabal, R.; Skeldon, P.; Thompson, G. E. Investigation of the Growth Processes of Coatings Formed by AC Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation of Aluminium. Electrochim. Acta, 54 (27), 6767–6778, 2009.

94. Moon, S.; Jeong, Y. Generation Mechanism of Microdischarges during Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation of Al in Aqueous Solutions. Corros. Sci. 51 (7), 1506–1512, 2009.
95. Dehnavi, V.; Luan, B. L.; Shoesmith, D. W.; Liu, X. Y.; Rohani, S. Effect of Duty Cycle and Applied Current Frequency on Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation (PEO) Coating Growth Behavior. Surf. Coatings Technol. 226, 100–107, 2013.

96. Su, P.; Wu, X.; Jiang, Z.; Guo, Y. Effects of Working Frequency on the Structure and Corrosion Resistance of Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation Coatings Formed on a ZK60 Mg Alloy. Int. J. Appl. Ceram. Technol. 8-1, 112–119, 2011.

97. Bajat, J. B.; Vasilić, R.; Stojadinović, S.; Mišković-Stankovic, V. Corrosion Stability of Oxide Coatings Formed by Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation of Aluminum: Optimization of Process Time. Corrosion 69-7, 693–702, 2013.

98. Hussein, R. O.; Northwood, D. O.; Nie, X. The Effect of Processing Parameters and Substrate Composition on the Corrosion Resistance of Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation (PEO) Coated Magnesium Alloys. Surf. Coatings Technol. 237, 357–368, 2013.

99. Venugopal, A.; Ramesh Narayanan, P.; Sharma, S. C.; George, K. M. Effect of Micro Arc Oxidation Treatment on the Corrosion and Stress Corrosion Cracking (SCC) Behaviours of AA7020-T6 Aluminum Alloy in 3.5% NaCl Solution. Mater. Sci. Forum 830–831, 639–642, 2015.

100. Krupa, D.; Baszkiewicz, J.; Zdunek, J.; Sobczak, J. W.; Lisowski, W.; Smolik, J.; Słomka, Z. Effect of Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation in the Solutions Containing Ca, P, Si, Na on the Properties of Titanium. J. Biomed. Mater. Res. Part B Appl. Biomater. 100B-8, 2156–2166, 2012.

101. Wahiduzzaman S., Morel T.: Effects of Ceramic Translucence on Heat Barrier Effectiveness in Diesel Engines. SAE Paper 890569.

102. Siegel R. Spuckler CH.: Anallysis of Thermal Radiation Effects on Temperatures in Turbine Engine Thermal Barrier Coatings. Material Science and Engineering A245 150-159, 1998.

3. Chapter 3 EJPO coating properties investigation

3.1 EJPO coating hardness investigation

EJPO coating is also a kind of ceramic coating or oxide coating, and it is an oxide converted from its substrate material same as PEO process. In this work, the EJPO process applied on aluminum and the coating is mainly aluminum oxide. In the EJPO coating, it contains crystalline phase corundum (α -Al₂O₃), so the hardness is high. As a result, mechanical properties of the coating such as wear resistance and toughness are enhanced. Figure 3-1 shows a typical SEM- EDX analysis from an EIPO coating that contains α -Al₂O₃.



Figure 3-1. SEM-EDX analysis on EJPO coating [1]

A small EJPO coated aluminum sample (A390) was polished to roughness around 0.3 um and the coating thickness was around 15 ums. This coating roughness is similar to the cast iron liner roughness. A Vickers hardness tester was used to test the hardness of the coated sample. The load was set up as 10 grams, and the hardness was compared with the aluminum without coating. The hardness test results showed the hardness of the EJPO coated sample was 439HV10, and the hardness of the uncoated sample was 70HV10. The surface hardness was improved significantly by applying the EJPO coating. This hardness test was carried out on the 20 um coating surface, so the harness was relatively lower. If the coating was thick enough, or tested on the cross section coating surface, the hardness would be higher than 1000HV10. Figure 3-2 shows the Vickers hardness tester and the micro dent on the coating.



Figure 3-2. Vickers hardness and micro dent

The Rockwell hardness test was also carried out on the EJPO coated sample, the coating thickness was 15 um, and the roughness was 0.3 um. The Rockwell hardness of the coated sample was 59 compared with the reference brass hardness 55. The dent on the coated sample was investigated using SEM, the picture showed there was no crack and peel off on the dented coating, which meant the adhesion force of the coating was very

strong. Figure 3-3 shows the Rockwell hardness tester and the SEM image of the dent on the coating.



Figure 3-3. Rockwell hardness tester and SEM image of dented coating

The Vickers and Rockwell hardness tests show the EJPO coating has high hardness and strong coating adhesion which means the EJPO coating has high wear and scuff resistance and has the potential to be used as a new material for combustion cylinder wall. High wear and scuff resistance are the basic combustion functional requirements.

3.2 EJPO coating corrosion resistance investigation

EJPO coating is also a high corrosion resistant coating which can help to protect the substrate material from corrosive environment. In this work, the corrosion resistance of EJPO coating was measured by the Potentio-dynamic polarization equipment. The electrolyte used in the corrosion test was 0.5 mol/L sulfur acid solution, since the combustion chamber has sulfur content. The corrosion resistance of EJPO coating was

compared with cast iron. Figure 3-4 shows the Potentio-dynamic polarization equipment. Figure 3-5 shows the test results.



Figure 3-4. Potentio-dynamic polarization corrosion tester



Figure 3-5. Potentio-dynamic polarization behavior of EJPO coating and Cast iron

The corrosion resistance can be calculated by the following formula:

$$R_{p} = \frac{\Delta E}{\Delta i_{app}} = \frac{\beta_{a}\beta_{c}}{2.3i_{corr}(\beta_{a} + \beta_{c})}$$

Where βa and βc are the Tafel slops of the anodic and cathodic reactions respectively. The calculated corrosion resistance of EJPO coating was 7.05 x 10⁶ Ω , while the corrosion resistance of cast iron was 2.16 x 10³ Ω . The corrosion resistance of EJPO coating is much higher than cast iron, so the EJPO coating is more corrosion resistant to sulfur acid solution. Figure 3-6 shows the cast iron and EJPO coated samples after corrosion test. As shown on the tested samples, cast iron had much more corrosion on the tested area.



Figure 3-6. Cast iron and EJPO coated aluminum samples after corrosion test

The Potentio-dynamic polarization corrosion tests show that EJPO coating has higher corrosion resistance than cast iron. Combustion chamber has heat, humidity, sulfur contents which is very corrosive for metals. The high corrosion resistance property of EJPO coating will help to protect the cylinder wall from the corrosive combustion environment.

3.3 COF of EJPO coating

Coefficient of friction is a dimensionless scalar value which describes the ratio of the force of friction between two contacting materials. At the same load condition, the COF is the main factor to affect the friction.

In this work, a high speed tribometer was used to measure the COF. Ring shape EJPO coated sample, PWTA sample and a cast iron sample were used to do the tribological tests for COF comparison. The reason for comparing EJPO coating with cast iron and PTWA coating is that the performance of EJPO coated engine will be compared with aluminum engine with cast iron liners and PTWA coating.

The diameter of the ring sample was 110 mm and the test load was 10 N. The surface roughness of the tested samples was around 0.3 um and full synthetic 5W-30 oil was used as lubrication and AISI 52100 steel balls were used as counter face material. The tests were carried out at room temperature and the tribometer speed was increased from 0 m/s to 6 m/s steadily. Figure 3-7 shows the high speed tribometer. Figure 3-8 shows the EJPO coated, cast iron and PTWA coated samples.



Figure 3-7. High speed pin-on-disc tribometer



Figure 3-8. EJPO coated, Cast iron and PTWA coated samples

As shown in Figure 3-8, the surface roughness of the tested samples was measured, and the Mr2, Rvk also were measured to calculate the oil retention volume. The oil retention volume equation is shown below:

$$Vo = \frac{(100 - Mr2)}{200} \cdot Rvk$$

The measured parameters are shown in Table 3-1:

Sample	Ra(um)	Rpk(um)	Rvk(um)	Rk(um)	Mr1(%)	Mr2(%)	Oil volume
Cast iron	0.30	0.39	0.96	0.80	9	86	0.0672
PTWA	0.30	0.27	1.28	0.94	7	88	0.0768
EJPO	0.32	0.18	1.32	0.90	5	85	0.0990

Table 3-1. Surface measurements of cast iron, PTWA, and EJPO

As shown in Table 3-1, EJPO had higher oil retention volume than PTWA coated and cast iron samples. All three samples had similar roughness, but a higher Rvk value would increase the oil retention volume. The porous structure of the EJPO coating increased the Rvk value. A higher oil retention volume would help to reduce the COF at oil lubricated condition. The test results are shown in Figure 3-9.





Figure 3-9. COF obtained from high speed tribotest on cast iron, PTWA and EJPO

The test results show that the Stribeck curve was formed when the speed increased. The EJPO coating had the highest COF drop rate at mixed lubrication and lowest COF at hydrodynamic lubrication. The hydrodynamic lubrication was formed at a much lower speed on the EJPO coating. The lowest COF of cast iron obtained in the test was 0.072, the lowest COF obtained on PTWA coating was 0.050, and the lowest COF obtained from EJPO coating was 0.025. At the same test condition, the COF of EJPO coating was 65% lower than cast iron and 50% lower than PTWA coating.

After the test, the surfaces of the tested samples were investigated using a microscope. The microscope images showed all the tested surfaces were intact and no scratches or wear on them, which meant the EJPO coating and PTWA coating were wear resistant as cast iron. Also, the wears on the counterface balls were measured and the wears were quite similar. The EJPO coating was wear resistant but didn't consume counter face material. Figure 3-10 shows the surface images of tested samples, and the measurements of the counter face balls.



Figure 3-10. Microscope images of tested samples and counter face ball measurements

In conclusion, COF was affected not only by Ra but also Rvk. Surface with similar roughness and a higher Rvk would help to increase oil retention volume and reduce COF at lubrication conditions. EJPO coating had a much lower COF at same test condition because of the higher oil retention volume. SEM investigation showed EJPO coating had a much high wear resistance. The tribological test also showed EJPO coating had a much higher

COF drop rate when the sliding speed increases which meant the EJPO coating can have low friction at low speeds. Thus, the low COF of EJPO coating has the potential to help reduce the friction between piston ring and cylinder wall and enhance the engine performance.

3.4 EJPO coating thermal property investigation

EJPO coating is a low-heat-conductivity and low-heat-capacity coating which can protect the light metal from heat and has thermal swing property to change the engine cylinder wall temperature significantly. It is shown that the surface temperature with such an insulation coating follows the transient gas temperature, decreasing the heat loss while preventing the heating of intake air to enhance engine performance [2]. Prof. Nie and his group also found that EJPO coating has thermal swing properties and both coating thickness and thermal conductivity could significantly affect the bore surface temperature and temperature fluctuation behaviors at the different crank angles. A possible selection of coating thickness and thermal conductivity can improve internal combustion (IC) engine efficiency significantly [3]. The thermal insulation property of the EJPO coating can also help to enhance engine thermal efficiency.

In this work, the thermal insulation property of EJPO coating was measured using the experimental setup shown in Figure 3-11. The tested sample was surrounded by insulation material which was encased in an aluminum guard shell. This setup could help to reduce the radial heat from the surrounding environment. A heater was installed at the

bottom and two standard grade K-type thermocouples were used to measure the temperature below and above the tested sample. It took around one hour to get the temperature steady and measured. The temperatures were compared between coated and uncoated samples and the results were shown in Figure 3-12.



Figure 3-11. Experimental setup for thermal insulation investigation



Figure 3-12. Temperature measurement below and above tested samples

As shown in Figure 3-12, the EJPO coating could reduce the temperature of T2 significantly, which proved that the EJPO coating could insulate heat efficiently.

An air-cooled thermal shock test was also carried out to test coating's adhesion after thermal expansion and contraction. An EJPO coated aluminum sample was heated up by a flame torch for 10 seconds, and cooled by dry air for 20 seconds, repeated 100 times and the tested sample was investigated by microscope to check if any interfacial spallation had occurred. The test setup is shown in Figure 4-13 and the microscope images of the coating after test is shown in Figure 3-14.



Figure 3-13. Air-cooled thermal shock test setup



Figure 3-14. EJPO coating surface images after thermal shock test

As shown in Figure 3-14, the microscope images showed that the coating was intact and no cracks or interfacial spallation happened. The EJPO coating had strong adhesion and thermal stress to anti thermal expansion and contraction, and this thermal property promoted the EJPO coating to be applied on combustion engine cylinder wall.

In conclusion, the thermal insulation test and thermal shock test showed that the EJPO coating had good thermal insulation and strong thermal stress properties, and these properties could promote the EJPO coating's application in combustion environment.

3.5 Flex honing study on EJPO coated aluminum liner

An EJPO coated aluminum liner was used to study the flex honing process. Prof. Nie invented a spray head to coat the aluminum liner. The head sprayed the electrolyte on the inner surface of the liner and rotated to cover the entire surface. The plasma arc happened between the rotating spray head and aluminum liner and the coating was fabricated on the inner surface of the liner. After the EJPO process, the coating thickness and roughness were measured, and the data showed the EJPO spray process could generate a uniform coating on the liner surface. The original coating thickness was 30 um and the original coating roughness was around 1.9 um. An EJPO coated aluminum liner is shown in Figure 3-15.



Figure 3-15. EJPO coated aluminum liner

Flex honing brushes were used to hone or polish the coating to get the desired roughness and thickness. The material of the beads on the honing bush was silicon carbide. Different grits of the brushes were used including 400 Grit, 600 Grit, 800 Grit and 1200 Grit and 5W-30 oil was used as honing lubricant. The rougher honing brush was used first to remove the rougher and loose top layer of the coating, and then fine honing brushes were used to modify the coating surface roughness. A dial bore gage was used to measure the liner bore size and a surface profile meter was used to measure the coating roughness every five honing stokes. Figure 3-16 shows the flex honing process and bore size measurement.



Figure 3-16. Flex brush honing and bore size measurement

The flex honing process and measurements are shown in Table 3-2, this honing study was trying to get the desired coating roughness and thickness with the required cylinder bore size. Figure 3-17 shows the roughness and thickness changes during the honing.

Table 3-2. Flex honing process and measurements

Grits		400	600	800	1200
Strokes	0	20	30	30	50
Roughness(um)	1.42	0.8	0.6	0.45	0.35
Thickness(um)	23	18	15	14	12
Bore size(cm)	87.454	87.464	87.47	87.472	87.478



Figure 3-17. Roughness and thickness changes during honing

As shown in Figure 3-17, the coating had a high roughness with a higher thickness, when the coating was honed thinner, and the coating roughness decreased because of the less porosity on the inner dense layer. During the honing process, the honing strokes were recorded to remove 5 um of coating thickness using different grit honing. The honing brush grits and strokes are shown in Table 3-3.

Table 3-3. Honing brush grits and strokes during honing

Coating thickness removal	5 um				
Grit	240	400	600	800	1200
Strokes	8	20	30	50	80

According to Table 3-3, the liner honing process can be applied on EJPO coated engine cylinder bore and the coated cylinder bore can be honed to required size with desired roughness and thickness.

In conclusion, the aluminum liner could be uniformly coated by the EJPO rotating spray head. Flex honing study showed the EJPO coated liner could be honed to desire roughness and thickness with required bore size. The EJPO coating process and the flex brush honing process for the aluminum liner can be applied on the EJPO coated engine cylinder bores.

4.6 Conclusions

The Vickers and Rockwell hardness tests showed the EJPO coating had high hardness and strong coating adhesion which promoted the EJPO coating to meet the engine cylinder bore surface hardness requirement. The Potentio-dynamic polarization corrosion tests with 0.5 mol/L sulfur acid solution showed that EJPO coating had higher corrosion resistance than cast iron and could be applied on cylinder bore to anti sulfuric corrosion. The high speed tribological test showed that EJPO coating had much lower COF than cast iron and PTWA coating, which could help to reduce the engine friction if the EJPO coatings were applied on cylinder bore surface. The thermal insulation test and thermal shock test showed that the EJPO coating had good thermal insulation and strong thermal stress properties which proved the EJPO coating could be applied in engine combustion chamber to improve the thermal management. EJPO coating fabrication and honing study on aluminum liner showed the EJPO coating could be fabricated on liner uniformly and could be honed to the target surface roughness with desired coating thickness, and these processes can be applied on the engine cylinder bore.

All the EJPO coating properties tested or studied showed that the EJPO coating had the potential to meet the combustion functional requirements and has the potential to enhance engine performance by reducing engine friction and enhancing engine thermal efficiency.

References

 Lord Famiyeh1 and Xiaohu Huang2*, Plasma Electrolytic Oxidation Coatings on Aluminum Alloys: Microstructures, Properties, and Applications, ISSN: 2692-5397, 2020.

2. Y. Wakisaka, M. Inayoshi, K. Fukui, H. Kosaka, Y. Hotta, A. Kawaguchi, N. Takada, Reduction of heat loss and improvement of thermal efficiency by application of "temperature swing" insulation to direct-injection diesel engines, SAE Int. J. Engines, 2016.

3. Xinwei Shen1&Xueyuan Nie1&Jimi Tjong2, Effects of electrolytic jet plasma oxidation (EJPO) coatings on thermal behavior of engine cylinders, Heat and Mass Transfer 55-n6, 6/9/2019.

4. Chapter 4 Effects of coating and honing process on wear of the engine cylinder bore

EJPO coating's porosity, hardness, surface topography and other properties can be affected by changing the current density, electrolyte, treatment time, and temperature during the coating process. A proper EJPO coating process or coating parameters are needed to fabricate an advanced coating for the aluminum cylinder bore.

The honing process is a critical step for a fired engine test, since the engine needs perfect geometry, size, straightness, roundness, surface finish to run, otherwise failure will happen. A proper honing process is needed to hone the engine cylinder bore to standard size with desired coating surface finish and thickness.

EJPO coating and honing process on aluminum liner were studied and these processes could be applied on aluminum engine cylinder bores. In this work, an aluminum linerless 2.0L engine block was EJPO coated, flex honed and tested to select a proper coating for the 2.0L engine aluminum cylinder bores.

4.1 Effects of coating process on the wear of the 2.0 L engine cylinder bores

4.1.1 EJPO coating process for a 2.0 L aluminum linerless engine block

EJPO coating process was studied and tested on the #1 linerless aluminum 2.0 L engine block. The EJPO coatings' properties can be changed for different applications during the coating process, in this work, a wear resistant EJPO coating with good tribological properties is desired for the aluminum cylinder bore. Two kinds of EJPO coatings were fabricated on the #1 2.0 L engine block and tested to select one functional coating for this project.

Flex brush honing was used to hone the coated cylinder bore to the specific diameter with tolerance for piston and cylinder bore's thermal expansion. Before the EJPO coating fabrication, the aluminum cylinder bores had to be honed bigger to leave space for the EJPO coating and the piston to bore clearance. After honing, the EJPO coated bore will be honed to standard size with desired coating thickness and piston to bore clearance. In this work, the desired coating thickness was 20 ums, and the desired piston to bore clearance was around 25 ums. The aluminum cylinder bores were honed 28 um bigger than the standard bore size to make room for coating growth. A flex brush honed 2.0L aluminum engine block is shown in Figure 4-1.



Figure 4-1. Flex brush honed linerless 2.0 L aluminum engine block

After the aluminum engine block was honed and cleaned, it was set up on the EJPO coating machine for the coating fabrication. During the EJPO coating process, the plasma discharges generated a large amount of heat, and the heat would affect the coating quality. To reduce the EJPO process temperature, an aluminum top plate was used to cover the engine block cylinder deck and process water was used to cool down the engine block by going through the engine coolant channels. Figure 4-2 shows the cooling system for the EJPO coating process.



Figure 4-2. Engine cooling system for EJPO coating process

The EJPO coating process took 20 minutes for each cylinder bore to get 35 ums coating thickness, because a lower current was used to reduce the process heat. The process water temperature was not cold enough to take away the heat efficiently, so a lower current density and a longer treatment time were needed. If the process water was cold enough, the treatment time could be reduced significantly. Each cylinder bore consumed 15 Kwh electricity power during the coating process, and the whole engine block consumed 60

Kwh electricity power. Based on local mid-peak power rate, the EJPO treatment cost for each cylinder bore would be 1.65 dollars, which was a competitive cost compared with the 2 dollars each cast iron liner. The EJPO coated 2.0L engine block could help to reduce the cost by 17.5%. The weight of EJPO coated engine block was measured and compared with the engine block with cast iron liners and the EJPO coated engine block could reduce weight by 3.96 pounds or 6.4%.

In this work, two kinds of EJPO coatings were fabricated on this 2.0 L engine block and tested to select one coating that worked better at the combustion conditions. Cylinders 1 and 2 were coated with coating S3, and cylinders 3 and 4 were coated with coating S12. The coating S3 and coating S12 were fabricated by using different electrolytes, thus coating S3 and coating S12 had different porosity, hardness and different elements in the coatings. These two coatings were tested and compared on the 2.0 L engine test. The EJPO coated 2.0 L aluminum engine block is shown in Figure 4-3.



Figure 4-3. EJPO coated 2.0 L aluminum engine block with two kinds of coatings

After all the cylinder bores were coated, the engine block was taken out from the coating machine and washed. The coating thickness and roughness were measured to make sure the coating thickness and uniformity were good.

The coating thickness measurement showed all the cylinder coatings had similar thickness close to 35 ums. The coating thickness checks are shown in Table 4-1.

Table 4-1. EJPO coating thickness check after 20 minutes' treatment

Cylinders	Cylinder 1	Cylinder 2	Cylinder 3	Cylinder 4
Thickness(um)	35	36	34	34

The cylinder bore diameters were measured before and after EJPO coating process, this measurement could be used to calculate how much coating grew inside and outside of the aluminum surface. The cylinder bore diameter measurements are shown in Table 4-2.

Cylinders	Cylinder 1	Cylinder 2	Cylinder 3	Cylinder 4
Size before coating(mm)	87.574	87.582	87.581	87.578
Size after coating(mm)	87.526	87.532	87.530	87.526
Difference(um)	48	50	49	48
Coating grow inside(um)	11	11	9.5	10

Table 4-2. Cylinder bore diameter measurements before and after coating process

As shown in Table 4-2, the EJPO coating grew almost 1/3 inside of the aluminum substrate.

4.1.2 Flex brush honing process for a EJPO coated 2.0 L engine block

The flex brush honing process was carried out after the measurements were completed. During the honing process, the coating thickness, bore size and roughness were measured frequently to make sure the EJPO coated bores were honed to standard size with desired thickness and roughness. Different grits of honing brushes were used to hone the coated bores, and the 0.5 um aluminum powder was used to do the final polish. The honing details are shown in Table 4-3.

Table 4-3. EJPO coating flex honing parameters

Brush grit	240	400	600	800	1200	0.5um Powder
Honing strokes	10	10	20	30	50	50

After the final powder polish the EJPO coating thickness was around 20 ums, the surface roughness was around 0.35 um for coating S12 and 0.7 um for coating S3, and the cylinder bore diameter was 87.560 mm. The flex honed cylinder bore, and the roughness are shown in Figure 4-4 and Figure 4-5.



Figure 4-4. Flex brush honed cylinder bore



Figure 4-5. Flex brush honed cylinder bore roughness

As the surface profile shown in Figure 4-5, coating S3 had higher roughness because of the coating had more deep pores on the coating which were good for a higher oil

retention volume. Coating S12 had smoother surface because of the less porosity of the coating.

The piston size was 87.535 mm, and the piston to bore clearance was 25 ums, which was in the range of the required clearance tolerance. The honed engine block was ready to be assembled as an engine.

4.1.3 EJPO coated 2.0L engine test and tear down analysis

This engine block was assembled as an engine and scheduled to run the engine Break-in test. In the Break-in test, the EJPO coated engine ran 2 hours' low load steps up to 3000 rpm, and ran 3000 rpm full load for 3 hours, and then ramp up to 5000 rpm with full load for another 3 hours. After the Break-in test completed, the engine was torn apart to check the coating conditions. The tested EJPO coated engine is shown in Figure 4-6.



Figure 4-6. EJPO coated engine after Break-in test

As shown in Figure 4-6, the coatings in cylinders 1 and 2 were intact, and the coatings in cylinders 3 and 4 were scuffed. This Break-in test proved that the coating S3 worked better in the combustion environment. The bore diameter, coating roughness and the coating thickness were measured after the test. Compared with measurements before the test, it showed that there was no obvious difference for the coating S3 in cylinder 1 and 2.

One piece of cylinder bore bridge was cut off from the tested engine block for further investigation including wear resistance, hardness and oil retention volume. A reciprocating tribological test was carried out to test the coating wear resistance, Vickers hardness test was carried out to check the coating hardness and a MITUTOYO profilometer was used to measure the surface profile and calculated the oil retention volume.

The Vickers hardness test showed the coating S3 had a higher hardness, which was 376HV10 compared with 290HV10 of coating S12. The oil retention volumes were also calculated and coating S3 had higher oil retention volume than coating S12. The surface roughness measurements were shown in Table 4-4.

Table 4-4. S	urface roug	hness and c	il retention	volume a	of coating	S3 :	and S12
14010 1 11 0	arrace roug	mess and c	in recention	, oranne (or couring	~~ .	

Coating	Ra	Ry	Rz	Rq	Rpk	Rvk	Rk	Mr1	Mr2	Oil retention Volume
S3	0.34	4.97	4.97	0.55	0.19	1.24	1	6%	85%	0.093
S12	0.32	4.61	4.61	0.58	0.39	0.96	0.8	9%	86%	0.0686

The SEM pictures showed the coating S3 had higher porosity than coating S12. The surface morphology is shown in Figure 4-7.



Figure 4-7. Surface morphology of coating S3 and S12

A reciprocating tribometer was used to carry out the coating wear resistance test. The tribological tests were carried out at a room temperature of 24 °C and a humidity of around 50-60%. SAE 5W-30 full synthetic motor oil was used to do the tribological tests. The load for the oil tribological tests was 10 N. AISI 52100 steel balls (3 mm in radius) as pins were used as counterface material.

The test continued to run for ten thousand loops and the coatings were investigated and compared using microscope. The coating surface morphologies are shown in Figure 4-8.



Figure 4-8. Coating surface morphologies after wear resistance test

As shown in Figure 4-8, there was no wear or scuff on coating S3, however, some wear showed up on the coating S12. This tribological test proved coating S3 had a higher wear resistance than coating S12.

4.1.4 Conclusions

In conclusion, EJPO coating process could produce uniformed coating on the cylinder bore, and the cost was 17.5% lower compared with cast iron liner. EJPO coated 2.0 L engine block could reduce weight by 3.96 pounds or 6.4% compared with the engine block with cast iron liners. Flex brush honing could hone the EJPO coated bore surface to desired roughness and thickness. The engine Break-in test showed coating S3 worked better in combustion environment and coating S12 was scuffed after the Break-in test. The coating hardness test, reciprocating tribological test, and surface profile measurements all showed EJPO coating S3 had a higher wear resistance and oil retention ability. EJPO coating S3 was selected as candidate coating for the next engine block to run the performance and durability tests.

4.2 Effects of the flex brush honing on the wear of the EJPO coated cylinder bores4.2.1 EJPO coating S3 fabrication for the 2.0 L engine block

The #1 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine test proved that EJPO coating S3 was harder and had higher wear resistance. EJPO coating S3 was used to coat the #2 2.0 L engine block. The #1 engine test also showed cylinder 1 and 2 coating were intact which meant the cylinder bore diameter, piston to bore clearance, coating roughness and coating thickness worked on the 2.0 L engine block. The #2 2.0 L engine treatments would be same as the cylinder 1 and 2 of the #1 2.0 L engine.

The aluminum engine block cylinders were machined and honed to 30 um bigger than the standard bore size to make room for EJPO coating growth. The honed aluminum bore roughness was less than 1um, and the engine block was washed and dried before coating fabrication process. The flex honed aluminum engine block was shown in Figure 4-9.



Figure 4-9. Flex brush honed aluminum engine cylinder bore
After the engine block was honed and cleaned, it was set up on the EJPO coating machine for the coating process. During the EJPO coating process, the plasma discharges generate a large amount of heat, and the heat affects the coating quality. Same as the #1 engine block, an aluminum top plate and process water were used to cool down the engine block. Figure 4-10 shows the engine cooling system for the EJPO coating process.



Figure 4-10. Engine cooling system for EJPO coating process

The EJPO coating treatment took 25 minutes, and a higher current density was applied to increase the coating thickness to 42 ums. The dense layer of the coating would be increased, and the coating bonding would also be enhanced. The coating thickness measurement showed all the cylinder coatings had thickness close to 42 ums. The coating thickness checks are shown in Table 4-5.

Cylinders	Cylinder 1	Cylinder 2	Cylinder 3	Cylinder 4
Thickness(um)	41	42	41	43

Table 4-5. EJPO coating thickness check after 25 minutes' treatment

The original coating roughness was measured, and it was around 3.6 ums. The surface profile of the original coating was shown in Figure 5-3, and it showed the pores on the coating were deeper because of the higher current density.



Figure 4-11. Original coating surface profile

4.2.2 Flex brush honing for the EJPO coated 2.0 L engine block

Flex brush honing was used to hone the EJPO coating on the cylinder bores. The coating roughness was honed to around 0.7 um, and the coating thickness was honed to around 20 ums with the target bore diameter 87.555 mm. Different abrasives of honing brushes were used to reduce the coating roughness during the honing process. The coating honing process is shown in Figure 4-12 and the honed cylinder bores are shown in Figure 4-13.



Figure 4-12. Flex brush honing process



Figure 4-13. Flex brush honed cylinder bores

After flex brush honing, the engine block was washed and dried. The cylinder bore diameters, coating roughness, coating thickness and piston to bore clearance were measured. The measurements are shown in Table 4-5.

Cylinders	Bore size(mm)	Roughness(um)	Thickness(um)	Clearance(um)
Cylinder1	87.555	0.71	21	24.5
Cylinder2	87.556	0.73	22	25
Cylinder3	87.557	0.69	23	25.5
Cylinder4	87.556	0.74	21	24

Table 4-5. EJPO coating and cylinder bore measurements

The measurements showed all the parameters met the requirements; however, the surface profile showed the cylinder bore was not straight. The cylinder bore had a wave shape. At that time, flex brush honing was the only available honing source and efforts were made to hone the bore as good as possible. The surface profile is shown in Figure 4-14.



Figure 4-14. Surface profile of the flex honed coating

4.2.3 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine test and tear down analysis

The Flex honed #2 2.0 L engine block was assembled and scheduled to run an 18 hours' dynamometer Break-in test.

The test started at low speed and low load and ended up with high speed and full load. Figure 4-15 showed the Break-in speed and load.



Figure 4-15. Eighteen hours' engine Break-in test

After the 18 hours' Break-in test, cylinder borescope checks were performed. The checks showed the coatings were intact but showed non-uniform patterns. Some parts of the cylinder bore coating had light color and some parts had dark color. The engine was torn down to investigate the coatings' conditions. The tear down analysis proved that the coatings were intact, but the cylinder bore not straight and had wave shaped surface. The coating pictures were taken and shown in Figure 4-16.



Figure 4-16. Wave patent wear on the coating after Break-in test

As shown in Figure 4-16, the light color areas were the high spots where the coatings were rubbed more by piston rings. The dark areas were the low-lying area where piston rings rubbed the coating lightly. The wave shape cylinder bore was supposed to be developed during the aluminum cylinder bore honing process.

Before the EJPO coating process, the aluminum cylinder bores were honed bigger to make room for coating growth. In this work, flex honing brushes were used to do the honing. Aluminum was a kind of soft material, when the applied honing force was not even on the aluminum surface, the honed surface would present uneven shape.

Flex honing brush has a lot of silicon carbide balls on the elastic bars, the elastic bars have same length and the pressure force on each ball should be same. However, during the honing process, the brush was sliding in and out the cylinder bore, and some parts of the silicon carbide balls were squeezed together and the honing force on the cylinder bore was higher and more materials were removed. In this case, the wave shaped aluminum cylinder bore was formed. Figure 4-17 shows the flex honing brush in cylinder bore and a wavelike cylinder bore.



Figure 4-17. Uneven distribution of honing force on Si-C beads and wavelike bore after honing

Flex honing brush might work well on hard materials like cast iron, but not very well on soft aluminum materials. A better honing resource or tool was desired to hone the aluminum cylinder bores round and straight.

4.2.4 Conclusions

In conclusion, the #2 2.0 L engine block was EJPO coated with coating S3, flex brush honed, and assembled as engine to run the engine test. The engine passed the 18 hours Break-in test. After the test, the cylinder bore showed non-uniform patterns. Engine was torn down and showed coatings were intact, but the cylinder bores were not round and straight. The uneven cylinder bore surface was developed during the flex brush honing process on the aluminum bore and a better honing source was required to hone the cylinder bore round and straight.

5. Chapter 5 Machine honing and engine tests for a 2.0 L EJPO coated engine

The #2 EJPO engine test showed the flex honing brush couldn't hone the aluminum cylinder bore round and straight and a better honing source was desired. Compared with flex brush honing, stone machine honing can provide better straightness and roundness. For the aluminum cylinder bore honing, silicon carbide stones were used, and for the ceramic EJPO coating honing, diamond stones were used. The stone machine honing was studied and tested on the #3 2.0 L engine block.

5.1 Machine honing process study on a 2.0 L engine block

Using silicon carbide stone to hone the aluminum cylinder bore was studied and the aluminum bore could be honed straight, besides, the aluminum bore surface roughness could be honed lower than 0.5 um by using the fine stones. A used EJPO coated engine block was used to practice and learn the EJPO coating honing process. During the EJPO coating honing process, the bore diameter, coating thickness and roughness were measured frequently to guarantee both coating thickness and roughness were in desired range. Faster stroke and light honing force were used to make the coating smooth and without removing too much coating for each honing. Two kinds of diamond stones were used to hone the coating, one coarse stone and one fine stone. 10 um top loose coating was removed by the coarse stone and 10 um inner dense coating was removed by the fine stone. After the fine diamond stone honing, the EJPO coating had mirror finish surface, and straightness and roundness were improved significantly.

After learning the stone machine honing, the #3 2.0 L engine block was coated and honed by diamond stones. The EJPO coating treatment was the same as the #2 engine block. The honing head with two honing stones was used during the machine honing. The stone machine honing process is shown in Figure 5-1.



Figure 5-1. Diamond stone honing process

After diamond stone machine honing, the EJPO coating had mirror finish surface. The diamond honed #3 engine block is shown in Figure 5-2.



Figure 5-2. Mirror finished cylinder bores after diamond stone honing

After the #3 engine block was diamond honed, the block was sent to do the Coordinate Measuring Machine (CMM) measurements. This measurement could check bore size, roundness and straightness. A CMM roundness check is shown in Figure 5-3 and straightness check is shown in Figure 5-4.



Figure 5-3. CMM cylinder bore roundness and bore size check for #3 EJPO coated block



Figure 5-4. CMM cylinder bore straightness and bore size check for #3 EJPO coated

block

As shown in Figures 5-3 and 5-4, the roundness was not perfect due to the two stones honing head, but the roundness and straightness were improved significantly compared with flex brush honing.

The cylinder bore diameter, piston size, piston ring end gap were measured and the piston to bore clearance was calculated. The measurements and the calculation are shown in Table 5-1.

Cylinder#	Bore size(mm)	piston skirt Size(mm)	piston top ring end gap(mm)	piston 2nd ring end gap(mm)	piston to bore clearance(um)
Cylinder 1	87.542	87.517	0.381	0.864	25
Cylinder 2	87.539	87.514	0.381	0.864	24.5
Cylinder 3	87.538	87.512	0.381	0.889	26
Cylinder 4	87.537	87.513	0.381	0.864	24

Table 5-1. #3 engine cylinder bore, piston size and clearance measurements

The honed EJPO coating thickness was also measured. The coating thickness is shown in Table 5-2.

Table 5-2. #3 engine EJPO coating thickness after honing

Cylinder	Cylinder 1	Cylinder 2	Cylinder 3	Cylinder 4
Thickness(um)	21	22	20	21

As shown in Table 5-2, the coating thickness was the desired thickness after honed the cylinder bore to target size.

The honed EJPO coating roughness was also measured (Ra=0.70 um) and the coating oil retention volume was calculated. The coating surface profile is shown in Figure 5-5, and the profile showed the cylinder bore straightness was improved significantly.



Figure 5-5. Diamond honed EJPO coating roughness and profile

The EJPO coating oil retention volume was calculated, and it was $0.19 \text{ um}^3/\text{um}^2$.

5.2 Engine tests of the machine honed 2.0 L engine

All the measurements met the requirements and the diamond honed #3 engine was scheduled to run 8 hours Break-in test first. After Break-in test, the cylinder bores were checked by using cylinder borescope. The borescope check showed the cylinder bore coatings were smooth and intact. The borescope pictures are shown in Figure 5-6.



Figure 5-6. Cylinder borescope pictures after Break-in test

5.2.1 Engine Power test of the machine honed 2.0 L engine

Since the coatings' conditions were good, the engine continued to run a Power test. The Power test was designed to generate the engine performance map. During the Power test, each engine speed step kept running for 2 minutes, and the data acquisition frequency was 1 second. 120 data points were averaged for each point in the plot. The EJPO coated engine performance data were used to compare with the performance of the regular cast iron liner engine, and then evaluated the capability of EJPO coating for engine performance enhancement. Some of the EJPO Power test data and the stock engine Power test data are shown in Figure 5-7.







Figure 5-7. EJPO coated engine Power data compared with the stock engine

As shown in Figure 5-7, EJPO coated engine made more Torque and Power at speeds lower than 3000 rpm and speeds higher than 5000 rpm. The highest engine torque enhancement was 11.29% at 1500 rpm. Fuel consumption was almost the same and even less at some speeds, but EJPO coated engine had higher power output, which helped to reduce the fuel consumption and emissions to do the same work.

The EJPO coated engine had lower exhaust temperature and had smaller coolant in and out temperature difference which meant EJPO coated engine has less heat loss. The temperature swing property of EJPO coating helped to keep more heat in combustion chamber to do work.

The EJPO coated engine had retarded spark timing at all the speeds which indicated the combustion chamber temperature of the EJPO coated engine was higher. The engine knock sensors detected the potential of the engine knocks and retarded the spark timing to get rid of the engine knocks. The temperature swing function of the EJPO coating also helped to reduce engine knocks. The retarded spark timing would reduce engine power, however EJPO coated engine had higher power output at some speeds because of the lower COF and higher fuel or thermal efficiency.

Compared with the stock cast iron liner engine, EJPO coated engine made better performance at speeds lower than 3500 rpm and higher than 5000 rpm. The comparison data is shown in the following tables.

Speed(rpm)	EJPO (lb-ft)	Stock (lb-ft)	Enhancement %)
1000	92.98	87.89	5.79
1500	109.96	98.80	11.29
2000	119.17	115.88	3.35
2500	135.37	161.03	3.31
3000	142.81	132.47	7.80
3500	137.96	141.17	-2.27

Table 5-3. Engine torque comparison between EJPO coated and stock engines

Speed(rpm)	EJPO (lb-ft)	Stock (lb-ft)	Enhancement %)
4000	146.42	151.91	-3.61
4500	154.69	155.93	-0.79
5000	148.82	147.40	0.96
5500	147.57	145.81	1.21
6000	139.26	135.21	2.99
6500	133.52	130.81	2.07

Table 5-4. Engine power comparison between EJPO coated and stock engines

Speed(rpm)	EJPO (HP)	Stock (HP)	Enhancement %)
1000	17.70	16.75	5.69
1500	31.40	28.22	11.29
2000	45.61	44.13	3.35
2500	64.44	62.37	3.30
3000	81.57	75.69	7.76
3500	91.94	94.07	-2.27
4000	111.51	115.70	-3.61
4500	132.54	133.57	-0.77
5000	141.68	140.30	0.98
5500	154.53	152.66	1.22
6000	159.09	154.47	2.99
6500	165.24	161.89	2.07

As shown in Tables 5-3 and 5-4, the highest performance enhancement was 11.29% at 1500 rpm. At speeds 3500 rpm, 4000 rpm and 4500 rpm, the EJPO coated engine had worse performance, after 5000 rpm the EJPO coated engine made better performance again. Two main reasons to enhance the engine performance were lower engine friction and higher thermal efficiency.

The previous lab tribological tests proved the EJPO coating had lower COF than cast iron, so the friction between EJPO coated cylinder wall and piston rings should be smaller than that between cast iron cylinder wall and piston ring. The COF comparison between EJPO coating and cast iron is shown in Figure 5-8.



Figure 5-8. COF comparison between cast iron and EJPO coating

The lower friction between cylinder wall and piston rings made a contribution to a higher engine performance. The COF of EJPO coating was a typical Stribeck curve. When the sliding speed increased, the boundary, mixed and hydrodynamic lubrication formed and the COF of EJPO coating dropped significantly. Compared with the COF of cast iron, the COF of EJPO coating could reduce to the lowest value with a much lower speed.

Corresponding to EJPO coated engine performance, at speeds lower than 3500 rpm, the boundary and mixed lubrication formed, the COF was much lower than the cast iron, thus the EJPO coated engine made higher performance. When the speed increased between 3500 rpm and 4500 rpm, might be the hydrodynamic lubrication formed and the COF of EJPO coating increased at these speeds. The EJPO coating had higher COF and worse performance at these speeds because of the lubrication, surface profile and temperature influences. After 4500 rpm, the combustion temperature increased and the piston and cylinder bore expansion might change the clearance between the piston ring and cylinder wall, and this changed lubrication condition and affected the COF. The engine combustion was complicated, and the COF between piston ring and cylinder wall was one of those parameters that affect engine performance. The thermal efficiency effects on engine performance were introduced next.

Another reason for EJPO coated engine making higher performance was the higher thermal efficiency. Toyota motor company's research and experiments show the low thermal conductivity and low thermal capacity coating has temperature swing function and can help to reduce the heat loss during combustion without heating up the intake air temperature [1]. The temperature swing illustration is shown in Figure 5-9.



Figure 5-9. Function of the temperature insulation coating in cylinder [1]

As shown in Figure 5-9-A, tradition normal cylinder wall temperature stays at low temperature during the whole combustion cycle, cylinder wall temperature of traditional insulation stays at high temperature during the whole combustion cycle, while the wall temperature of the temperature swing insulation coating fluctuates during the combustion cycle.

Heat loss in combustion chamber is the temperature difference between the combustion gas temperature and the cylinder wall temperature ΔT as shown in Figure 5-9-B. ΔT in

normal cylinder will be high, because the constant low cylinder wall temperature. ΔT in traditional insulated cylinder will be small because the high cylinder wall temperature, however, knocks will happen since the constant high temperature in cylinder. ΔT in temperature swing insulated cylinder is small without heating up the intake air temperature, so there will be no knocks. Thus, temperature swing insulation coating can help to reduce the heat loss without heating up the intake air temperature thereby increasing the engine thermal efficiency.

Prof Nie's group also developed a three-dimensional transient finite element analysis thermal model to investigate the thermal behavior of EJPO coated cylinder bores. The study found that a possible selection of EJPO coating thickness and thermal conductivity could provide a thermal swing property to improve engine efficiency [2]. A simulation of temperature swing function of EJPO coating is shown in Figure 5-10.



Figure 5-10. Temperature swing function of EJPO coating [2]

In this simulation study, the 20 um EJPO coating had good temperature swing function. So, during the Power test, the temperature swing function of EJPO coating helped to increase the engine thermal efficiency.

Data in Figure 5-7 also showed the EJPO coated engine had a similar amount of fuel to generate the same amount of heat, it had lower exhaust temperature and lower coolant heat loss, which meant more heat was used to do the work. The thermal efficacy was increased to enhance engine performance. The fuel consumption, exhaust temperature, and coolant temperature comparison are shown in the following tables.

Speed(rpm)	EJPO (lb/h)	Stock (lb/h)	Reduction (%)
1000	11.22	11.71	1.26
1500	15.69	17.51	1.04
2000	21.84	22.26	2.35
2500	30.86	30.92	0.66
3000	35.95	36.63	0.46
3500	41.06	41.12	1.41
4000	49.24	49.91	1.35
4500	60.68	61.12	0.72
5000	64.61	64.58	0.03
5500	72.74	73.17	0.05
6000	85.95	87.8	2.1
6500	94.27	95.27	1.5

Table 5-5. Fuel consumption comparison between #3 EJPO coated and stock engines

Speed(rpm)	EJPO (lb/h)	Stock (lb/h)	Reduction (%)
1000	1099.3	1141.5	3.69
1500	1245.3	1291.3	3.56
2000	1246.1	1286.8	3.16
2500	1314.1	1314.3	0.02
3000	1345.4	1346.9	0.11
3500	1343.8	1369.6	1.88
4000	1415.4	1448.3	2.27
4500	1482.6	1517.7	2.31
5000	1523.4	1535.0	0.76
5500	1536.7	1537.3	0.04
6000	1556.8	1554.9	0.12
6500	1542.1	1553.9	0.76

Table 5-6. Exhaust temperature comparison between #3 EJPO coated and stock engines

Table 5-7. Coolant temperature in & out difference comparison between #3 EJPO coated and stock engines

Speed(rpm)	EJPO (lb/h)	Stock (lb/h)	Reduction (%)
1000	9.17	10.9	15.83
1500	7.2	8.48	15.1
2000	6.6	7.45	11.33
2500	6.65	7.09	6.17
3000	6.46	6.52	1.01
3500	6.34	6.47	1.9
4000	6.33	6.79	6.78
4500	6.7	6.77	1.09
5000	6.54	6.31	-3.71
5500	6.65	6.25	-4.83
6000	6.34	5.98	-5.95
6500	6.12	5.82	-5.08

During the dynamometer test, the test cell ambient temperature, engine oil temperature, and engine coolant out temperature were controlled at constant level. As shown in Tables 5, 6 and 7, the EJPO coated engine and stock engine had similar fuel consumption which meant the heat generated by the engines were similar, however the EJPO coated engine had a lower exhaust temperature and lower coolant heat loss. That meant the EJPO coated engine had less heat loss and more heat was used to make power especially at speeds lower than 3500 rpm.

The engine thermal efficiency can be calculated by using engine power and fuel flow rate, the formula is shown as follows:

Thermal efficiency= Actual Power (KW) / (Fuel Flow (g/s) * LHV (KJ/g))

LHV=42.9 KJ/g.

The comparison of engine thermal efficiency between cast iron liner engine and EJPO coated engine is shown in Table 5-8.

G 1		EJPO			Stock		T
(rpm)	Power (kw)	Fuelflow (g/s)	Thermal (%)	Power (kw)	Fuelflow (g/s)	Thermal (%)	(%)
1000	13.21	1.29	23.90	12.50	1.47	19.75	20.99
1500	23.43	1.98	27.62	21.05	2.21	22.24	24.22
2000	34.02	2.63	30.20	32.92	2.80	27.36	10.37
2500	48.07	3.64	30.81	46.53	3.90	27.84	10.67
3000	60.85	4.40	32.21	56.47	4.62	28.52	12.93
3500	68.59	5.17	30.90	70.18	5.18	31.58	-2.13
4000	83.19	6.20	31.25	86.31	6.29	31.99	-2.30
4500	98.87	7.65	30.14	99.64	7.70	30.16	-0.05
5000	105.7	8.14	30.26	104.7	8.14	29.98	0.95
5500	115.3	9.17	29.32	113.9	9.22	28.79	1.83
6000	118.7	10.83	25.54	115.2	11.06	24.28	5.21
6500	123.3	11.88	24.19	120.8	12.06	23.34	3.63

Table 5-8. Thermal efficiency comparison between EJPO coated 2.0 L engine and cast iron liner 2.0 L engine

As shown in Table 5-8, the EJPO coated 2.0 L engine had higher engine thermal efficiency at speeds lower than 3000 rpm, and at speeds higher than 5000 rpm. The highest thermal efficiency enhancement was 24.22% at 1500 rpm. The thermal efficiency enhancement shown in the Power test was engine output or performance enhancement. The thermal swing function of EJPO coating enhanced thermal efficiency and enhanced thermal efficiency enhanced engine performance.

Thus, the lower COF and temperature swing function of EJPO coating helped to enhance the engine performance.

5.2.2 Engine fatigue test of the machine hone 2.0 L engine

After the Power test, the #3 engine was scheduled a service to check the engine's leak down and compression. This check could help to evaluate the conditions of the cylinder bores. If the service data were good, the engine would continue to run the Engine Fatigue Test (EFT). The compression and leak down checks is shown in Table 5-9.

Table 5-9. #3 EJPO coated engine service check

Service	Cylinder 1	Cylinder 2	Cylinder 3	Cylinder 4
Compression(psi)	191	192	190	189
Leak down (%)	6	5	4	6

The service checks showed the engine was healthy and no scuffs were on the cylinder bores. The #3 EJPO coated engine was scheduled to run EFT test to test the honing effects on coating durability. One cycle of the EFT test lasts 3.5 hours, and 40 cycles were set up in the test. After one cycle EFT test, the data was processed to check engine performance. Part of the data is shown in Figure 5-11.



Figure 5-11. Part of the one cycle EFT data

The one cycle EFT data showed the engine made good power and torque at different steps.

A cylinder borescope check was performed to check the coating's condition after one cycle of EFT test. The borescope check found cylinder one had some scuffs on top of the cylinder bore. These scuffs might cause the engine failure during the EFT test, so the test was hold and the engine was torn down to investigate. The cylinder bores are shown in Figure 5-12.



Figure 5-12. Cylinder bore coatings after one cycle EFT test

The cylinder one had scuffs on top of the cylinder bore. The pistons were also inspected after the tear down. Found #1 piston had scuffs on the piston top land which meant the clearance between piston and the top part of cylinder bore was tight. The #1 piston is shown in Figure 5-13.



Figure 5-13. Scuffed cylinder one piston

A bigger piston to bore clearance was necessary to avoid the coating scuff and pass the EFT test.

5.2.3 Conclusions

In conclusion, the #3 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine block was prepared same as the #2 engine. Diamond stone honing was learned and applied to hone the #3 engine block; the diamond honed coating had mirror finish. #3 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine passed Break-in test, Power test, and one cycle of EFT test. During Power test, EJPO coated engine had better performance at speeds lower than 3000 rpm and at speeds higher than 5000 rpm because of the low COF of the EJPO coating and temperature swing function of the EJPO coating. The highest engine performance enhancement was 11.29% at 1500 rpm. The lower friction and higher thermal efficiency enhanced engine performance. Cylinder one piston top land touched the top of the cylinder bore, and a bigger piston to bore clearance was needed.

5.3 Engine tests of the machine honed 2.0 L engine with bigger bore size

5.3.1 Machine honing the 2.0 L engine with a bigger bore size

The #3 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine test failed after the first cycle of EFT test because of the tight piston to bore clearance. A bigger piston to cylinder bore clearance was needed to pass the EFT test. The #4 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine block was prepared and diamond stone honed with a bigger piston to bore clearance for the engine tests.

The #4 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine block was treated same as the #3 engine block, and the cylinder bore diameter was diamond honed 5 ums bigger than the #3 engine block. The diamond honed #4 engine block is shown in Figure 5-14.



Figure 5-14. Diamond stone honed #4 engine block and mirror finished surface

The bore size, roundness and straightness were checked by CMM machine and were good. The pistons were measured, and the clearance was calculated to make sure the clearance was 5 ums bigger than the #3 engine block. The measurements are shown in Table 5-10.

Cylinder #	Location	Piston size(mm)	Cyl bore size(mm)	Clearance(um)
1	top	87.489	87.518	29
	mid	87.490	87.52	30
	bot	87.491	87.522	31
2	top	87.490	87.518	28
	mid	87.491	87.52	29
	bot	87.488	87.519	31
3	top	87.487	87.518	31
	mid	87.489	87.521	32
	bot	87.490	87.520	30
4	top	87.483	87.515	32
	mid	87.482	87.511	29
	bot	87.482	87.512	30

Table 5-10. #4 engine block cylinder diameter, piston and clearance measurements

The coating thickness was also measured at three locations including top, middle and bottom to make sure the coating thickness was uniform. All the coating thicknesses were a little bit higher than 20 ums. The measured coating thickness is shown in Table 5-11.

Table 5-11. #4 engine block coating thickness after diamond honing

Cylinder bore	1	2	3	4
Thickness Top(um)	23	22	23	21
Thickness Middle(um)	23	22	23	21
Thickness Bottom(um)	21	21	22	20

The coating surface roughness was also measured and it was around 0.72 ums. The measured coating surface profile is shown in Figure 5-15.



Figure 5-15. Surface profile of the diamond honed EJPO coating

The oil retention volume was calculated and it was $0.16 \text{ um}^3/\text{um}^2$.

5.3.2 Engine tests of the 2.0 L engine with bigger bore size

All the EJPO coating parameters, cylinder bore size and clearance met the requirements and the engine block was assembled to run dynamometer engine tests. The #4 EJPO coated engine passed the Break-in test, and Power test. After the Power test, the coatings' conditions were checked by using borescope.

The cylinder borescope checks showed the coatings were smooth and intact after Power test. The borescope pictures are shown in Figure 5-16.



Figure 5-16. Cylinder bore pictures after Power test

The Power test data was processed and compared with the reference stock engine with cast iron liners to investigate the engine performance. Part of the engine performance data are shown in Figure 5-17.





Figure 5-17. Part of engine performance data compared with reference data
As shown in Figure 5-17, the #4 EJPO coated engine performed quite similar to #3 EJPO coated engine. The #4 EJPO coated engine made higher Power and Torque at low speeds (lower than 3000 rpm) and higher speeds (higher than 5000 rpm), also had similar even less fuel consumption and lower exhaust temperatures. The two main factors to enhance engine performance were lower COF and higher thermal efficiency of the EJPO coating (temperature swing and thermal insulation properties) which were talked about in Chapter 5.2.1.

Both #3 and #4 EJPO coated 2.0 L engines reacted similarly and had better performance which meant the EJPO coating indeed has the benefits to enhance engine performance, besides the EJPO coating process was repeatable and cost-effective.

After the Power test was completed, the engine service was performed to check engine's health. The service data showed the engine was healthy and able to run the EFT test. The service data is shown in Table 5-12.

Table 5-12. #4 Engine service data after Post Power test

Service	Cylinder 1	Cylinder 2	Cylinder 3	Cylinder 4
Compression(psi)	193	191	189	192
Leak down (%)	5	5	6	6

After service the #4 EJPO coated engine was scheduled to run a 100 hours EFT test. The engine passed the EFT test and some of the EFT data are shown in Figure 18.



Figure 5-18. Part of the 100 hours EFT test data

The EFT data showed the engine made stable peak Power and peak Torque during the 100 hours EFT test which meant the engine was healthy and the EJPO coating had high wear resistance and durability.

After the EFT test, the #4 EJPO coated engine was scheduled to run a Post Power test to check engine performance after the EFT test. The post Power test showed engine made similar Power and Torque with the Power test. The Post Power test data was processed and compared with reference engine. Part of the data is shown in Figure 5-19.





Figure 5-19. Post Power test data compared with reference data

As shown in Figure 5-19, the EJPO coated engine still performed better after the 100 hours EFT test. All the data from #3 EJPO coated engine Power test and #4 EJPO coated engine Power and Post Power tests showed EJPO coated engine could make higher engine performance at some speed ranges than the stock engine with cast iron liners. The performance evaluation and data analysis were talked about in Chapter 5.2.1.

Post service checks were performed after Post Power test, the service data showed engine had similar compression and leak down compared with the beginning checks. The postal service data is shown in Table 5-13.

 Table 5-13. #4 Engine service data after Post Power test

Service	Cylinder 1	Cylinder 2	Cylinder 3	Cylinder 4
Compression(psi)	198	191	187	196
Leak down (%)	7	7	6	6

The #4 EJPO coated engine was torn down to check coating and measure cylinder bore diameter, coating thickness and roughness. The cylinder bore coatings were all smooth and intact, the engine block is shown in Figure 5-20.



Figure 5-20. #4 EJPO coated engine torn down pictures after dynamometer test The cylinder bore size, piston size, piston to bore clearance, coating thickness and coating roughness were measured and are shown in Table 5-14, Table 5-15 and Figure 5-21.

		Piston size	Cyl bore size	Clearance	Original
Cylinder	Location	(mm)	(mm)	(um)	clearance(um)
	top	87.492	87.52	30	29
1	mid	87.495	87.529	34	30
	bot	87.497	87.529	32	31
	top	87.494	87.524	30	28
2	mid	87.495	87.526	31	29
	bot	87.491	87.523	32	31
	top	87.492	87.524	32	31
3	mid	87.496	87.528	32	32
	bot	87.495	87.528	33	30
	top	87.486	87.518	32	32
4	mid	87.485	87.518	33	29
	bot	87.485	87.516	31	30

Table 5-14. #4 EJPO coated engine bore size and clearance measurements after dynamometer tests

Table 5-15. #4 EJPO coated engine coating thickness after dynamometer tests

Cylinder bore	1	2	3	4
Thickness Top(um)	22	21	22	21
Thickness Middle(um)	22	21	22	21
Thickness Bottom(um)	21	21	21	20



Figure 5-21. #4 EJPO coated engine coating roughness after dynamometer tests

All the measurements showed the EJPO coated bore size, piston to bore clearance, coating thickness and coating roughness didn't change obviously which meant the EJPO coating had high wear resistance and durability. The EJPO coating is a good candidate material to replace the traditional cast iron liners.

In order to prove the EJPO coating can enhance engine performance, the engine performance data of EJPO coated engine were compared with more other reference engines. The comparison showed the EJPO coated engine had a better performance than all other reference stock engines. The performance comparison data are shown in Figure 5-22.







Figure 5-22. EJPO coated engine performance data compared with other stock reference

engines

5.3.3 Conclusions

In conclusion, the #4 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine block was prepared same as the #3 engine. Diamond stone honed the cylinder bore size 5 ums bigger than the #3 engine block. The #4 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine passed Break-in test, Power test, 100 hours EFT test and Post Power test. During Power and Post Power test, EJPO coated engine had better performance at speeds lower than 3000 rpm and at speeds higher than 5000 rpm because of the low COF of the EJPO coating and temperature swing function of the EJPO coating. The lower friction and higher thermal efficiency enhanced engine performance. Cylinder bore size, coating thickness and roughness measurements after dynamometer tests showed EJPO coating had high wear and scuff resistance and the coating thickness and cylinder bore size changes were minor. Engine performance data comparison between EJPO coated engine and other reference engines proved EJPO coating could enhance engine performance especially at lower speeds.

5.4 Summary of the EJPO coated 2.0 L engine work

In the beginning of this work, the properties of EJPO coating including hardness, COF, thermal insulation were studied and tested in the lab. The EJPO coating was proved to have a higher hardness, lower COF and better thermal insulation. These properties made EJPO coating a possible candidate to be applied in the combustion engine to enhance engine performance. The corrosion resistance of the EJPO coating also promotes the EJPO coating to work with the biofuel in the future.

Flex brush honing process was studied on the EJPO coated aluminum liner and 2.0 L engine. The flex brush honing could the EJPO coating to the required roughness with the desired coating thickness. The flex brush honed engine test showed the flex brush honing couldn't provide a good cylinder bore roundness and straightness. Diamond stone machine honing was studied on EJPO coated 2.0 L engine block, the CMM measurement and the engine test showed the diamond stone machine honing could improve the cylinder bore roundness and straightness significantly, also mirror finished cylinder bore surface could be obtained.

The #1 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine test proved that EJPO coating S3 was harder than EJPO coating S12 and could meet the combustion functional requirements. EJPO coating S3 was selected to be used in this project.

The #2 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine test proved that flex brush honing could not provide a straight and round bore finish. A better honing source was needed. Diamond stone honing was introduced and learned. The diamond stone honing could provide a better straightness, roundness and a mirror finish surface. Diamond stone honing was selected to be used to hone the future EJPO coated engine blocks.

The #3 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine test proved that EJPO coating S3 and diamond stone honing worked well in combustion engine. Also, the Power test proved that EJPO coated engine had a better performance than regular stock cast iron liner engine especially at

speeds lower than 3000 rpm and speeds higher than 5000 rpm. The highest engine performance enhancement was 11.29% at 1500 rpm. The lower COF and temperature swing property of EJPO coating helped to enhance the engine performance. The #3 EJPO coated engine failed at the end of the first cycle of EFT test, the piston to bore clearance was small at the top part of cylinder one. 5 ums more clearance was needed.

The #4 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine test proved that 30 ums piston to cylinder bore clearance was needed for engine durability test. This engine passed Break-in, Power, 100 hours EFT, and Post Power tests. The Power and Post Power test data showed EJPO coated engine had a better performance same as #3 EJPO coated engine. After tests the engine was torn down for analysis, the coating appearance, thickness, roughness measurements proved the coating didn't have obvious changes before and after the dynamometer engine tests. The measurements proved that EJPO coating had high wear resistance and high durability.

The #4 EJPO coated 2.0 L engine passed performance and durability tests, and base on this, the EJPO coating and honing parameters were learned and developed for the 2.0 L engine including EJPO coating S3 electrolyte, diamond stone machine honing process, piston to bore clearance (30 um), coating roughness (Ra<0.8 um, Rvk<2.0 um), and coating thickness (20 um). These parameters could be used as reference for the future EJPO coated 2.0 L engine.

Compared with 2.0 L cast iron liner engine, the EJPO coated 2.0 L engine can help to reduce weight by 3.96 pounds (6.4%) and reduce cost around 17.5%.

References

1. Hidemasa Kosaka, Yoshifumi Wakisaka, Yoshihiro Nomura, Concept of "Temperature Swing Heat Insulation" in Combustion Chamber Walls, and Approprite Thermal-Physical Properties for Heat Insulation Coat, SAE Int. J. Engine 6-1:142-149, 2013.

2. Xinwei Shen1 & Xueyuan Nie1 & Jimi Tjong2, Effects of electrolytic jet plasma oxidation (EJPO) coatings on thermal behavior of engine cylinders, Heat and Mass Transfer 55-n6, 9/6/2019.

6. Chapter 6 EJPO coating deposition and performance test for 5 .0 L engines

One of the ways to improve an automobile's fuel economy and efficiency by reducing vehicle weight, friction loss and increasing thermal efficiency simultaneously is to remove the cast iron cylinder liners and replace them with a lighter, low friction and more thermally efficient material.

Plasma Transferred Wire Arc (PTWA) coating is a kind of thermal spray coating and implemented by Ford Motor Company to spray the engine cylinder bore. The PTWA process melts or heat softens a material to particles, and the particles are propelled by a jet of process gases against the substrate [1]. Coating quality is determined by its porosity, oxide content, macro and micro-hardness, bond strength and surface roughness.

The PTWA coating reduces friction between the piston rings and the cylinder bores allowing the engine to build rotational speed quicker so that the motors produce more power. It also helps to reduce weight by 8.5 pounds on Ford's 5.0 L engine block compared with the traditional aluminum block with cast iron liners. The Fuel economy has also been increased by 5% over the old version engine [2]. PTWA coated engine is a successful production and continues up to now.

In the EJPO coated 2.0 L engine tests, it proved the EJPO coating was also a candidate material for the combustion engine cylinder bore. However, the EJPO coating's performance on a higher displacement engine which had higher combustion temperature,

pressure, speed and higher cylinder bore distortion was never known, and it was interesting to compare the engine performance, weight, and manufacture cost between EJPO coated engine and PTWA coated engine. In this work, EJPO coating was applied on the 5.0 L engine cylinder bores to compare the weight, friction, engine performance and cost with the PTWA coated engine.

6.1 Properties comparison between EJPO coating and PTWA coating

6.1.1 Weight comparison

The coating thickness and the weight of the engine block with cast iron liner, PTWA coating and EJPO coating were measured and compared. The EJPO coating had the thinnest coating thickness and lowest weight. The pictures of the three kinds of engine block are shown in Figure 6-1, and the measurements are shown in Table 6-1.



Figure 6-1. Engine blocks with cast iron liners, PTWA coating, and EJPO coating

Engine blocks	Cast iron liner	PTWA	EJPO
Weight(lbs.)	96.9	88.4	86.6
Thickness(um)	2000	220	20

Table 6-1. 5.0 L engine block weight and coating thickness measurements

As shown in Table 6-1, the thinner EJPO coating could help to reduce the weight 1.8 pounds which was 2% weight reduction compared with PTWA coated engine block.

Weight affects the vehicle rolling resistance then affects the vehicle Mile per Gallon (MPG). Replacing cast iron liners with PTWA coating can reduce the weight by 8.5 pounds. The thickness of EJPO coating is 1/10 of PTWA coating thickness, which can help to reduce the weight by another 1.8 pounds (2%). This weight reduction can help to improve the MPG and fuel efficiency.

6.1.2 Cost comparison

PTWA coating is thermal spray coating, and the coating process consumes electricity power, feedstock material, plasma gas (Ar, H_2 , He, or N_2), and the plasma torch needs maintenance or replacement. All these materials and maintenance will compose the cost of the PTWA coating process.

EJPO coating process is an electrical plating process, and it uses electricity power and electrolyte to generate the oxidation coating on metals. In the coating process, it

consumes electricity power but not electrolyte. The main cost of the EJPO coating process is the cost of the electricity power.

Compared with PTWA coating process, the EJPO coating process can save cost around 9%.

6.1.3 PTWA and EJPO coating friction comparison

The Coefficient of Friction (COF) of PTWA and EJPO coatings was studied in lab tribological test. The EJPO coated ring-shape samples were prepared and polished to different surface roughness (Ra from 1.0 um to 0.3 um) and Rvk which affect the oil retention volume of the coating. The PTWA coating had a lower porosity, so the roughness was around 0.3 um.

In this work, the COF of EJPO coating with different surface roughness were tested and compared with the COF of PTWA coating. The triboligical tests were carried out under the same conditions. A high-speed pin-on-disc tribometer which is shown in Figure 6-2 was used to do the tribology test.



Figure 6-2. High speed pin-on-disc tribometer

Test results showed the COF Stribeck curve was formed during the high-speed tribology test. The COF of EJPO coating dropped much faster and earlier than PTWA coating when the sliding speed increased. At hydrodynamic lubrication EJPO coating had 50% lower COF than PTWA coating. The lowest COF of EJPO coating was 0.025, while the lowest COF of PTWA coating was 0.05 at hydrodynamic lubrication. The test results are shown in Figure 6-3.



Figure 6-3. COF comparison between EJPO and PTWA coatings

As shown in Figure 6-3, the EJPO coating had much lower COF than PTWA coating even with the higher surface roughness at hydrodynamic lubrication. Besides, all the EJPO coatings with different roughness had higher COF drop rate than PTWA coating. Thus, during cylinder bore honing process, the EJPO coating roughness lower than 1.0 um would be good enough to have a better tribological property than PTWA coating.

Coating the surface with a higher oil retention volume would help to reduce the COF. In this work, the porosity of EJPO coating was increased during EJPO coating process to increase the oil retention volume. The oil retention volumes of EJPO and PTWA coatings were measured and shown in Table 6-2.

Coating	Ra(um)	Rvk(um)	Mr2(%)	Vo(um3/um2)
	1.0	2.7	72	0.38
EIDO	0.8	2.1	71.5	0.31
EJPO	0.5	1.8	86.7	0.21
	0.3	1.6	83.7	0.13
PTWA	0.3	1.4	86	0.098

Table 6-2. Oil retention volume of EJPO and PTWA coating

As shown in Table 6-2, all the EJPO coatings with different roughness had higher oil retention volume than the PTWA coating, and the high oil retention volume helped to build up the oil film between piston ring and cylinder wall to reduce the COF.

One piece of honed EJPO coated cylinder bore and a piece of honed PTWA coated cylinder bore were used to do the SEM analysis. The coating surface morphology of two kinds of coatings was investigated. The SEM images of the coating surface are shown in Figure 6-4.



Figure 6-4. Surface morphology of the honed EJPO and PTWA coatings

As shown in Figure 6-4, EJPO coating had much higher porosity than PTWA coating. The surface roughness parameters in Table 6-2 were used to calculate the oil retention volume using the following formula:

$$V_0 = R_{vk} (100 - M_{r2})/200$$

Where V_0 is the oil retention parameter ($\mu m^3 / \mu m^2$), R_{pk} is the proportion of profile valleys below core roughness, and M_{r2} is the lower intersection point of the core roughness datum line with bearing ratio curve. The terminology and parameters are based on ASME B46.1-2009.

EJPO:
$$V_o = (100-75) \times 1.6/200 = 0.20 \ \mu m^3 / \mu m^2$$

PTWA: $V_o = (100-86) \times 1.4/200 = 0.098 \ \mu m^3 / \mu m^2$

EJPO coating had a much high oil retention volume, which was beneficial to reduce the engine friction loss and enhance engine performance.

6.1.4 Thermal swing function

In chapter 2, the literature review indicated that both EJPO and PTWA coatings had temperature swing function. The coating thickness affects the thermal swing function, the thicker coating has better temperature swing function, but the residual temperature in the combustion chamber is also high which is not desired, since the high residual temperature will reduce volume efficiency and also will heat up the intake air temperature and introduce knocks. The simulation showed EJPO coating had better temperature swing function and lower residual temperature with a thickness between 20 um and 30 um. In this way, the EJPO coating could help to reduce heat loss to cylinder wall without heating up the intake air temperature and enhance engine thermal efficiency.

In this work, EJPO coating was honed to $20 \sim 30$ um thick to have a better thermal swing function with a lower residual heat.

6.1.5 Challenges

Compared to the 2.0 L I4 engine, EJPO coating and testing the 5.0 L V8 engine is challenging. The combustion temperature, pressure, peak engine speed and cylinder head torque are much higher than the I4 engine. The high combustion temperature and the high cylinder head torque will increase the aluminum cylinder bore distortion much more. To reduce this cylinder bore distortion or make the coating works with the distortion is challenging. The comparison of test conditions between I4 and V8 is shown in Table 6-3.

Displacement (L)	Speed (rpm)	No fire compression (psi)	Exhaust Temp (F)	Head bolt torque
2.0	6500	190	1400	35Nm+225degre e
5.0	7400	315	1600	75Nm+240degre e
Increment	13.80%	65.80%	14.30%	214%

Table 6-3. Engine parameters between I4 and V8 engine

As shown in Table 6-3, the 5.0 L cylinder head bolt torque is much higher. The EJPO coating is very thin and has no liner support, the higher cylinder head torque together with the higher combustion temperature will cause huge cylinder bore distortion. A better honing process to improve cylinder bore roundness and straightness or a stronger coating can help to reduce the EJPO coating failure in high displacement engine.

6.1.6 Conclusions

The weight of the EJPO coated and PTWA coated 5.0 L engine blocks were measured and compared. PTWA coating thickness was around 220 ums and EJPO coating thickness was around 30 ums. The thinner coating thickness helped the EJPO coated engine block reduce 1.8 pounds' weight, which was 2% weight reduction. Weight reduction can help to reduce the vehicle rolling resistance and increase fuel efficiency.

Compared with PTWA coating process, the EJPO coating process can save cost around 9%.

The COF of EJPO coating and PTWA coating were tested and compared and EJPO coating had much higher COF drop rate when speed increased and had 50% lower COF at hydrodynamic lubrication with surface roughness lower than 1.0 um, compared PTWA coating with a 0.3 um surface roughness which is production surface roughness. The oil retention volumes of both coatings were calculated and compared, EJPO coating had higher oil retention volume than PTWA coating with all the surface roughness lower than 1.0 um. After the EJPO coated cylinder bore honed, the coating would have better tribological properties when surface roughness was lower than 1.0 um. Lower COF can help to reduce the engine friction loss and thereby enhance engine performance.

High combustion temperature, high compression and high cylinder head bolt torque can increase the cylinder bore distortion for 5.0 L engine block.

6.2 EJPO coating deposition on 5.0 L engine cylinder bore and performance test6.2.1 EJPO coating and honing process for 5.0 L engine block

The #1 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine block was fabricated with coating on cylinder bores. The aluminum cylinder bores were honed to 40 um bigger to make room for the coating growth. Coarser stones were used to hone to aluminum bore bigger and 800 Grit stone was used to finish the bore surface. The honed aluminum engine block is shown in Figure 6-5.



Figure 6-5. Oversize honed aluminum engine block

After honing, the aluminum engine block was washed, dried and installed on the EJPO coating machine for EJPO treatment. The EJPO coating process took 20 minutes and coating thickness grew up to 50 ums with a higher current density. The original coating roughness was around 3.8 um. Thickness meter and surface profile meter were used to

check the coating uniformity, the EJPO coating thickness and roughness were similar all over the bore. The EJPO coated #1 engine block is shown in Figure 6-6.



Figure 6-6. EJPO coated #1 5.0 L engine block

Diamond stones were used to hone the #1 EJPO coated 5.0L engine block. There were two steps for honing the EJPO coated cylinder bore. First, a rough honing stone was used to remove the top loose coating by 10 um. Second, a fine honing was used to do the mirror finish honing. After the honing, the coating thickness was around 30 um and the cylinder bore size was honed to standard size, which made the piston to bore clearance was around 30 um. In this honing process, the two parameters used to control the honing process were coating thickness and coating roughness. The coating thickness must be around 30 um and the coating surface roughness had to be lower than 1.0 um and the Rvk should be less than 2.0 um.

The honing parameters and measurements are shown in Table 6-4.

Cylinder	cyl1	cyl2	cyl3	cyl4	cyl5	cyl6	cyl7	cyl8
Thickness(um)	26	28	27	30	32	28	26	29
Ra(um)	0.69	0.62	0.78	0.86	0.89	0.77	0.87	0.79
Rvk(um)	1.6	1.8	1.5	1.7	1.8	1.4	1.5	1.6
Mr2(%)	81	77	75	78	82	75	75	76
Bore size(mm)	93.017	93.019	93.018	93.016	93.011	93.015	93.018	93.018
Piston size(mm)	92.976	92.986	92.986	92.986	92.981	92.984	92.987	92.987
Clearance(mm)	0.031	0.033	0.032	0.030	0.030	0.031	0.031	0.031

Table 6-4. #1 EJPO coated engine honing parameters and measurements

The surface profiles of the honed #1 EJPO coated and PTWA coated cylinder bores are shown in Figure 6-7.



Figure 6-7. Surface profiles of the honed #1 EJPO coated and PTWA coated cylinder

bore

As shown in Figure 6-7, the honed EJPO coated bore had a higher roughness with more deep pores and the honed PTWA coated bore had a lower roughness with less deep pores. This surface difference would make a big difference on the oil retention volume of the cylinder bore. In order to get a higher oil retention volume to reduce friction, the porosity of EJPO coating was increased during the EJPO coating process. The higher porosity would increase the surface roughness but would get higher oil retention volume with desired Rvk.

6.2.2 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine performance test

After the measurements were completed, the #1 EJPO coated engine was assembled to run 8 hours Break-in test and Power performance test. During the tests, no parameters were fixed like the spark timing, air fuel ratio, and fuel flow, the engine was running by its own control.

The power test data were used to do the engine performance comparison between EJPO coated engine and PTWA coated engine. Power data showed EJPO coated engine made higher torque and power at speeds lower than 3000 rpm, and lower output at higher speeds. The selected power test data are shown as follows:



Figure 6-8. Corrected torque comparison between #1 EJPO and PTWA engines

Speed(rpm)	EJPO C-Torque (lb-ft)	PTWA C-Torque (lb-ft)	Increment (%)
1000	286	277	3.38
1500	321	287	11.95
2000	349	323	8.14
2500	354	347	1.88
2750	359	353	1.67
3000	358	353	1.53
3500	370	377	-1.80
4000	395	398	-0.78
4250	401	401	0.00
4500	415	416	-0.34
4750	412	416	-0.77
5000	400	405	-1.11
5500	395	396	-0.23
6000	378	382	-1.19

Table 6-5. Corrected torque data from #1 EJPO and PTWA engines

Speed(rpm)	EJPO C-Torque (lb-ft)	PTWA C-Torque (lb-ft)	Increment (%)
6500	357	362	-1.51
6750	346	351	-1.49
7000	333	340	-2.11
7250	320	329	-2.64
7400	307	314	-2.19

EJPO coated engine made higher torque at speeds lower than the 3000 rpm, the highest output enhancement was 11.95% at 1500 rpm. After 3000 rpm, EJPO coated engine made less torque than PTWA coated engine, and the highest output decrement was 2.64% at 7250 rpm.



Figure 6-9. Corrected power comparison between #1 EJPO and PTWA engines

Speed(rpm)	EJPO C-Power (HP)	PTWA C-Power (HP)	Increment (%)
1000	54	53	3.19
1500	92	82	12.06
2000	133	123	8.25
2500	169	165	1.87
2750	188	185	1.64
3000	205	202	1.48
3500	247	251	-1.84
4000	301	303	-0.84
4250	324	324	-0.05
4500	355	357	-0.40
4750	373	376	-0.82
5000	381	385	-1.15
5500	414	415	-0.27
6000	432	437	-1.22
6500	442	449	-1.54
6750	445	451	-1.52
7000	444	454	-2.14
7250	442	454	-2.68
7400	433	443	-2.23

Table 6-6. Corrected power data from #1 EJPO and PTWA engines

The power output trend was similar to the torque output, since the power was calculated using the torque by the equation of Power = Torque x RPM / 5252. The highest power enhancement was 12.06% at 1500 rpm, and the highest power decrement was 2.68% at 7250 rpm.



Figure 6-10. Fuel flow comparison between #1EJPO and PTWA engines

Speed(rpm)	EJPO Fuelflow (lb/h)	PTWA Fuelflow (lb/h)	Increment (%)
1000	54	53	3.19
1500	92	82	12.06
2000	133	123	8.25
2500	169	165	1.87
2750	188	185	1.64
3000	205	202	1.48
3500	247	251	-1.84
4000	301	303	-0.84
4250	324	324	-0.05
4500	355	357	-0.40
4750	373	376	-0.82
5000	381	385	-1.15
5500	414	415	-0.27

Table 6-7. Fuel flow data from #1EJPO and PTWA engines

Speed(rpm)	EJPO Fuelflow (lb/h)	PTWA Fuelflow (lb/h)	Increment (%)
6000	432	437	-1.22
6500	442	449	-1.54
6750	445	451	-1.52
7000	444	454	-2.14
7250	442	454	-2.68
7400	433	443	-2.23

Fuel flow data showed the EJPO coated engine had higher fuel consumption than PTWA engine at speeds lower than 1500 rpm, and other speeds had lower fuel consumption.

Fuel injection is a main factor that affects the engine output. In this work, the fuel injection or fuel flow was not fixed, and the engine powertrain control module (PCM) controlled it. PCM monitored the engine combustion conditions and made the adjustment.



Figure 6-11. Left exhaust temperature comparison between #1 EJPO and PTWA coated

engines



Figure 6-12. Right exhaust temperature comparison between #1 EJPO and PTWA coated

engines



Figure 6-13. Spark timing comparison between #1 EJPO and PTWA coated engines



Figure 6-14. Engine knockl comparison between #1 EJPO and PTWA coated engines

During the power test, there was no knock happened. EJPO coated engine had lower exhaust temperature than PTWA coated engine and had retarded spark timing at all speeds. The PCM and knock sensor detected the potential knock and retarded the sparking timing to avoid the engine knocks. The retarded spark timing would reduce the engine power output. In this power test, even with retarded spark timing, the EJPO coated engine still made higher power at speeds lower than 3000 rpm. This higher power output should be gained from the lower friction and better thermal management. The engine friction was tested by dynamometer motoring friction test and the thermal efficiency was calculated based on the fuel flow and power output.

After the Power test, the dynamometer motoring friction test was performed on both EJPO coated and PTWA coated engines. This friction test used the dynamometer to motor the unfired engine and measure the resistant torque, the more negative the torque

was, the higher friction the engine had. The measured dynamometer motoring torque and the comparison plot are shown in Figure 6-15 and Table 6-8.



Figure 6-15. Results of the dynamometer motoring friction test

Table 6-8. Dynamometer motoring friction torque from #1 EJPO and PTWA coated engines

Speed(rpm)	EJPO friction torque (ft-lb)	PTWA friction torque (ft-lb)	Increment (%)
7400	-121.65	-116.39	-4.51
7250	-117.65	-111.70	-5.33
7000	-109.67	-105.62	-3.83
6750	-101.87	-99.26	-2.63
6500	-94.04	-91.96	-2.26
6000	-85.09	-84.29	-0.95
5500	-77.23	-73.02	-5.77
	EJPO friction	PTWA friction	
------------	---------------	---------------	---------------
Speed(rpm)	torque	torque	Increment (%)
	(ft-lb)	(ft-lb)	
5000	-65.82	-60.35	-9.05
4750	-59.43	-58.00	-2.47
4500	-54.82	-54.50	-0.59
4250	-49.57	-50.05	0.96
4000	-44.73	-46.47	3.74
3500	-38.64	-39.79	2.88
3000	-34.34	-35.60	3.54
2750	-32.43	-33.67	3.69
2500	-29.97	-31.31	4.29
2000	-26.28	-27.50	4.42
1500	-23.85	-25.03	4.70
1000	-24.26	-25.21	3.78

As shown in Figure 6-15 and Table 6-8, at speeds lower than 4500 rpm, the EJPO coated engine had less motoring torque, which meant the EJPO coated engine had less friction at those speeds. Speed higher than 4500 rpm, the EJPO coated engine had higher friction than PTWA coated engine. Compared with the PTWA coated engine, the highest friction reduction was gained at 1500 rpm, which was 4.70%.

The engine's thermal efficiency was also calculated based on fuel consumption and power output. It was calculated using the following formulas:

Engine thermal efficiency = Power (KW) / Input fuel energy (KW)

Input fuel energy = Fuel flow $(g/s) \times LHV (KJ/g)$

(In this work, LHV=42.9 kJ/g)

The calculated thermal efficiencies of EJPO and PTWA coated engines are shown in Table 6-9.

Table 6-9. The thermal efficiency calculation and comparison between #1 EJPO and

PTWA coated engines

		EJPO		PTWA			
Speed (rpm)	Power (kw)	Fuelflow (g/s)	Thermal efficiency (%)	Power (kw)	Fuelflow (g/s)	Thermal efficiency (%)	Increment (%)
1000	41	3.44	27.94	39	3.44	26.65	3.12
1500	68	5.05	31.58	61	5.04	28.22	11.91
2000	99	7.33	31.55	92	7.34	29.12	8.34
2500	126	9.33	31.40	123	9.47	30.35	3.46
2750	140	10.28	31.77	138	10.43	30.81	3.12
3000	153	11.26	31.60	150	11.38	30.81	2.57
3500	184	13.62	31.47	187	13.98	31.25	0.71
4000	224	16.74	31.23	226	17.09	30.84	1.26
4250	242	18.38	30.65	242	18.51	30.45	0.64
4500	265	19.97	30.93	266	20.58	30.13	2.65
4750	278	21.01	30.86	280	21.60	30.27	1.96
5000	284	21.50	30.79	287	22.17	30.22	1.92
5500	309	24.24	29.69	310	24.82	29.07	2.14
6000	322	26.79	28.00	326	27.42	27.69	1.11
6500	329	29.09	26.39	334	29.99	26.00	1.49
6750	331	30.87	25.03	337	31.93	24.58	1.86
7000	331	32.51	23.74	338	33.72	23.40	1.48
7250	330	33.90	22.66	339	35.02	22.54	0.53
7400	323	34.69	21.70	330	35.62	21.62	0.40

As shown in Table 6-9, the EJPO coated engine had higher thermal efficiency through all the speeds. The highest thermal efficiency increment was gained at 1500 rpm, which was 11.91%.

The engine friction test showed the EJPO coated engine had less friction at speeds lower than 4500 rpm, and the thermal efficiency analysis showed the EJPO coated engine had higher thermal efficiency at all speeds. However, the EJPO coated engine only had higher power output at speeds lower than 3000 rpm. The internal combustion was very complicated and combined components friction, combustion temperature, thermal efficiency, spark timing and other factors, the EJPO coated engine only made higher power output at speeds lower than 3000 rpm.

After the engine tests were completed, the EJPO coated engine was removed from the test cell and torn down to check the coating conditions. The tested cylinder bore pictures are shown in Figure 6-16.



Figure 6-16. #1 EJPO coated cylinder bore after Break-in and Power tests

The tear down pictures showed the EJPO coated cylinder bores were shinning and smooth, no scuffs were on the coating. The coating thickness, surface roughness and piston to bore clearance worked for the 5.0 L engine, and these parameters would be used as reference for the future 5.0 L engine block coating and honing process.

The tear down investigation also found there were some minor wear signs on the camshaft journal and camshaft bore surface. There was no bearing between the camshaft journal and camshaft bore. The camshaft and camshaft bore are shown in Figure 6-17.



Figure 6-17. Camshaft and camshaft bore after Break-in and Power test

As shown in Figure 6-17, both camshaft journal and camshaft bore had minor wear signs. These minor wears might increase the friction between camshaft and camshaft bore. However, the PTWA coated engine also had these minor wears and never caused any problem or failure. For research purpose EJPO coating can be applied on the camshaft bore surface to increase the surface hardness and reduce wear and friction. A special mask and spray head were designed and manufactured for the camshaft bore EJPO coating process. The EJPO coated camshaft bore would be tested on #2 EJPO coated engine.

6.2.3 Conclusions

The EJPO coated engine passed 8 hours dynamometer Break-in test and Power test. During the Power test, EJPO coated engine had better performance at speeds lower than 3000 rpm. The highest performance enhancement was at 1500 rpm, which was 11.95%.

The engine friction was tested by using the dynamometer motored the unfired engine. The results of the engine friction test showed EJPO coated engine had less friction at speeds lower than 4500 rpm compared with PTWA coated engine, the highest friction reduction was at 1500 rpm, which was 4.70%.

The engine thermal efficiency was calculated by using fuel consumption and power output, the calculation showed EJPO coated engine had higher thermal efficiency at overall speeds compared with PTWA coated engine. The highest thermal efficiency increment was at 1500 rpm, which was 11.91%.

During the Power test, the knock sensors and the PCM controlled the engine and retarded the spark timing at all speeds to avoid the engine knocks. The retarded spark timing would reduce the engine power output, but the lower coating friction and the better temperature swing property helped EJPO coated engine made higher power output at speeds lower than 3000 rpm. This engine performance enhancement is good for the vehicle daily drive which engine speed is lower than 3000 rpm most of the time.

After the tests, some minor wears were found on the camshaft bores and camshaft journals, the aluminum camshaft bores could be EJPO coated to reduce wear and friction.

6.3 Performance test on the fully coated combustion chambers of a 5.0 L engine

The #2 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine block was fabricated with EJPO coating on cylinder bores, camshaft bores, piston crown and cylinder head dome. The EJPO coatings on the cylinder bore and camshaft bore were used to reduce friction, and the EJPO coatings on the piston crown and cylinder head dome were used to enhance the engine thermal efficiency. The #2 EJPO coated engine was used to run Power performance test and compared with PTWA coated engine and #1 EJPO coated engine.

6.3.1 Performance comparison between EJPO and PTWA coated engines

The #2 5.0 L engine block was coated and honed same as #1 EJPO coated engine block. The coating thickness was around 30 um, the piston to bore clearance was around 30 um, coating surface roughness was around 0.8 um. The honing results are shown in Table 6-10.

Cylinder	cyl1	cyl2	cyl3	cyl4	cyl5	cyl6	cyl7	cyl8
Thickness(um)	29	30	27	30	28	28	27	28
Ra(um)	0.71	0.72	0.76	0.77	0.81	0.79	0.80	0.72
Rvk(um)	1.6	1.8	1.9	1.9	2.0	2.0	2.1	1.7
Bore size(mm)	93.020	93.020	93.020	93.019	93.015	93.019	93.019	93.023
Piston size(mm)	92.988	92.989	92.980	92.987	92.984	92.986	92.988	92.983
Clearance(mm)	0.032	0.031	0.030	0.032	0.031	0.033	0.031	0.030

Table 6-10. #2 EJPO coated engine block honing results

The honed EJPO coated engine block, and other EJPO coated components are shown in Figure 6-18.



Figure 6-18. Honed EJPO coated engine block and EJPO coated camshaft bore, cylinder

head dome, and piston crown

The #2 EJPO coated engine was assembled with cylinder bore coating, camshaft bore coating, piston crown coating and cylinder head dome coating, and scheduled to run dynamometer Break-in test and Power performance test. The Power test data was used for engine performance analysis compared with PTWA coated engine. Some of the Power comparison data are shown in the following figures and tables.



Figure 6-19. Corrected torque comparison between #2 EJPO and PTWA engines

Table 6-11. Corrected torque data from #2 EJPO and PTWA engines

Speed(rpm)	EJPO C-Torque (lb-ft)	PTWA C-Torque (lb-ft)	Increment (%)
1000	286	277	3.44
1500	322	287	12.33
2000	345	323	6.76
2500	352	347	1.38
2750	359	353	1.62
3000	362	353	2.53
3500	376	377	-0.29
4000	405	398	1.65

Speed(rpm)	EJPO C-Torque (lb-ft)	PTWA C-Torque (lb-ft)	Increment (%)	
4250	413	401	3.11	
4500	427	416	2.53	
4750	425	416	2.13	
5000	410	405	1.38	
5500	410	396	3.43	
6000	391	382	2.23	
6500	372	362	2.69	
6750	361	351	2.85	
7000	349	340	2.64	
7250	336	329	2.13	
7400	326	314	3.82	

EJPO coated engine made higher torque at all speeds except at 3500 rpm where EJPO coated engine made 0.29% lower torque than PTWA coated engine. The highest torque enhancement was 12.33% at 1500 rpm.



Figure 6-20.Corrected power comparison between #2 EJPO and PTWA engines

Speed(rpm)	EJPO C-Power (HP)	PTWA C-Power (HP)	Increment (%)
1000	55	53	3.57
1500	92	82	12.35
2000	131	123	6.75
2500	168	165	1.33
2750	188	185	1.60
3000	207	202	2.49
3500	250	251	-0.36
4000	308	303	1.56
4250	334	324	3.07
4500	366	357	2.48
4750	384	376	2.08
5000	391	385	1.34
5500	429	415	3.39
6000	446	437	2.21
6500	460	449	2.65
6750	461	451	2.22
7000	462	454	1.76
7250	460	454	1.32
7400	456	443	2.93

Table 6-12. Corrected power data from #2 EJPO and PTWA engines

The power output of the EJPO coated engine was similar to torque, and the highest power enhancement was 12.35% at 1500 rpm.



Figure 6-21. Fuel flow comparison between #2 EJPO and PTWA engines

Speed(rpm)	EJPO Fuel flow (lb/h)	PTWA Fuel flow (lb/h)	Increment (%)	
1000	28.087	27.288	2.92	
1500	41.670	40.002	4.17	
2000	58.962	58.257	1.21	
2500	73.837	75.183	-1.79	
2750	81.899	82.809	-1.10	
3000	89.871	90.298	-0.47	
3500	109.704	110.946	-1.12	
4000	135.292	135.654	-0.27	
4250	149.425	146.907	1.71	
4500	164.567	163.369	0.73	
4750	172.631	171.415	0.71	
5000	178.728	175.963	1.57	
5500	199.786	197.008	1.41	

Table 6-13. Fuel flow data from #2 EJPO and PTWA engines

Speed(rpm)	EJPO Fuel flow (lb/h)	PTWA Fuel flow (lb/h)	Increment (%)
6000	219.157	217.630	0.70
6500	238.362	237.991	0.16
6750	253.378	253.378	0.00
7000	265.596	267.596	-0.75
7250	276.923	277.923	-0.36
7400	280.689	282.689	-0.71

Fuel flow data showed the #2 EJPO coated engine had similar fuel consumption with PTWA engine, and higher fuel flow at speeds lower than 2000 rpm, and speeds between 4250 rpm and 6500 rpm. Fuel flow affected power output and higher fuel flow would make higher power output. In this work, fuel flow was not fixed, and it was adjusted by the engine PCM itself.



Figure 6-22. Left exhaust temperature comparison between #2 EJPO and PTWA engines



Figure 6-23. Right exhaust temperature comparison between #2 EJPO and PTWA

engines

Compared with PTWA coated engine, EJPO coated engine had lower exhaust temperatures on both sides. The heat in the exhaust gas is a waste of energy, and the lower exhaust heat waste is desired to get a higher thermal efficiency.



Figure 6-24. Spark timing comparison between #2 EJPO and PTWA engines



Figure 6-25. Engine knock comparison between #2 EJPO and PTWA engines

Similar to #1 EJPO coated engine, there was no engine knock happened during the Power test, and spark timing was retarded at all speeds. Retarded sparking timing helped to reduce the knock, but also reduced the engine power output theoretically.

After the Power test, the engine friction test was carried out on the dynamometer by motoring the unfired engine. The more negative the torque was, the higher friction the engine had. The measured dynamometer motoring torque and the comparison plot are shown in Figure 6-26 and Table 6-14.



Figure 6-26. Results of the dynamometer motoring friction test

Table 6-14.	Dynamometer	motoring	friction	torque	from	#2	EJPO	and	PTWA	coated
engines										

Speed(rpm)	EJPO motoring torque (ft-lb)	PTWA motoring torque (ft-lb)	Increment (%)
7400	-120.05	-116.39	-3.14
7250	-116.55	-111.70	-4.34
7000	-109.00	-105.62	-3.20
6750	-101.00	-99.26	-1.76
6500	-94.00	-91.96	-2.22
6000	-84.59	-84.29	-0.36
5500	-75.23	-73.02	-3.03
5000	-63.82	-60.35	-5.74
4750	-59.03	-58.00	-1.78
4500	-54.82	-54.50	-0.59
4250	-49.57	-50.05	0.96
4000	-44.03	-46.47	5.24
3500	-38.64	-39.79	2.88

Speed(rpm)	EJPO motoring torque (ft-lb)	PTWA motoring torque (ft-lb)	Increment (%)
3000	-33.54	-35.60	5.79
2750	-31.23	-33.67	7.25
2500	-29.07	-31.31	7.17
2000	-26.02	-27.50	5.37
1500	-23.35	-25.03	6.70
1000	-24.06	-25.21	4.57

As shown in Figure 6-26 and Table 6-14, #2 EJPO coated engine had lower friction at speeds lower than 4250 rpm and had higher friction at other speeds. The highest friction reduction was 7.25% at 2750 rpm. Compared with #1 EJPO coated engine, #2 EJPO coated engine had lower friction.

Thermal efficiency was also calculated using the same method as #1 EJPO coated engine. The thermal efficiency of #2 EJPO is shown in Table 6-15.

	EJPO						
Speed (rpm)	Power (kw)	Fuelflow (g/s)	Thermal efficiency (%)	Power (kw)	Fuelflow (g/s)	Thermal efficiency (%)	Increment (%)
1000	40.72	3.54	26.82	39.32	3.44	26.65	0.63
1500	68.55	5.06	31.59	61.01	5.04	28.22	11.94
2000	97.98	7.33	31.13	91.70	7.34	29.12	6.89
2500	125.0	9.27	31.45	123.4	9.47	30.35	3.59
2750	140.1	10.28	31.77	137.9	10.43	30.81	3.10

Table 6-15. Thermal efficiency of the #2 EJPO coated engine

	EJPO			PTWA			
Speed (rpm)	Power (kw)	Fuelflow (g/s)	Thermal efficiency (%)	Power (kw)	Fuelflow (g/s)	Thermal efficiency (%)	Increment (%)
3000	154.1	11.32	31.73	150.4	11.38	30.81	2.98
3500	186.7	13.82	31.49	187.4	13.98	31.25	0.76
4000	229.7	17.05	31.41	226.2	17.09	30.84	1.83
4250	249.3	18.83	30.86	241.8	18.51	30.45	1.33
4500	272.7	20.74	30.65	266.1	20.58	30.13	1.73
4750	286.3	21.75	30.68	280.5	21.60	30.27	1.36
5000	291.2	22.02	30.84	287.4	22.17	30.22	2.06
5500	320.1	25.12	29.70	309.6	24.82	29.07	2.16
6000	332.9	27.61	28.10	325.8	27.42	27.69	1.49
6500	343.3	30.03	26.65	334.5	29.99	26.00	2.49
6750	344.1	31.93	25.12	336.6	31.93	24.58	2.22
7000	344.4	33.46	23.99	338.4	33.72	23.40	2.53
7250	343.1	34.89	22.92	338.6	35.02	22.54	1.69
7400	340.0	35.37	22.41	330.3	35.62	21.62	3.67

#2 EJPO coated engine had higher thermal efficiency than PTWA coated engine, especially at 1500 rpm which was 11.94% higher than PTWA coated engine. #2 EJPO coated engine had higher power at high speeds and higher thermal efficiency.

6.3.2 Performance comparison between EJPO coated engines

The Power test data were compared between #1 and #2 EJPO coated engine and shown in the following figures and table.



Figure 6-27. Torque comparison between #1 and #2 EJPO coated engines

As shown in Figure 6-27, the #2 EJPO coated engine made higher torque at higher speeds, the highest toque increment was 6.15% at 7400 rpm.



Figure 6-28. Power comparison between #1 and #2 EJPO coated engines

Similar to torque, the #2 EJPO coated engine had 5.28% power increment at 7400 rpm.



Figure 6-29. Engine friction comparison between #1 and #2 EJPO coated engines

As shown in Figure 6-29, the #2 EJPO coated engine had lower friction at most of all the speeds, the highest friction reduction was 3.70% at 6500 rpm.

The enhancement of torque, power, friction and thermal efficiency of # 2 EJPO coated engine are shown in Table 6-16.

Table 6-16. Torque, power, friction and thermal efficiency increment of #2 EJPO coated engine compared with #1 EJPO coated engines

	Power	Torque	Friction	Thermal efficiency
Speed(rpm)	increment	increment	reduction	increment
	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
1000	0.37	0.05	1.32	-2.41
1500	0.27	0.34	0.93	0.02
2000	-1.39	-1.27	0.61	-1.34
2500	-0.53	-0.49	0.85	0.13

	Power	Torque	Friction	Thermal efficiency
Speed(rpm)	increment	increment	reduction	increment
	(%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
2750	-0.03	-0.04	0.04	-0.04
3000	1	0.99	0.59	0.40
3500	1.5	1.54	2.59	0.05
4000	2.41	2.45	3.04	0.57
4250	3.12	3.12	0.67	0.69
4500	2.89	2.88	-0.01	-0.89
4750	2.93	2.92	-0.01	-0.59
5000	2.52	2.53	1.56	0.14
5500	3.67	3.67	0.00	0.01
6000	3.46	3.46	2.33	0.38
6500	4.25	4.26	3.70	0.98
6750	3.79	4.40	3.00	0.35
7000	3.99	4.86	0.99	1.04
7250	4.11	4.90	2.10	1.15
7400	5.28	6.15	0.82	3.26

The #2 EJPO coated engine made higher power and torque, lower friction and higher efficiency at most speeds. Camshaft bore coating helped to reduce friction. Piston and cylinder dome coating helped to increase thermal efficiency.

After all the tests were completed, the #2 EJPO coated engine was torn down, the tear down pictures are shown in Figure 6-30.



Figure 6-30. #2 EJPO coated engine tear down pictures after test

The tear down pictures showed the #2 EJPO coated cylinder bores were smooth and intact, the camshaft bore coatings were smooth and intact, the wear on the camshaft was reduced, the EJPO coatings on the piston crown and cylinder head domes were intact.

6.3.3 Conclusions

In conclusion, EJPO coating was applied on cylinder bore, camshaft bore, piston crown, and cylinder head dome to reduce friction and increase thermal efficiency for the #2

engine. The #2 EJPO coated engine passed 8 hours' Break-in and Power tests. The Power test data was compared with PTWA coated engine and the #1 EJPO coated engine.

Compared with PTWA coated engine, the #2 EJPO coated engine made higher performance at all speeds, especially higher at speeds lower than 3000 rpm. The highest torque increment was 12.33% at 1500 rpm.

Compared with #1 EJPO coated engine, the #2 EJPO coated engine made higher performance at speeds higher than 3000 rpm. The highest power increment was 5.28% at 7400 rpm. The EJPO coating on the camshaft bore could help to reduce the friction more and the EJPO coating on the piston crown and cylinder head dome could help to increase the engine thermal efficiency more.

The #2 EJPO coated engine tear down analysis showed all the coatings were good and intact after test, the coating fabrication and honing processes worked for 5.0 L engine.

References

Walton, Charles F., Coating of Castings. Metals Handbook 9th Ed. Vol. 15 – Castings.
Pp. 563.

2. Ford, Matthew, Fisher, Matthew. "Method for Coating Combustion Engine Cylinders

by Plasma Transferred Wire Arc Thermal Spray", MSE 121, 4/30/2010.

7. Chapter 7 Piston temperature test for EJPO coated piston

7.1 Temperature plugs instrumenting

The #2 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine test data showed the engine made higher performance at all speeds during the Power test compared with the #1 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine. The EJPO coated components for #1 and #2 engines were different. The #1 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine had coating only on wall of the cylinder bore, and the #2 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine had coating on wall of cylinder bore, camshaft bore, piston crown, and cylinder head dome. The EJPO coated locations of the #1 and #2 5.0 L engine are shown in Table 7-1. The EJPO coated parts are shown in Figure 7-1.



Figure 7-1. EJPO coated parts on #1 and #2 5.0 L engines

Table 7-1. EJPO coating application location on #1 and #2 EJPO coated engines

Coating location	Cylinder bore	Camshaft bore	Piston crown	Cylinder dome
#1 EJPO engine	Yes	No	No	No
#2 EJPO engine	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes

During the Power test, the #2 EJPO coated engine made higher power output at all speeds, especially at high speeds. The engine torque and power comparisons between #1 and #2 EJPO coated engine are shown in Figure 7-2 and Figure 7-3.



Figure 7-2. Torque comparison between #1 and #2 EJPO coated engines



Figure 7-3. Power comparison between #1 and #2 EJPO coated engines

The #2 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine made higher Power and Torque at most of the engine speeds compared with #1 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine, especially at high engine speeds. The engine friction comparison between #1 and #2 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine is shown in Figure 7-4.



Figure 7-4. Engine friction comparison between #1 and #2 EJPO coated engines

As shown in Figure 7-4, the #2 EJPO coated engine had lower friction at most of the speeds, the highest friction reduction was 3.70% at 6500 rpm. The higher engine performance of the #2 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine was enhanced by a lower friction from camshaft bore coating and higher thermal efficiency from EJPO coated piston and cylinder dome compared with #1 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine. EJPO coating has high hardness and low COF which can help to protect the aluminum camshaft bore and reduce friction. The tested camshaft bores with and without EJPO coating and camshafts are shown in Figure 7-5.



Figure 7-5. Tested camshaft bore and camshaft with and without EJPO coating

As shown in Figure 7-5, the surface condition of the camshaft bore, and camshaft was improved significantly and there were no scratches on camshaft bore and minor wear on camshaft. This improvement could help to reduce the friction and enhance engine performance.

Another factor helped to enhance the #2 engine performance was the higher engine thermal efficiency. In Chapter 3, the thermal barrier function of the EJPO coating was tested in the lab using the equipment designed and fabricated by Prof. Nie's group. The test result showed the EJPO coating could help to block heat and had thermal insulation function. However, the temperature fluctuation and combustion pressure of the engine combustion are quite different from the lab test condition, it is necessary to investigate the coating's thermal insulation property in the combustion environment.

In this work, the templugs instrumented 3.5 L engine pistons were available at that time and used to do the piston temperature test to test the thermal insulation of the EJPO coating on the piston crown.

Templug is a temperature sensitive steel screw and is used for measuring the maximum temperature in locations that are difficult to use traditional thermal couples. Usually, the templugs are used in the engine moving parts, turbine blades, and other moving components. The tested part can be any kind of material.

The templug can be installed at a location where temperature needs to be measured by drilling and tapping. The principle of the templug is thermal softening of the hardened steel. A master calibration curve was developed by Shell to determine the maximum temperature. The maximum temperature is determined by the time of exposure and the measured hardness [1].

The EJPO coating mask for the 3.5 L piston was designed and fabricated, and the 3.5 L piston crown was EJPO coated. Both EJPO coated and uncoated pistons were instrumented with templugs and installed in engine and tested. The EJPO coated piston and uncoated piston are shown in Figure 7-6.



Figure 7-6. EJPO coated piston and uncoated piston

The templugs were installed on four locations including piston top land, under crown, behind top groove, and above pin hole. The templug instrumented piston is shown in Figure 7-7. The instrumented pistons were installed in engine and tested in 3.5 L engine.



Figure 7-7. Templug instrumented piston

7.2 Piston temperature test and results

The EJPO coated and uncoated instrumented pistons were installed in the engine and ran 10 hours' constant speed and load engine test. After the test, the pistons were taken out and sent out for temperature analysis. The pistons were cut apart and templugs were removed to do hardness analysis. The dissected piston is shown in Figure 7-8. The measured and calculated temperatures including average and maximum at different locations are shown in Table 7-2. And the temperature plots are shown in Figure 7-9.



Figure 7-8. Dissected piston after test

	Uncoated	Coated	Uncoated	Coated			
Location	average	average	max	max			
Top land	282.0	282.0	287.0	287			
Under crown	270.2	268.7	287.5	285			
Behind top groove	255.3	246.0	277.0	264			
Above pin holes	251.5	250.5	255.5	255			

Table 7-2. Measured and calculated temperature at different locations



Uncoated vs. EJPO-coated piston crowns

Figure 7-9. Average and maximum temperature at different locations

As shown in Table 7-2 and Figure 7-9, the average and the maximum temperature of the EJPO coated piston were lower than the uncoated piston, especially under the crown and behind top groove locations. However, at the top land location the temperature was same, because there was a gap between the piston top land and the cylinder wall and the coating couldn't block the combustion heat to the top land. Other's locations' temperatures showed EJPO coating could block the heat from the combustion chamber to the piston. This thermal barrier function could help to reduce the heat loss from piston to engine oil, thereby could increase thermal efficiency.

The piston crown coating was also observed by using SEM after the piston temperature test. The SEM picture of the test piston coating is shown in Figure 7-10.



Figure 7-10. SEM image of the EJPO coating on piston crown

As shown in Figure 7-10, after the piston temperature test, the EJPO coating was still intact. The SEM image showed the EJPO coating had high porosity. This porous structure could help to increase the coating's thermal insulation property. The EJPO coating porosity can be controlled or modified during the coating process by changing the DC power parameters or electrolyte additives. To get better thermal insulation, a higher coating porosity is desired.

7.3 Conclusions

In conclusion, the EJPO coated engine with EJPO coated piston crown, EJPO coated cylinder dome, and EJPO coated camshaft bore had higher engine performance. The

engine friction was reduced by coated camshaft bore, and thermal efficiency was increased by applying coating on piston crown and cylinder dome. The piston templug temperature test showed the EJPO coating on the piston crown could help to reduce the heat loss from piston to the engine oil. The SEM investigation showed the EJPO coating had porous structure and could help to increase the coating's thermal insulation property. The thermal insulation functions of the piston coating could help to increase the engine thermal efficiency thereby enhancing engine performance.

References

1. TEMPPLUG user information guide, version 4, 2013.

8. Chapter 8 Low load durability test on a EJPO coated 5.0 L engine

The #3 EJPO coated engine was prepared to do a 100 hours low load durability test to test the coating and honing process effects on coating durability, and it was fabricated same as the #2 EJPO coated engine. The #3 EJPO coated engine had coating on cylinder bore, camshaft bore, piston crown and cylinder head dome. The cylinder bore coating thickness was 30 um, and the piston to bore clearance was 30 um. The coated parts are shown in Figure 8-1.



Figure 8-1. EJPO coated parts on the #3 EJPO coated engine

8.1 100 hours durability test on EJPO coated 5.0 L engine
The #3 EJPO coated engine was assembled and scheduled to run a 100 hours' low load durability test. The test was set up to run 2000 rpm with 50% pedal and 4000 rpm with 70% pedal. The purpose of this test was to test the durability or wear resistance of the EJPO coating in combustion conditions.

The #3 EJPO coated engine passed the 100 hours' low load durability test. Parts of the data are shown in Figure 8-2.



Figure 8-2. Torque and Power data from the 100 hours low load durability test

As shown in Figure 8-2, during the 100 hours' durability test the engine peak torque and peak power maintained at same level, which meant the engine was healthy and all the EJPO coated parts worked as they should be.

After the 100 hours' low load durability test was completed, the #3 EJPO coated engine was torn down to check the coating conditions. All the coatings were intact and smooth on cylinder bore, camshaft bore, cylinder head dome and piston crown. However, some black marks were found on some of the cylinder bores. The cylinder bores with black marks are shown in Figure 8-3.



Figure 8-3. Cylinder bores with black marks after test

As shown in Figure 8-3, the black marks were on the cylinder bridge area between cylinder bores. The black marks looked shining and smooth. The surface profile measurement also showed the black mark area was flat and no scratches or scuffs, and the surface roughness of the black mark area was smoother than the original roughness (Ra = 0.76 um). The surface profile of the black area is shown in Figure 8-4. Cross section and surface images were taken and shown in Figure 8-5.



Figure 8-4. Surface profile of the black mark area



Figure 8-5. Cross sectional and surface images of the cylinder bore piece with black mark, a: cut piece, b: cross section image, c: good coating surface image, d: coating with

black mark surface image

Figure 8-5-b showed the cross-section image of the coating, the coating was still bonding well with the aluminum and there were no cracks on the coating. Figure 8-5-c showed the normal light color coating. Figure 8-5-d showed the black marked coating surface, the image showed there was no scuff on the surface.

EDX analysis showed the main content of black stuff on the coating was carbon. The EDX result is shown in Figure 8-6.



Figure 8-6. EDX analysis of the black coating (main content of the black coating was carbon)

The black mark on the cylinder bore bridge area also indicated the piston to bore clearance of the area was smaller and the black carbon was built up from the burnt oil or overheated oil. There was no liner supporting the aluminum cylinder bore, the cylinder bore distortion should reduce the piston to bore clearance after cylinder head installed and torqued. A torque plate analysis was necessary to investigate the cylinder bore distortion.

8.2 Cylinder bore distortion investigation with torque plates

A pair of cylinder head torque plates were manufactured and used to study the cylinder bore distortion after cylinder head torque applied. The torque plates were made from the 5.0 L cylinder heads, the thickness of the torque plate was same as the cylinder head. After torque applied, the cylinder bore distortion should be same as the assembled engine. The torque plates are shown in Figure 8-7.



Figure 8-7. Cylinder torque plates made from 5.0 L cylinder heads

The EJPO coated engine block was honed to 93.020 mm without the torque plates, the cylinder bores were measured and showed round shape. After that, the torque plates were installed and torqued. The cylinder bores were measured with the torque plates, the

cylinder bore size and shape changed after the torque plated installed. The crankshaft direction of the cylinder bore shrunk and the piston skirt direction of the cylinder bore expanded. As shown in Figure 8-8, the crankshaft direction was defined as 0 and 180 degrees' direction, the piston skirt direction was defined as 90 and 270 degrees' direction. The cylinder bore measurement and distortion is shown in Figure 8-9.



Figure 8-8. Definition of the cylinder bore direction



Location	0	45	90	135	180	225	270	315
Bore size with out torque plate(mm)	93.02	93.021	93.021	93.02	93.02	93.021	93.021	93.021
Bore size after adding torque plate(mm)	93.017	93.019	93.029	93.019	93.016	93.019	93.03	93.02
Change(mm)	0.003	0.002	-0.008	0.001	0.004	0.002	-0.009	0.001
Percentage(%)	0.003225	0.00215	-0.0086	0.001075	0.0043	0.00215	-0.00968	0.001075

Figure 8-9. Cylinder bore size and the cylinder bore distortion after torque plate installed

As shown in Figure 8-9, the cylinder bore was round shape before the torque plate installed. After the torque plate installed, the cylinder bore size reduced at the crankshaft direction, which was the main cause of the reduction of the piston to bore clearance at crankshaft direction. The reduced clearance created more heat between piston ring and cylinder wall and black carbon marks were built up. To reduce the distortion affects, the cylinder bore had to be honed bigger at crankshaft direction, however, the bigger clearance at piston skirt direction would cause piston slap knocking. So, honing the cylinder bore bigger without the torque plate installed was not a good solution.

Another method to get a better cylinder bore roundness and clearance with cylinder head installed was honing the EJPO coated bore with cylinder head torque plates installed. In this work, the EJPO coated 5.0 L engine block was installed with cylinder head torque plates, torqued and honed to 93.020 mm. The honing process and the cylinder bore size measurements are shown in Figure 8-10 and 8-11.



Figure 8-10. Honing process with torque plates installed



Figure 8-11. Cylinder bore size measurements with and without torque plate

As shown in Figure 8-11, the cylinder bore roundness and bore size were good with the torque plate installed, which meant the cylinder bore would keep the same shape after the engine was assembled. The measurements also showed the bore distortion and size changed after removed the honing torque plate, the piston skirt direction shrunk, and the crankshaft direction expanded. This bore size change and distortion was opposite with the honing without torque plate. Thus, honing the cylinder bore with torque plate is the good solution to keep the cylinder bore round and straight after the engine is assembled.

In this work, the honing machine used two stones honing head, which was not good for soft material like aluminum to get a better roundness. After the pressure applied on the honing stone, the cylinder bore would change to oval shape especially at the cylinder bridge location as shown in Figure 8-12.



Figure 8-12. The cylinder bridge deformed when the honing pressure was applied using two stones honing head

The cylinder bridge part was pressed out, and the material would be removed less than other area, so the roundness of the bore was not good and the clearance at cylinder bridge area was smaller. A honing head with more honing stones (4 or more) is also a good choice to improve the honing results.

8.3 Conclusions

In conclusion, #3 EJPO coated 5.0 L engine passed 100 hours low load durability test, however some black marks were found at the cylinder bore bridge area. SEM and EDX analysis showed the black mark on the cylinder wall was mainly carbon. Torque plate

honing analysis showed the cylinder bore deformed after torque applied, the piston skirt direction expanded, and the cylinder bridge area shrunk. This cylinder bore distortion reduced the piston to bore clearance at the cylinder bridge area and produced black carbon mark on the tight area. A honing head with 4 or more honing stones or honing with torque plate could help to improve the honing results and reduce the cylinder bore distortion.

9. Chapter 9 Vehicle durability tests on a EJPO coated 5.0 L engines

9.1 Vehicle durability test on 5.0 L engine with thinner coating

The #4 EJPO coated engine was prepared for the vehicle durability test and treated same as the previous #3 EJPO coated engine blocks. The #4 EJPO coated engine had coating on cylinder bore, camshaft bore, piston crown and cylinder head dome. This EJPO coated engine block was honed to a thinner coating thickness with bigger piston to bore clearance. The cylinder bore coating thickness was around 20 um, and the piston to bore clearance was around 45 um. The coated block and honed bore are shown in Figure 9-1.



Figure 9-1. #4 EJPO coated and honed engine block

After the #4 EJPO coated engine block was honed, the cylinder bore size, coating thickness, coating roughness, and piston to bore clearance were measured and shown in Table 9-1.

Cylinder	Cyl1	Cyl2	Cyl3	Cyl4	Cyl5	Cyl6	Cyl7	Cyl8
Bore size(mm)	93.019	93.021	93.019	93.017	93.021	93.015	93.019	93.017
Piston size(mm	92.976	92.975	92.975	92.972	92.977	92.971	92.973	92.974
clearance(mm)	0.043	0.046	0.044	0.045	0.044	0.044	0.046	0.043
Thickness(um)	21	23	22	21	19	16	17	22
Roughness(um)	0.76	0.80	0.75	0.77	0.78	0.72	0.75	0.81

Table 9-1. #4 engine block measurements after honing

The #4 EJPO coated engine block was assembled and ran the 8 hours Break-in test. After the Break-in test, the cylinder bores were checked by using the cylinder bore scope. The cylinder bore coating images are shown in Figure 9-2.



Figure 9-2. Cylinder bore images after Break-in test

The cylinder bore scope images showed the coatings were intact and smooth. Then the #4 EJPO coated engine was sent to Detroit for vehicle durability test. The #4 EJPO coated

engine was installed on the Ford Mustang car and ran the vehicle durability test. The car ran the durability test for one and a half years at different test conditions, after accumulated certain mileage, the #4 EJPO coated engine was removed from the car and torn down. The cylinder bore coatings are shown in Figure 9-3.



Figure 9-3. #4 engine block bore coatings after vehicle durability test

As shown in Figure 9-3, the cylinder bore coatings were all intact and smooth after the vehicle durability test. Some small black marks were found on the very top of some cylinder bores, which were similar to the black marks on the #3 engine block. The black marks were smooth and shining, they were carbon build up, not scratches.

The EJPO coatings on the camshaft bores and piston crown were also good and intact. The coatings are shown in Figure 9-4.



Figure 9-4. EJPO coated camshaft bores and pistons after vehicle durability test

The cylinder bore coating roughness was measured and the surface profile is shown in Figure 9-5.



Figure 9-5. Surface profile of cylinder bore coating after vehicle durability test

Compared with the original surface roughness, after the test the surface roughness reduced a little bit. The carbon might fill up the pores on the coating surface and reduced the surface roughness.

The cylinder bore size, coating thickness, piston size and piston to bore clearance were measured and shown in the following tables.

Cylinder	Cyl1	Cyl2	Cyl3	Cyl4	Cyl5	Cyl6	Cyl7	Cyl8
Before test bore								
size (mm)	93.019	93.021	93.019	93.017	93.026	93.015	93.019	93.017
After test bore								
size(mm)	93.025	93.025	93.025	93.026	93.036	93.026	93.030	93.027
Increment(mm)	0.006	0.004	0.006	0.009	0.010	0.011	0.011	0.010

Table 9-2. #4 EJPO coated 5.0 L cylinder bore measurement

Table 9-3. #4 EJPO coated 5.0 L coating thickness measurement

Thickness	Original(um)	After test(um)	Decrement(um)
Cy1	21	19	2
Cy2	23	21	2
Cy3	22	20	2
Cy4	21	20	1
Cy5	19	18	1
Cy6	16	15	1
Cy7	17	15	2
Cy8	22	20	2

Piston size	Original(mm)	After test(mm)	Decrement(mm)
Cy1	92.976	92.971	0.005
Cy2	92.975	92.969	0.006
Cy3	92.975	92.973	0.002
Cy4	92.972	92.970	0.002
Cy5	92.977	92.971	0.006
Cy6	92.971	92.970	0.001
Cy7	92.973	92.970	0.003
Cy8	92.974	92.973	0.001

Table 9-4. #4 EJPO coated 5.0 L piston size measurement

Table 9-5. #4 EJPO coated 5.0L piston to bore clearance measurement

Clearance	Original(mm)	After test(mm)	Increment(mm)
Cyl	0.043	0.054	0.011
Cy2	0.046	0.056	0.01
Cy3	0.044	0.052	0.008
Cy4	0.045	0.056	0.011
Cy5	0.044	0.060	0.016
Суб	0.044	0.056	0.012
Cy7	0.046	0.060	0.014
Cy8	0.043	0.054	0.011

As shown in the above tables, the coating thickness, bore size and piston to bore clearance changes were minor, especially the coating thickness, which was only 1 or 2 um change, which meant the EJPO coating was hard and durable. The combustion heat

and cylinder head torque should also cause the cylinder bore distortion and size change. All these changes were minor and acceptable.

9.2 Vehicle durability test on 5.0 L engine with thicker coating

The #5 EJPO coated engine was prepared for the vehicle durability test and treated the same as the previous #4 EJPO coated engine blocks. The #5 EJPO coated engine had coating on cylinder bore, camshaft bore, piston crown and cylinder head dome. This EJPO coated engine block was honed to a thicker coating thickness with smaller piston to bore clearance. The cylinder bore coating thickness was around 30 um, and the piston to bore clearance was around 35 um. The coated block and honed bore are shown in Figure 9-6.



Figure 9-6. #5 EJPO coated and honed engine block

After the #5 EJPO coated engine block was honed, the cylinder bore size, coating thickness, coating roughness, and piston to bore clearance were measured and shown in Table 9-6.

Cylinder	Cyl1	Cyl2	Cyl3	Cyl4	Cyl5	Cyl6	Cyl7	Cyl8
Bore size(mm)	93.015	93.014	93.012	93.011	93.011	93.012	93.010	93.015
Piston size(mm	92.977	92.980	92.979	92.975	92.974	92.978	92.975	92.971
clearance(mm)	0.038	0.034	0.033	0.036	0.037	0.034	0.035	0.034
Thickness(um)	31	30	32	31	29	27	28	29
Roughness(um)	0.80	0.79	0.82	0.81	0.78	0.79	0.79	0.80

Table 9-6. #5 engine block measurements after honing

The #5 EJPO coated engine block was assembled and ran the 8 hours Break-in test. After the Break-in test, the cylinder bores were checked by using the cylinder bore scope. The cylinder bore coating images are shown in Figure 9-7.



Figure 9-7. Cylinder bore images after Break-in test

The cylinder bore scope images showed the coatings were intact and smooth. Then the #5 EJPO coated engine was sent to Europe for vehicle durability test. The #5 EJPO coated engine was installed on the Ford Mustang car and ran the vehicle durability test. The car ran the durability test for one and a half years at different test conditions, after accumulated certain mileage, the #5 EJPO coated engine was removed from the car and torn down. The cylinder bore coatings are shown in Figure 9-8.



Figure 9-8. #5 engine block bore coatings after vehicle durability test

As shown in Figure 9-8, the cylinder bore coatings were all intact and smooth after the vehicle durability test. Different from the #4 EJPO coated engine, the #5 engine block didn't have black marks on the cylinder bore which meant the cylinder bore distortion was less than the #4 engine block. Comparing #4 and #5 engine tests, it proved the engine block with 30um coating thickness and 20 um piston to bore clearance worked better.

The thicker coating could help to insulate the heat and reduce cylinder bore distortion better.

The EJPO coatings on the camshaft bores and piston crown were also good and intact. The coatings are shown in Figure 9-9.



Figure 9-9. EJPO coated camshaft bores and pistons after vehicle durability test

The cylinder bore coating roughness was measured and the surface profile is shown in Figure 9-10.



Figure 9-10. Surface profile of cylinder bore coating after vehicle durability test

Compared with the original surface roughness (Ra=0.8 um), after test the surface roughness reduced a little bit. The carbon might fill up the pores on the coating surface and reduced the surface roughness.

The cylinder bore size, coating thickness, piston size and piston to bore clearance were measured and shown in the following tables.

Table 9-7. #5 EJPO coated 5.0 L cylinder bore measurement

Cylinder	Cyl1	Cyl2	Cyl3	Cyl4	Cyl5	Cyl6	Cyl7	Cyl8
Before test bore								
size (mm)	93.015	93.014	93.012	93.011	93.011	93.012	93.010	93.015
After test bore								
size(mm)	93.020	93.019	93.016	93.016	93.015	93.016	93.016	93.022
Increment(mm)	0.005	0.005	0.004	0.005	0.004	0.004	0.006	0.007

Thickness	Original(um)	After test(um)	Decrement(um)
Cy1	31	30	1
Cy2	30	28	2
Cy3	32	30	2
Cy4	31	29	2
Cy5	29	27	2
Cy6	27	25	2
Cy7	28	26	2
Cy8	29	27	2

Table 9-8. #5 EJPO coated 5.0 L coating thickness measurement

Table 9-9. #5 EJPO coated 5.0 L piston size measurement

Piston size	Original(mm)	After test(mm)	Decrement(mm)
Cy1	92.977	92.971	0.006
Cy2	92.980	92.976	0.004
Cy3	92.979	92.975	0.004
Cy4	92.975	92.970	0.005
Cy5	92.974	92.971	0.003
Cy6	92.978	92.974	0.004
Cy7	92.975	92.972	0.003
Cy8	92.971	92.966	0.005

Clearance	Original(mm)	After test(mm)	Increment(mm)
Cy1	0.038	0.049	0.011
Cy2	0.034	0.043	0.009
Cy3	0.033	0.041	0.008
Cy4	0.036	0.046	0.010
Cy5	0.037	0.044	0.007
Cy6	0.034	0.042	0.008
Cy7	0.035	0.044	0.009
Cy8	0.034	0.046	0.012

Table 9-10. #5 EJPO coated 5.0 L piston to bore clearance measurement

As shown in the above tables, the coating thickness, bore size and piston to bore clearance changes were minor, especially the coating thickness, which was only 1 or 2 um change, which meant the EJPO coating was hard and durable. The combustion heat and cylinder head torque should also cause the cylinder bore distortion and size change. All these changes were minor and acceptable. However, compared with #4 EJPO coated engine block, the cylinder bore size changes of the #5 block were less. The thicker coating might help to reduce the heat transfer from combustion chamber to aluminum cylinder wall, and then reduced the cylinder bore distortion.

9.3 Conclusions

In conclusion, the #4 and # 5 EJPO coated engines passed 8 hours Break-in test and one and a half years' vehicle durability test. The tear down analysis showed the EJPO coating was intact and durable, and worked in the combustion engine.

EJPO coated engine with 30 um coating thickness and 35 um piston to bore clearance worked better and had less bore distortion.

10. Chapter 10 Conclusions and Future Works

10.1 General conclusions

Applications of Nano-ceramic oxide coatings for engine cylinder bore and other automotive components, from fabrication to characterization tests, are reported. Traditional aluminum engine block with cast iron liner worked fine until the government mandated that automakers raise their fleet MPG average. Cast iron liner has its inherent disadvantages in weight, size, friction, and thermal management. Replacing cast iron liners with EJPO coating, which has lower weight, COF, and better thermal properties, is a possible approach to enhance engine performance and thereby to increase the MPG. EJPO coating has been fabricated on 2.0 L and 5.0 L aluminum engine cylinder bores and other components to enhance engine performance. The EJPO coating properties, coating fabrication process, coating honing process and the EJPO coated engine tests were studied and carried out in this work. The main conclusions of the above studies can be summarized as follows:

 EJPO coating property investigation showed the EJPO coating had high hardness, high adhesion, high corrosion resistance, high wear resistance, low COF and good thermal properties. These desired EJPO coating properties had the potential to meet the engine cylinder functional requirements. Lab tests showed EJPO coating had 65% lower COF than cast iron and 50% lower than PTWA coating, and better thermal properties.

- Electrolyte spray head and coating mask were used to fabricate the coating on the desired locations and the EJPO coating could be applied on engine cylinder bore uniformly. Flex brush honing couldn't hone the cylinder bore round and straight, but the diamond stone machine honing could hone the cylinder bore round and straight. Two steps diamond stone machine honing was developed to hone the EJPO coated bore to desired surface roughness with desired coating thickness. The coarse stone was used to remove the top 10 um thick coating, and the fine stone was used to do the mirror finish honing.
- EJPO coated 2.0 L engine block reduced weight around 6.4% compared with cast iron liner engine block, and reduced cost around 17.5%. EJPO coated 5.0 L engine block reduced weight around 2% and reduced cost around 9% compared with PTWA coated engine block.
- EJPO coated 2.0 L engine passed Break-in, Power, 100 hours Engine Fatigue test, and Post Power tests. The cylinder bore coatings were smooth and intact after all the tests. The Power test showed the EJPO coated engine made higher performance at speeds lower than 3000 rpm and higher than 5000 rpm, the highest power enhancement was 11.29% at 1500 rpm compared with the engine with cast iron liners. EJPO coating's lower COF and thermal swing properties helped to enhance the engine performance. This engine performance enhancement was good for the vehicle daily drive, which engine speeds were lower than 3000 rpm, to reduce fuel consumption and emissions.

- EJPO coated 5.0 L engine passed Break-in, Power, 100 hours low load Engine Fatigue test, and vehicle durability tests. The Power test showed the EJPO coated 5.0 L engine made higher performance at speeds lower than 3000 rpm and highest enhancement was 12.06% at 1500 rpm compared with PTWA coated 5.0 L engine. EJPO coated piston crown, cylinder head dome and camshaft bore helped to enhance the engine performance at all the speeds during the Power test. The coating on camshaft bore helped to reduce the friction more and the coatings on piston crown and cylinder head dome helped to increase the engine thermal efficiency more.
- Piston temperature test showed EJPO coating on the piston crown could help to block the heat transfer from combustion chamber to piston and reduce the heat loss from piston to the engine oil. The SEM investigation showed the EJPO coating had porous structure and could help to increase the coating's thermal insulation property. The thermal insulation functions of the piston coating could help to increase the engine thermal efficiency thereby enhancing engine performance.
- Engine torque plate analysis showed the cylinder head torque caused the cylinder bore distortion and reduced the clearance between cylinder bridges. A better

honing equipment or torque plate honing were needed to reduce he cylinder bore distortion.

Critical parameters for 2.0 L EJPO coated engine were found including piston to bore clearance (30 um), coating roughness (Ra<=0.8 um, Rvk<2.0 um), and coating thickness (20 um). Critical parameters for 5.0 L EJPO coated engine were found including piston to bore clearance (35 um), coating roughness (Ra<=0.8 um, Rvk<2.0 um), and coating thickness (30 um).

10.2 Future work

- EJPO coating process needs automation and the cooling system needs to be upgraded to have higher cooling efficiency.
- EJPO coating honing process needs to be improved to reduce the cylinder bore distortion.
- Dynanometer engine fatigue test and engine global thermal test need to be carried out to test the EJPO coating performance at extreme load and temperature conditions.
- More performance tests need to be carried out with transducers instrumented for more combustion analysis.

• EJPO coating and honing parameters for racing engines need to be developed.

APPENDICES

1. EJPO coating machine

EJPO coating machine consists three main parts including power supply system, coating fabrication system, and electrolyte cooling system. A full view of the EJPO coating machine is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Full view of the EJPO coating machine

The power unit is a pulse reverse DC power supply unit which can supply a 212 ampere effective DC current at 550 volts, and a 480 ampere pulse current at 700 volts. The DC power unit is shown in Figure 2.



Figure 2. Pulse reverse power supply

The coating fabrication system includes a multi ways adjustable electrolyte spray head, engine block or component mounting base, and electrolyte circulation line. A close view of the EJPO coating system is shown in Figure 3. The EJPO coating system can treat different shapes of surface. Some of the EJPO coated parts are shown in Figure 4.



Figure 3. EJPO coating fabrication system



Figure 4. EJPO coated parts

EJPO electrolyte cooling system uses process water cooled cooper coil to cool down the electrolyte. EJPO coating process generates a lot of heat, and the heat affects the coating quality. The electrolyte needs to be cooled to fabricate high quality coating. The cooling system needs to be updated, since the process water is not cold and efficient enough. The cooling system is shown in Figure 5.



Figure 5. EJPO electrolyte cooling system

2. EJPO coating power control parameters

EJPO coating process used pulse reverse DC power, and used current control mode. The duty cycle of the current was 50%, the negative current was 50% of the positive current. The frequency of the current was 1000 Hz. The DC current was set at 150 A, and the treatment time was around 30 minutes. The voltage went up to 550 V at the end of the coating process. A full cycle of the DC current waveform is shown in Figure 6.



Figure 6. Waveform of the DC current duty cycle

3. Electrolyte

The electrolyte was silicate base electrolyte with additives including molybdate and phosphate to help to reduce coating COF and increase coating adhesive force.

4. Weight

Cast iron liner 2.0 L engine block weighs 61.96 lbs, and EJPO coated 2.0 L engine block weighs 58 lbs. The EJPO coated 2.0 L engine block reduces weight 3.96 lbs (6.4%) compared with cast iron liner 2.0 L engine block.

PTWA coated 5.0 L engine block weighs 88.4 lbs, and EJPO coated 5.0 L engine block weighs 86.6 lbs. The EJPO coated 5.0 L engine block reduces weight 1.8 lbs (2%) compared with PTWA coated 5.0 L engine block. The weights of the EJPO coated 2.0 L and 5.0 L engine blocks are shown in Figure 7.



Figure 7. Weights of EJPO coated 2.0 L and 5.0 L engine blocks

5. Cost

During the EJPO coating fabrication process, there is no electrolyte consumption and the electrolyte can be used for long time if it is sealed properly. Thus the main cost of the EJPO coating process is electricity power.

To cast, machine and insert a cast liner in aluminum engine block costs 1.98 \$, and EJPO coats an aluminum cylinder bore costs 1.65 \$ which consumes 15 kWh electricity power at a rate of 0.11 \$/kWh.

The PTWA coating process consumes electricity power, feedstock wire, Argon gas, and torch maintenance. The cost of a PTWA coated bore is around 1.81 \$. The EJPO coating process can save cost around 9%.

VITA AUCTORIS

NAME: Guang Wang

PLACE OF BIRTH: Hebei, China

YEAR OF BIRTH: 1985

EDUCATION: Hebei Normal University of Science and Technology, B.Sc., Hebei, China, 2010

University of Windsor, M.A.Sc., Windsor, ON, 2016